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Corporate Information and Key Dates
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Definitions
TE o

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the

following expressions shall have the following meanings:

“associate(s)

“Board”

“Chia Hsin Cement”

“CHPL”

“Company”

“Convertible Preference

Shares”

”

“Director(s)

“Group”

“HK$”

“Hong Kong”

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

has the same meaning ascribed

thereto under the Listing Rules

the board of Directors

Chia Hsin Cement Corporation, a
parent company of a substantial

shareholder of the Company, CHPL

Chia Hsin Pacific Limited, a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and a substantial shareholder of the

Company

TCC International Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability,
the Ordinary Shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange

the restricted voting convertible
preference shares of HK$0.10 each in
the share capital of the Company

the director(s) of the Company

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency

of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC
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Definitions
==

“Independent Third
Party(ies)”

“Listing Rules”

“Ordinary Shares”

“PRC”

“RMB”

“SFO”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Stock Exchange”

person(s) or company(ies) which is
(are) independent of the directors,
supervisors, controlling shareholder,
substantial shareholder and the chief
executive (such terms as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or an associate

of any of them

the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in

the share capital of the Company

the People’s Republic of China, which
for the purposes of this annual report
excludes Hong Kong, the Macao
Special Administrative Region and

Taiwan

Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of
PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong)

a registered holder(s) of Ordinary

Shares

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Eihva

/‘v/v —

=7

[Em AR A

=N

N

[ B 22 T |

B LN AR &) gl AT AT BB
NAlZEF EF ERRK
FERRREEZETHA
B (ZEARZEEREM
RADKAEMBEE BB A
T2z At AE

At

Bt AZ P8 % £ R Al

KRN FPEARFREEO.10

BT E AR

hEARLAME SAARFR

mE - TREEE R
ATTHUE & & &

ARBTT PEDEEEY

)

57
P

AP EST1EFE 5 L
1l
B2 BREHBA

ERBMARZMERAA

BRERERERAR
2015 F 3R



Definitions
EE

“subsidiary”

“substantial

shareholders”

“T'Cement”

“Tcar”

‘US$”

“op”

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

has the meaning ascribed thereto
under the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or
otherwise modified from time to time
and “subsidiaries” shall be construed

accordingly

has the same meaning ascribed

thereto in the Listing Rules

Taiwan Cement Corporation, a
company incorporated in Taiwan,
the shares of which are listed on the
Taiwan Stock Exchange and which,
through its wholly owned subsidiary,
is holding approximately 56.92%
of the issued share capital of the

Company

TCC International Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and a substantial shareholder

of the Company

United States Dollars, the lawful

currency of the United States

per cent
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Chairman’s Statement
TIEIRSE

The cement industry saw unprecedented turbulences in 2015.
The total cement output of China experienced its first year of
negative growth after the golden decade. As pioneers of our
industry, we continued to innovate, optimize, and strengthen our
operations and managed to maintain our position as one of the
most competitive market leaders in the cement industry through

the adverse market conditions.

Our long-term strategy is to operate at the highest standards in
all aspects including product qualities, services, environmental
protection, and operation efficiency so as to deliver sustainable
development of the Group and deep value for our Shareholders.
This year has been a notable one in progressing this approach
with our first urban waste treatment project and e-commerce

platform having come into operation.

KETER S —RFEERNMAAAREKE -
TREETFR TENKELEEERE —FH
BRERBR-ERERLERE RMA—WMERET T
BIFT - B RN R B X YEAFAHTRT
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BEREFEBEFERAEE RMAEEEK
B EERVISBREER
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Chairman’s Statement
TEBSE

Cement plants among many other manufacturing industries have
long been blamed with their polluting production process. The
management realized the importance of environmental protection
and devoted to innovating technologies that minimize the impact
to the environment in the process of cement production. In
2015, the residual heat power generation units attached to the
production plants of the Group generated gross power volume
of approximately 1.41 billion kilowatts. Our long-standing
commitment in environmental protection has been endorsed by
the communities where we operate and no doubt facilitated our
cooperation with Anshan Government in Guizhou to build an

urban waste treatment facilities on our Anshan plant.

The urban waste treatment facilities commenced operation in
December 2015. It creates an addition source of income for
the Group, and sets a model of circular economy. We will seek
to extend the cooperation with more local governments and

broaden our ecological footprints to other operations of the

Group.

KEBHEEBSEREMEBER —K TEK
BEARE - BEEERMIRRNEREL
NEF M BAOREERREPHRENTE
BERE - R_T—HF AEEEEREHMH

ROBABEREBAFELN141BTENR
EREE -BMRBBNERER RRAKERE
HERFTRA - EES R T R MR E N KB
FFE) & 1B - AR B /) % IR BE LI T BE ) BR
R

EERTEYEERECR T —RF+-A
RE  BAKBEFIBWARR EMLEREH
WA - BAKSREXEETE S HTRENG
B WHERRRERIBMEAREEMIE
TSP
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Chairman’s Statement
TIEIRSE

By the end of 2015, we launched e-commerce platform,
on which customers may make their orders through mobile
application. The online platform has been swiftly adopted by
vast majority of our customers. Within two months, 90% of the
customers in the Southern region used the mobile application to
make orders. We plan to extend this system nationwide in the

forthcoming months.

RE-F-AFE RMRHETEETL E
FAZBEHEARFERTAIBES b
ERTALEREATFRA - EMAAN F
R BO0% N E A % B 8 R 1R AT B
% ° B M3 BVE K S BA 1E 2 B 4 PR R

The e-commerce platform does not only vigorously enhance our
services by eliminating the errors arisen from traditional ways of
making orders and enhancing the operational efficiency, but also
provides a spontaneous and systematic overview on the sales of
the Group’s products. In fact, our effort on leveraging information
technology to optimize the operations has been undergoing
on an on-going basis. By having integrated the information
technology system, internet, and GPS system, we have created
an intelligent management platform on which the management is
able to access the statuses of material procurement, production
progresses and sales anywhere at any time via mobile handhelds.
This platform substantially enhanced our operation efficiency and

notably reduced the operating costs.

"

ZEFTRABY e TErERERFIBOAME
AR WEEERELMAD R RPN
IRTS - MA R IE R AR H AR AR EE D H
EER-BRE BAR—ENBERRREN
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EEENRERELEBBDTRHREEZTE
BIBEMFRE LEEEMHEERBNL - ZFEK
BRRESHMNEERNR L EZBRELERA-
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Chairman’s Statement
TIEIRSE

Furthermore, this intelligent management platform generated the
mega-data of the Group’s operation dating back to a decade.
Via analysis of the mega-data, we are now able to assess
credits of existing customers and identify potential market
opportunities. It also optimizes the decision making process of
the management as well as enhances the marketing strategies
and our personalized customer services. We look forward to
seeing increasingly fruitful results of the intelligent management

platform in the forthcoming years.

2015 was a challenging year for the cement industry. Against the
backdrop of delayed construction progresses for infrastructure
and the mixed developments of the property markets nationwide,
weak demand and severe price war painted the key tones of the
market conditions for the cement industry. The average selling
price of cement tumbled to a decade low. The profit margin of

the Group experienced an inevitable adjustment during the year.

RMB has depreciated drastically since the third quarter of 2015.
Majority of the Group’s bank borrowings were denominated
in currency other than RMB, while the Group’s business
transactions were mainly carried out in RMB. A substantial
exchange loss was generated, undermining the Group’s
achievement in the sales volume growth and the cost reduction

during the year.

The entire industry chain has been experiencing a prolonged
restructuring and market consolidation. The State Government
carried out measures such as elimination of PC32.5 grade
cement and imposing higher electricity costs on the plants
which production line energy consumption exceeds series of
standards, with a view to eliminate highly polluting and inefficient
cement plants and resolve the issue of excessive production
capacity. Increasing numbers of mergers and acquisitions have
been undergoing over past few years. Furthermore, the State
Government vows to step up the supply-side reform in 2016,
hence, more measures are expected to roll out. The processes
of market consolidation and absorbing excessive production are

expected to be considerably accelerated, embodying new orders

TCC International Holdings Limited 12
Annual Report 2015
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Chairman’s Statement
TIEIRSE

of the market dynamics. The increasingly consolidated market will
be favourable in tempering the price competition and enhancing

the standards of the cement industry.

The transformation of the cement industry is expected to prolong
for the forthcoming years, and with regard to the decelerating
economic growth of China, the market conditions will continue
to be challenging in 2016. In response to the prevailing market
conditions, the Group will take a prudent approach in assessing
acquisition opportunities through which it continues to seek
business expansion, with a view to advance its leading position
in China’s cement industry with a modest fashion. Effective
strategies, responsible way of operation, healthy financial
positions and profound foundation of business have been the
Company’s core competence. Looking ahead, these factors will
assist the Group to brave through the adverse market conditions

and sustain the stable development of the Group.

Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
Chairman

Hong Kong

17 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREmX D

MARKET OVERVIEW
China’s GDP increased by 6.9% in 2015, representing a slowed

growth rate as compared to the 7.4% of 2014, according to
the statistics released by the State Government. Its fixed asset
investment tumbled to a 10% growth in 2015, dropping by 5.7
percent points as compared to 2014 and representing the lowest
since 2000. The investment growth rate of property plunged
to 1% in 2015 from 10.3% in 2014 while that of infrastructure
slowed down to 17.3% in 2015 from 20.3% in 2014.

During 2015, the trillion-yuan worth infrastructure plans
earmarked by the State Government were yet to move onto the
construction stages. According to the National Audit Office’s
report on 12 January 2016, progresses of 88 infrastructure
projects were stagnant, and billions of the state fund was not
used in accordance with the plan. Although the combined sold
area of homes, offices and commercial premises amounted to
1,284 million square meters, up by 6.5%, the total property
inventory in China reached a record high at 718 million square
meters, up by 15.6%. New construction projects for property
development amounted to 1,545 million square meters in 2015,
down by 14% vyear-on-year. Such trends, however, did not

extended to rural areas where the constructions remained steady.

Progresses of property developments as well as infrastructure
became sluggish, leading to shrunken cement consumption.
The total cement output of China in 2015 dropped by 4.9%
as compared to the year of 2014 to 2,348 million metric tons.
Alongside with the intensified competition, the average selling
price (“ASP”) of cement plunged to a decade low. During
2015, the ASP of Northeastern, Northern, Eastern, Southern,
Southwestern and Northwestern regions recorded decreases
of 156.18%, 23.01%, 22.15%, 19.66%, 14.44% and 12.33%

respectively.

TCC International Holdings Limited 14
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREB5YmIZ D

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s sales volume of cement, clinker and slag powder
in 2015 rose by 6.0% year-on-year to 47.7 million metric tons.
The growth was mainly attributable to business expansion via
the acquisition of PO/l EEKEFREE AT (Sichuan
Railway Group Cement Company Limited*) (the name of which
was subsequently changed to TCC Huaying Cement Company
Limited (“TCC Huaying”)) and J#r & A AR E T A A
(Hunan Jindadi Materials Company Limited*) (the name of which
was subsequently changed to TCC Huaihua Cement Company
Limited (“TCC Huaihua”), which have been consolidated into
the Group’s accounts since January 2015 and June 2015

respectively.

SALES VOLUME OF CEMENT, CLINKER
AND SLAG POWDER IN 2015 BY REGION
“E-AFRUBEE D ZKE - AR
RIFEMHE D

e
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CEMENT AND CLINKER ASP BY REGION
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RMB/metric ton
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEmX DT

During the year, the residual heat power generation units
attached to the Group’s production plants had generated a
gross power volume of 1,408,730,595 kilowatts, which served
to significantly reduce the Group’s energy cost. Alongside with
the measures implemented by the management to continuously
optimise the production process and the plunged coal price,
the Group’s unit cost was cut by 8.5%. However, an inevitable
decline of the Group’s product ASP caused by the fierce price
war put pressure on the Group’s revenue and profit margin.
During the year, the Group’s ASP of cement, clinker and slag
powder plunged 25.5%. The plunge override the 6.0% growth of
sales volume as well as the reduction of unit cost. The Group’s
revenue decreased by 20.7% as compared to that of 2014
to HK$10,911.1 million and the Group’s gross profit margin
dropped from 30.8% to 15.4%.

In addition, majority of the Group’s bank borrowings were
denominated in currency other than RMB, while the Group’s
business transactions were mainly carried out in RMB. An
exchange loss of HK$381.3 million which was mainly generated
due to the depreciation of RMB against United States Dollars
since the third quarter of 2015. As the consequence of the
plunged product ASP and the exchange loss, the Group recorded
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$249.4
million in 2015, as compared to the profit attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$2,051.2 million in 2014.

As of the end of the year under review, the Group operated a
total of 27 clinker production lines and was equipped with a
number of cement grinding mills with overall clinker and cement
capacities of 43,400,000 metric tons and 57,060,000 metric tons

respectively.

TCC International Holdings Limited 16
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Southern Region

The Group’s Southern region reported a sales volume of 22.1
million metric tons for the year 2015, representing a 3.9%
adjustment from that of the previous year. The sales volumes
of the plants in Guangdong province saw certain extents of
decreases in terms of metric tons while that of Guangxi province
achieved a satisfactory growth. The plants in Guangdong and
Guangxi provinces reported sales volumes of 13.2 million metric

tons and 8.9 million metric tons respectively.

Thanks to the relatively active economic activities, the Group’s
business in the region maintained solid. Despite the plummeted
ASP, continued optimisation of the production processes

sustained all the plants in Southern region maintained profitable

during the year of 2015.

EFBE
AEBE_ZT-LFNERHBREER
22,100,000 W » 82 & F B 3.9% 7 B - L R &
REMEHHERAMAAE TIZENRD
MEAERENHENZBREER - RER
B METENRE 2D BI85 3 813,200,000
M 128,900,000 W8

HRNEERSELER ARERZBRHE
BRFERE BT FOEE YK EFEELE
ERESERMENMEREN _T—0LFH
DS & F -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEREmX D

The Southern region remained to be the most significant market
of the Group, the sales volume of this area attributed to 46.3% of
the total sales volume of the Group. Sturdy performance amid the
challenging market in this area essentially backed up the overall

performance of the Group.

Southwestern Region

The Group strengthened its presence in the Southwestern
region with its operations reported a combined sales volume
of 17.7 million metric tons, up 29.2% as compared to that of
the previous year. During the year, the Group completed the
acquisitions of TCC Huaying and TCC Huaihua. TCC Huaying
generated a sales volume of 1.5 million metric tons, while TCC
Huaihua, which was consolidated into the Group’s accounts in
June 2015, generated a sales volume of 1.8 million metric tons.
These two newly acquired subsidiaries constituted the key driver

of the Group’s overall sales volume growth.
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As for a full picture of the Southwestern region, the sales volumes
of the Group’s plants generally maintained stable. The Group’s
production lines in Chongging municipality and Sichuan province
(including TCC Huaying) together generated a sales volume
of 9.6 million metric tons, and the production lines in Guizhou
province generated a sales volume of 6.3 million metric tons.
Hunan province where the Group entered via TCC Huaihua
generated a sales volume of 1.8 million metric tons as mentioned

above.

However, as hindered by the severe price war as well as the

drastic exchange losses, loss was recorded in Southwestern

region in 2015.

HEEAEMENS ~A5ERENHEEE
HREBE - AEEUAREEFEETROIIEHN
AEK(BRERELAR) ST HER9,600,000
AWE - AL B M B R A EE 4R 5H 2 456,300,000
AME e X AEEE B AR (B1k)
B MR A 82 51,800,000A 1 o
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Eastern Region EHE
During the year, the Group’s operations in the region reported RAEAFE AEERZMENESESBHEER
a sales volume of 4.7 million metric tons, maintaining stable as 4,700,0007AME » B2 J5 FF 4% F o

compared to that of the previous year.

Following the completion of facility revamp in 2014, the sales BEENR_Z—NFEEREEEEE BEER
volume of the plant in Fuzhou, Fujian province bounced back by MY RS 3 2 < 3830.9% 21,300,000 [ © 4J
30.9% to 1.3 million metric tons. The sales volume of the plant in ABERHERFEM NE-

Jurong recorded slight decrease.

The Group’s Eastern region operations were substantially AEBERMREBEFLHER THRRELE
impacted by the plunge of ASP and exchange losses, resulting in EMBEXEATE BERTNFEELRIE-

a loss during the year.
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Northeastern Region HiHhE

The Group’s Liaoning plant continued to suffer the impact of very AEBEEREFTEIZ BTG AHEXKMNHEK
weak demand in the region. The plant reported a sales volume  FIFZ - R _ZT—HF ZMEHRESHE T K
of 1.3 million metric tons, down by 18.8% and recorded a loss in ~ 18.8%% 1,300,000/ Mg - 3f $% 15 518

2015.

Others Hith
The Group’s two slag powder non-wholly owned subsidiaries in AEEBHMRDFIURELHE MERENRES
Anhui and Guangxi provinces together generated a sales volume MIEEENB R B M E 46 5TiE1,300,0004

of 1.3 million metric tons. 188 o
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Hong Kong

Thanks to the robust demand of cement brought by the vibrant
property market as well as many construction projects of
infrastructure, the operations in Hong Kong generated a sales
volume of 625,000 metric tons, up by 7.8%. The Group’s ASP
in Hong Kong also recorded an increase of 3.0%. The combined
effect contributed to a significant growth of 10.1% for the net

profit generated in Hong Kong.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 December 2015, a net decrease in fair value of
approximately HK$11,550,000 (2014: net increase in fair value
of HK$83,000) was recognised for held-for-trading investments
upon stating them at market prices. As at 31 December 2015,
the carrying amount of held-for-trading investments was
approximately HK$37.8 million (2014: HK$49.4 million).

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,
CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND NET GEARING
RATIO

The Group adopts prudent treasury policies in managing cash

resources and bank borrowings.

The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2015 are as

follows:

o
HREHEMSEERRLZNEERELIER
QKRB BENEBKIHEE L MNT.8%
£625,0002 0 Il EAREEBRBEEHFHE
B FI.0%ER S BBENAFKNEER
10.1% °

HttfiisEARE
RZZ—RAF+-A=1+—H ENWHERKZ7
% BEERAFERZIABRIREZ A TEFRD
#911,5650,000/8 7T ( ZZF — M4 : A FEFEM
83,0008 7)) - M=ZE—HF+=-A=+—H"
FIERXRSRg 2 E 2 REEX /37,800,000
ot (ZZF — U4 49,400,000 7T) °

RBET MHBEER EXRBERF
EESELR

AEERABRRZEBBRRATERSERK
RITIEE -

AEBN_T-RAF+-A=+—HZRBL
E (I

2015 2014

—E—HF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FH T FAET

Current assets MEBEE 10,660,416 11,613,300
Current liabilities mEAEE 8,574,624 9,329,536
Current ratio VS 1.24 1.24

The Group’s current ratio as at 31 December 2015 was 1.24
(2014: 1.24). The liquidity position is maintained at a healthy

level.
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Total cash and bank balances of the Group as at 31 December
2015 amounted to HK$5,802.6 million (2014: HK$4,811.0
million), including time deposits, pledged bank deposits and
restricted bank deposits of HK$382.0 million, HK$19.3 million
and HK$70.6 million (2014: HK$164.4 million, HK$21.8 million
and nil) respectively. Highly liquid short term investments,
classified as held-for-trading investments, with a market value
of HK$37.8 million as at 31 December 2015 (2014: HK$49.4

million), were also held by the Group.

The maturity profile of the Group’s bank loans as at 31 December

2015 are repayable as follows:

R-E—AF+-_A=+—B A£EZH
© R R1T 4 82 42 58 /55,802,600,000% 7T ( =
T — U4 :4,811,000,0008 7t) (B 1EE H
FH-BEERARTERRZIRFIRITFERD
Al /382,000,000 7t * 19,300,000/ 7T &
70,600,000/ 7t ( = ZF — U 4F : 164,400,000/%
7T 21,800,000/ T &) ) e R E—RF+ =
RA=+—8 " KR&EEI#ET{E H37,800,000%
7L (ZZ — M4 : 49,400,000 70) D B B 1E
RoRABzREZRREBMER KRS -

RZE-—RF+_A=+—H AEERTE
RZEBPERBRT

2015 2014

—ZE-HF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TER FHET

Within one year R—FR 6,028,147 6,497,201
More than one year but not exceeding BiR—FETEBBmRE

two years 2,236,200 3,428,700
More than two years but not exceeding BB MFEETHRBRE

five years 3,468,536 2,951,972

Total bank loans RITE R 11,732,883 12,877,873

There was no material effect of seasonality on the Group’s
borrowing requirement. As at 31 December 2015, HK$2,091.9
million of the bank loans was denominated in HK$, HK$9,479.2
million in US$ and HK$161.8 million in RMB. All of the bank loans

are of floating rate structures.
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The net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2015 are

REER _ZT-—AF T -_A=+—BZFEE

as follows: BERERMAT:
2015 2014
—E—hEF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Total bank loans IRITE R 11,732,883 12,877,873
Less: Cash and bank balances, IR MIRTTE
time deposits, EHFER
pledged bank deposits and EEFRITERE
restricted bank deposits IR HI SR IT (5,802,552) (4,810,965)
Net borrowings BERE 5,930,331 8,066,908
Equity attributable to owners of RAGIHEE ANEGRER
the Company 19,960,552 18,360,949
Net gearing ratio FEEBGELX 29.7% 43.9%

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s net gearing ratio, which

was calculated as the ratio of net borrowings divided by equity

attributable to owners of the Company, was 29.7% (2014:

43.9%). The change in the Group’s net gearing ratio was mainly

attributable to the significant decrease in net borrowings due to

the substantial net repayments of bank loans during the year.

The net gearing ratio as at 31 December 2015 maintained at a

healthy level.
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment,
approximately HK$3,026.4 million, HK$299.4 million and
HK$101.6 million, of which approximately HK$2,652.7 million,
HK$268.6 million and HK$9.8 million were arising from the

prepaid lease payments and mining rights of

acquisition of subsidiaries, respectively.

On 31 October 2014, the Group entered into an agreement with
an independent third party to acquire the entire equity interest in
o)l 8 = B AR B R & £ 2 7] (Sichuan Railway Group Cement
Company Limited*) at a cash consideration of RMB640.5 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$800.6 million). The company
name was changed to TCC Huaying Cement Company Limited
(“TCC Huaying”) after acquisition. TCC Huaying is principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement and clinker in
Sichuan province of the PRC. The acquisition of TCC Huaying

has completed in January 2015.

On 10 November 2014, the Group entered into framework
agreement with six independent third parties, and further entered
into formal agreement in December 2014, under which the Group
has agreed to acquire the entire equity interest in J# & & Kb
MHBREER

at a cash consideration of RMB1,177.5 million (equivalent to

7] (Hunan Jindadi Materials Company Limited*)

approximately HK$1,465.7 million). The company name was
changed to TCC Huaihua Cement Company Limited (“TCC
Huaihua”) after acquisition. TCC Huaihua and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement,
clinker, concrete and other cement related products in Hunan
province of the PRC. The acquisition of TCC Huaihua has
completed in May 2015.

Save for aforesaid, the Group had no other significant

investments, material acquisitions or disposals.

*

For identification purpose only
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 1 June 2015, the Company announced a fully underwritten
one-for-two rights issue of 1,647,821,617 ordinary shares at
the issue price of HK$2.20 per share. The rights issue became
unconditional on 9 July 2015 and net proceeds of approximately
HK$3,608.1 million were raised by the Company, which were
applied towards the intended use of funding as stated in the
circular to the Shareholders of the Company dated 22 June
2015.

USE OF PROCEEDS

As stated in the circular to the Shareholders of the Company
dated 22 June 2015, the Group had plans to use the proceeds
obtained from the rights issue. The proceeds have been partially

utilised. The amount applied to the intended use of proceeds and

EEER

RZZE—RFAA—B  ARAAHEERHEIK
-2 EELFAR2.208 T 2 BT E AR B
171,647,821,617RERK -HREN T -0
FHANBRAEKY MARBERMER
1B % %849 53,608,100,000/8 7T ' HEE A A A
RZE-—RAFERAZ+TZHRREZEH ZBK
Fritz e EeRABREA-

FRiEFIE AR

BOARBR T —RAFNAZ+-HARKR
B BRI ARER RS A HRRKRAE
ZRIE -FISRECHBALN - R_T—hF
TZA=+—B ARABRERERRZS

the residual balance to be used as at 31 December 2015 are as BRETEBRACHRENT
follows:
Residual
balance to be
Intended used as at
use of Used during 31 December
proceeds the year 2015
R-ZZB—HF
FERE +=ZA=t+-—H
RERRE RERBA BTFBRZHE
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEBT BEAT
() Repayment of some of the bank (i) 1BEARER 2 ZDRIT
borrowings of the Group BE 2,300.0 (2,266.5) 33.5
(i) Finance commitments under (i) BERBEWEETZ
previously agreed acquisitions Hoam N AR AR UL
and any future acquisitions RHES 1,200.0 (661.3) 538.7
(i) General working capital (i) —EBEES 108.1 (93.2) 14.9
3,608.1 (3,021.0) 587.1
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CHARGE ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2015, bank deposits amounting to HK$19.3
million have been pledged by the Group as a performance

guarantee in relation to certain mining contracts.

As at 31 December 2015, certain property, plant and equipment
and prepaid lease payments with the carrying amount of
approximately HK$529.4 million and HK$62.9 million respectively

have been pledged to secure bank loan of the Group.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES

The Group’s sales and purchases during the reporting period
were mostly denominated in RMB. However, most of the Group’s
bank borrowings were denominated in currencies other than
RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by
the PRC government. The exchange rates may also be affected
by economic developments and political changes domestically
and internationally as well as the demand and supply of
RMB. The appreciation or devaluation of RMB against foreign
currencies may have an impact on the operating results of the

Group.

The Group currently does not maintain a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the Group’s management monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant

foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

No foreign exchange contracts were outstanding as at 31
December 2015.
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MAJOR CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s capital expenditure in

respect of the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
contracted but not provided for in the consolidated financial
statements amounted to approximately HK$893.5 million. The
Group anticipates funding those commitments from its internal

resources and bank borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided a corporate
guarantee jointly with other shareholders of an associate to a
bank in respect of banking facilities granted to that associate
in aggregate amounted to RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$476,000,000) of which RMB350,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$416,500,000) has been
utilised by the associate. Pursuant to the corporate guarantee
agreement, the Group has provided the guarantee amount
proportioned to its equity interest in the associate, which
represents RMB105,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$124,950,000).

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material

contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 10,117 full-time
employees. Total expenses in wages and salaries of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to HK$760.0
million. The Group ensures that the pay levels of its employees
are competitive and in line with market trend and its employees
are rewarded on a performance related basis within the general
framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system. In addition,
the Directors may invite employees, including executive Directors
(in which case approval of independent non-executive Directors
is required), of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
associates to take up options to subscribe for shares of the
Company. During the year, no share options were granted to

Directors or employees.
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Prospects and Future Plans

RE kR stE

International Monetary Fund (IMF) downgraded the global
economic growth in its latest World Economic Outlook. It
expected the world economy to post a 3.4 percent GDP
rise in 2016 and 3.6 percent in 2017. Economic forecasts
generally project a gradually slowing growth pace in China.
The State Government have promulgated multiple national
policies to pave the way to sustainable growth and stepped
up its measures to stimulate economic activities. The trillion
yuan worth of infrastructure projects committed by the State
Government is expected to effectively stimulate the actual
demand for construction materials as measures to facilitate the
local governments to implement the national policies have been

utmost in place.

China’s overall property market has shown signs of stabilisation,
with the government backtracking on some cooling measures
it put in place to calm the previously overheated market. The
home prices in first tier cities saw substantial surges. In 2015,
the average new home prices of Shenzhen, Beijing, and Shanghai
recorded increases of 47.5%, 10.4%, and 18.2% respectively
as compared to that of the previous year. Meanwhile, as driven
by accelerated urbanisation, the real estate markets of third
and fourth tier cities are expected to gradually improve. On
2 February 2016, the Central Bank eased the down payment
requirement to 20% from 25% for first-home buyers, and to
30% from 40% for second home purchase. This is expected to
facilitate the pace of the inventory elimination and further boost
the property market. Property developers are expected to take
more progressive strategies, particularly in the largest cities,
possibly contributing to an improved demand of construction

materials.
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Prospects and Future Plans
BERARKEE

Measures had been implemented by the State Government
since 2009 to centralise the industry of cement and the number
of cement producers has reduced significantly. There were
31 production lines of clinker launched in 2015 nationwide.
The combined newly added production capacity from these
production lines amounted to 47.1 million metric tons, down by
32% from that of the previous year. It is the third consecutive
years for the decrease of newly added cement production
capacity. The elimination of PC 32.5 grade cement was carried
out nationwide in December 2015, while the State Government
has ordered the relevant departments to impose higher electricity
cost on the factories which production line energy consumption
exceeds series of standards. Such policies are expected to
notably eliminate inefficient and highly polluting plants and
facilitate the market consolidation. Meanwhile, the State
Government reasserted its determination to cut the excessive
production capacity in its latest national strategies with a
direction to facilitate market consolidation. The issue of excessive

production capacity is expected to be gradually resolved.

Besides, after a year of drastic decrease of ASP, market leaders
of the industry are more inclined to cooperate and rationalise
the overall output of cement. The downturn movement of ASP
possibly becomes stabilised. Alongside with the coal price
maintaining at relatively low level, profit margin of the industry is

expected to improve.

Looking ahead, Guangdong and Guangxi provinces set their
targeted GDP growth in 2016 at 7.0% - 7.5% and 7.5% -
8.0% respectively. The economic activities in Southern China is
expected to maintain active. The Group’s operations which is
primarily concentrated in the region will continue to serve as the

backbone of the Group’s overall performance.
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Prospects and Future Plans

RE kMR stE

As stimulated by the continued national development strategy,
infrastructure development of Southwestern has been taking off.
The targeted GDP growth for 2016 of Chongqging municipality
together with Sichuan, Guizhou and Hunan provinces maintain
at 10.0%, 7.0%, 10.0% and 8.5% respectively. With the
strengthened presence in Southwestern, the Group is committed

to enhance its business in the region.

In addition, the urban waste treatment project of the Group’s
Anshun plant in Guizhou province commenced operation in
December 2015. This is the first step of the Group to extend
its experience and know-how for eco-friendly production from
an operational level to the society as a whole. The Group will
continue to cooperate with local governments and seek to

provide urban treatment services in other plants.

The Company launched an e-commerce platform in the Southern
region in the late 2015. Approximately 90% of customers in
the region adopted the mobile app to make orders for the wide
spectrum of cement products offered by the Group within two
months. The Company plans to promote this online system
nationwide. The e-commerce platform substantially reduces
errors that had arisen from orders via SMS and facsimiles and
allows the Group to accumulate the mega-data of cement usage.
Such mega-data is expected to assist the management in further

optimising the operations of Group.

During the year, the Group raised net proceeds of HK$3,608.1
million through an issue of rights shares. The fund raising
exercise has further strengthened the Group’s financial positions
with reduced bank borrowings. It also enhances the Group’s

capacity for potential acquisitions.
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Prospects and Future Plans
BERARKEE

Looking ahead, the transformation of the cement industry
is expected to prolong in 2016, and the market conditions
will continue to be challenging. The Group being one of the
most competitive market leaders in the cement industry, has
proven capacities on its strategic business layout, innovative
technologies, profound product qualities and personalised
services. Given the uncertainties with the economy at home
and abroad, the Group will continue to focus on reduction of
operating costs and enhancement of product qualities and
services so as to enhance its competitiveness. With the healthy
financial position, the Group is well-poised to capture the
opportunities arisen from market consolidation, and maintain its

leading position in the cement industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESkEHEEBHE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie

Mr. Koo, aged 61, has been the Chairman and an executive
Director since August 1997. Mr. Koo is responsible for the overall
policy and direction of the Group. He became a director of Hong
Kong Cement Manufacturing Company Limited (which carried on
the Group’s cement business in Hong Kong prior to the Group’s
re-organisation in September 1997) in July 1991. He is also the
vice-chairman of Quon Hing Concrete Company Limited (“Quon
Hing”) and director of Hong Kong Concrete Company Limited
(*Hong Kong Concrete”), both being associated companies of
the Group. He holds a Bachelor Degree in Accounting from
the University of Washington and a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the Wharton School of the University of
Pennsylvania, the United States. He is currently the chairman
and president of T'Cement, the ultimate holding company of
the Company. Mr. Koo also serves as the chairman of China
Synthetic Rubber Corporation, the chairman of Taiwan Prosperity
Chemical Corporation, a director of China Steel Chemical Co.,
Ltd., a director of CTCI Corporation, the chairman of Synpac
(N.C.) Limited, the United States and the chairman of Continental
Carbon Company, the United States. T'Cement, China Synthetic
Rubber Corporation, Taiwan Prosperity Chemical Corporation,
CTCI Corporation and China Steel Chemical Co., Ltd. are

companies listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

Mr. Wu Yih Chin

Mr. Wu, aged 61, has been the Managing Director and executive
Director since July 1997. He is also the deputy managing director
of Hong Kong Concrete and a director of Quon Hing and Yargoon
Company Limited. Mr. Wu joined the Group in November 1993.
He is responsible for the overall management, strategic planning
and business development for the Group. He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Accounting from National Chengchi University, Taiwan
and a Master Degree in Business Administration from the
Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, the United
States. He has more than 30 years of experience in cement-

related businesses.
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raphical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Non-executive Directors

Dr. Shan Weijian

Dr. Shan, aged 62, has been a non-executive Director since
August 1997. Dr. Shan is the chairman and chief executive officer
of PAG, an investment firm. He is a director of BOC Hong Kong
(Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange. He
was a senior partner of TPG, co-managing partner of Newbridge
Capital, managing director of J.P. Morgan, an assistant professor
at the Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania, the
United States and an investment officer at the World Bank in
Washington DC. Dr. Shan graduated from the Beijing Institute
of Foreign Trade with a major in English in 1979. He obtained a
Master Degree in Business Administration from the University of
San Francisco in 1981, and received a Masters of Arts Degree
in Economics and a PhD Degree in Business Administration
from the University of California at Berkeley in 1984 and 1987

respectively.

Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson

Mr. Nelson Chang, aged 63, has been a non-executive Director
since January 2008. Mr. Nelson Chang is the brother-in-law
of Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie who is the Chairman and an
executive Director. Mr. Nelson Chang is also the uncle of two
non-executive Directors, Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason and Ms.
Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth. Mr. Nelson Chang graduated from New
York University with a Master Degree in Business Administration.
Mr. Nelson Chang is a director of T'Cement, a director and
vice chairman of Chia Hsin Cement and a director of CHPL.
In addition, Mr. Nelson Chang is directors of China Synthetic
Rubber Corporation, Taiwan Prosperity Chemical Corporation
and Synnex Technology International Corporation. T'Cement,
Chia Hsin Cement, China Synthetic Rubber Corporation, Taiwan
Prosperity Chemical Corporation and Synnex Technology
International Corporation are companies listed on the Taiwan

Stock Exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESkEHEEBHE

Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason

Mr. Jason Chang, aged 44, has been a non-executive Director
since January 2008. Mr. Jason Chang is the nephew of Mr.
Chang, An-Ping, Nelson, a non-executive Director and the cousin
of Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth, also a non-executive Director.
Mr. Jason Chang graduated from the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology, Boston, the United States with a Master Degree in
Management of Technology. He also holds a Bachelor Degree of
Arts from Carroll College, Helena, the United States. Mr. Jason
Chang is the chairman of Chia Hsin Cement, a company listed on

the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth

Ms. Wang, aged 42, has been a non-executive Director since
January 2008. Ms. Wang is the niece of Mr. Chang, An-Ping,
Nelson, a non-executive Director and the cousin of Mr. Chang,
Kang-Lung, Jason, also a non-executive Director. Ms. Wang
graduated from the Waseda University, Tokyo, Japan with a
Master Degree in Organization Restructuring. She also holds a
Bachelor Degree of Science in Finance from Boston College,
Boston, the United States. Ms. Wang is a director of Chia Hsin

Cement, a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange.

Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald C.B.E., J.P.

Dr. Liao, aged 86, has been an independent non-executive
Director since August 1997. He was educated at The University
of Hong Kong and the University of Durham, United Kingdom.
He received a degree of Doctor of Science from the University
of Durham, United Kingdom, in 2011. He is a senior advisor
to Mitsui & Co (HK) Limited. He retired from the Hong Kong
civil service in 1989 and was the former Secretary for District
Administration and the Secretary for Home Affairs. He served
as a non-executive director for The Hongkong and Shanghai
Banking Corporation Limited and The HSBC China Fund Limited.
He has served on the Council of the Stock Exchange between
1991 and 1995. Dr. Liao was also appointed as an Official
Member of the Hong Kong Legislative Council in 1980 and of the

Hong Kong Executive Council in 1985.
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Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Dr. Chih, aged 61, has been an independent non-executive
Director since September 2006. Dr. Chih has been a Chief
Architect Global Purchasing and Supply Chain of General Motors
Corporation (“GM”) in Detroit United States from 2007 to 2009.
Before joining GM in 2007, Dr. Chih was the director and Chief
Information Officer of Orient Overseas Container Line Ltd., a
subsidiary of Orient Overseas (International) Limited (“OOCL”)
which is a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange. He also served as executive committee member of
the board of OOCL and was globally responsible for IT strategy,
information systems development, information technology
infrastructure, business process and ISO9000 facilitation.
Dr. Chih also served as director of several OOCL subsidiary
companies such as Cargo Smart Limited and IRIS Systems
Limited. Before joining OOCL in 1993, Dr. Chih was the Senior
Principal at American Airlines Decision Technologies. Dr. Chih
also had extensive consulting experience in the United States
railroad transportation industry. Dr. Chih received an M.A. and a
Ph.D. from Princeton University, an M.S. from the University of

Texas at Austin and a B.S. from National Taiwan University.

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

Mr. Shieh, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive
Director since January 2007. Mr. Shieh started his career with
Ogilvy & Mather Advertising Taiwan since 1982. In 1999, he
became managing director of Enterprise 1G, a consultancy
company and a subsidiary of one of the world’'s largest
communications groups, WPP Group plc. In 2001, Mr. Shieh was
relocated to Shanghai to set up Enterprise IG China and further
develop its business and operations in the Greater China Region.
He retired from WPP Group plc in 2005. Mr. Shieh has over 20
years of experience in advertising, public relations, corporate

image and identity management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESkEHEEBHE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Huang, Yi-Meng

President of TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd

Mr. Huang, aged 48, holds an Associate Degree in Electrical
Engineering from National Taipei Institute of Technology in
Taiwan, and joined T'Cement in 1991. He has over 20 years of
experience in electrical and automation engineering businesses
in cement industry. Between 2002 and April 2008, he had
joined the Group as a leader of electrical sect in construction
department in TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd and TCC Fuzhou
Cement Co., Ltd. and was responsible for electrical and
automation related fields during plants construction phase. He
serviced in TCC (DongGuan) Cement Company Limited since
November 2009. Mr. Huang then joined TCC (Guigang) Cement
Ltd. as a leader of electrical department in September 2010 and
was appointed as President of the plant in July 2011. He was
then transferred to TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd as President in
May 2015.

Mr. Song, Chen-Chia

President of TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd.

Mr. Song, aged 37, holds a Master Degree in Engineering
Management from University of Technology, Sydney in Australia,
and joined T'Cement in 2006. He has more than 10 years of
experience in project management in cement industry. Between
2011 and July 2014, he had joined the Group as a leader
of equipment operation sect in TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd.,
and was responsible for supervising equipment operation and
maintenance. He then rejoined the Group as President in May
2015.

Mr. Wu, Hai-Hua

President of Jurong TCC Cement Co., Ltd.

Mr. Wu, aged 40, holds a Bachelor Degree in Silicate Engineering
from Southwest University of Science and Technology. He has
more than 15 years of experience in production and engineering
construction management of cement industry. He joined the
Group in October 2010.
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Mr. Peng, Chih-Hang

President of TCC Fuzhou Cement Co., Ltd.

Mr. Peng, aged 41, graduated from the Mechanical Engineering
Department of National Taipei University of Technology in Taiwan,
and joined T'Cement in 2006. He has more than 10 years of
experience in cement-related engineering. He joined the Group in
October 2009.

Mr. Zou Pengfei

Vice President of Anhui King Bridge Cement Ltd.

Mr. Zou, aged 53, graduated from Anhui Open University,
and received training programs in University of Science and
Technology of China, Beijing Building Materials Industry School
(b EHMEHK) , Sichuan Jiangyou Vocational School (P9)I[5T
SERL) and Central School of China Youth League. He started
his career with a large-scale cement group since 1984, worked in
various cement companies in the PRC as principal, responsible
for overseas expansion projects and was the person-in-charge
for overseas project expansion. Mr. Zou has more than 32 years
of relevant working experience in cement manufacturing. He

joined the Group in September 2015.

Mr. Wu, Chih-Feng

President of TCC Liuzhou Construction Materials Company
Limited

Mr. Wu, aged 57, graduated in Marine Engineering from National
Taiwan Ocean University. Mr. Wu has joined T'Cement since
1988. He has acquired practical experience through holding
various posts responsible for plant construction planning,
product dispatching management, storage and transportation
management, standardized plant operation and advanced plant

management. He joined the Group in October 2007.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESERSHEEEBERE

Mr. Lin, Po-Chun

President of TCC (DongGuan) Cement Company Limited

Mr. Lin, aged 39, holds a Bachelor Degree in Business
Administration from Dayeh University. He joined the Group in
September 2009.

Mr. Hu Zhiquan

Executive Vice President of Yingde Dragon Mountain Cement
Co, Ltd

Mr. Hu, aged 52, graduated from Anhui Finance and Trade
College (&I & EFt)
scale cement group since 1982, had many years of materials

He started his career with a large-

supply and logistics management expertise, and worked in a
large-scale cement group as director of supply department and
was executive vice president in various cement companies in
the PRC. Mr. Hu has extensive experience in the operation and
management of the cement industry. He joined the Group in
October 2015.

Mr. Chiang, Cheng-Tao

President of TCC Liaoning Cement Company Limited

Mr. Chiang, aged 48, holds an Associate Degree in Chemical
Engineering from National Taipei Institute of Technology in
Taiwan, and joined T’Cement in 1989. He has more than 26 years
of experience in cement production management. He joined the
Group in August 2008.

Mr. Yao Chengfu

President of TCC New (Hangzhou) Management Company
Limited, TCC Huaihua Cement Company Limited, TCC
Jingzhou Cement Company Limited and TCC Huaihua
Concrete Company Limited

Mr. Yao, aged 45, graduated from Xiangtan Mining Institute
in Hunan province specialised in Mining Engineering. Mr. Yao
had held senior management positions in large-scale cement
companies in the PRC and has extensive experience in the
planning and engineering construction, production operation
management and mine management of large cement clinker

production lines. He joined the Group in April 2008.
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Mr. Yang Zhonghong

President of TCC Chongqing Cement Company Limited,
Scitus Luzhou Cement Co., Ltd., Scitus Hejiang Cement Co.,
Ltd. and Scitus Luzhou Concrete Co., Ltd.

Mr. Yang, aged 44, graduated from Huaibei Coal Industry
Teachers College specialised in Foreign Language, and holds an
university diploma qualification. Mr. Yang had held management
positions in large-scale cement groups in the PRC and has
more than ten years of experience in cement manufacturing and

production operation. He joined the Group in September 2013.

Mr. Yang Tao

Executive Vice President of TCC Guangan Cement Company
Limited

Mr. Yang, aged 32, graduated from Luoyang Industrial College,
specialized in Cement Silicate Technology. He has more than
10 years of working experience in cement manufacturing,
technology management and quality control. He joined the Group
in November 2007.

Mr. Wang Shiming

Executive Vice President of Guizhou Kong On Cement
Company Limited

Mr. Wang, aged 34, graduated from HuaiNan Union University,
specialized in Accounting. Mr. Wang had held management
positions in large-scale cement companies in the PRC, and has
more than 10 years of working experience in cost calculations of
cement manufacturing and cement plant operation. He joined the
Group in March 2012.

Mr. Xie Yubing

President of TCC Anshun Cement Company Limited

Mr. Xie, aged 47, graduated from Anhui Building Materials
Industrial School specialised in Cement Technology. Mr. Xie had
held technical management positions in large-scale cement
companies in the PRC and has more than 10 years of experience
in cement manufacturing, production operation and engineering

construction. He joined the Group in September 2012.
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ESERSHEEEBERE

Mr. Qiao Shengtao

President of Guizhou Kaili Rui An Jian Cai Co., Ltd.

Mr. Qiao, aged 34, graduated from Luoyang Industrial College
specialised in Cement Silicate Technology. He has more than 10
years of working experience in cement manufacturing, technology
management and quality control. He joined the Group in October
2007.

Mr. Dong Guoying

President of Scitus Naxi Cement Co., Ltd.

Mr. Dong, aged 33, graduated from Anhui University of
Architecture, specialized in Inorganic Non-metal Study. Mr. Dong
had worked in large-scale cement companies in the PRC, and
has more than 10 years of experience in cement manufacturing

and quality control. He joined the Group in December 2010.

Mr. Wang Daoping

Executive Vice President of TCC Huaying Cement Company
Limited

Mr. Wang, aged 33, graduated from Anhui University of
Science & Technology, specialized in Ammunition Engineering,
and has more than 10 years of working experience in mine
exploitation, engineering construction, cement manufacturing and

management. He joined the Group in August 2009.
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Ms. Leung Ka Kay

Company Secretary of the Group

Ms. Leung, aged 39, has been appointed as the Company
Secretary of the Group since August 2015. She joined the
Group in November 2005. She holds an Honours Degree in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
and a Master Degree in Business Administration from The
University of Hong Kong. Ms. Leung is a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Prior to join the Group, Ms. Leung had worked at a leading
international accounting firm for about 5 years. She has over 15
years of professional experience in corporate finance, financial

management, accounting and auditing.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company recognises the value and importance of
achieving good corporate governance standards to enhance
corporate performance, sound internal control, transparency
and accountability to the Shareholders. The Board and the
management of the Company are committed to adhere to the
principles of corporate governance and adopt good corporate
governance practices and procedures to meet the legal and
commercial standards by focusing on areas such as internal

control, fair disclosure and accountability to all Shareholders.

Save as disclosed below, the Company has complied with
all code provisions in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2015. In respect
of code provision AB.7 of the CG Code, four non-executive
Directors and one independent non-executive Directors were
not in a position to attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 15 May 2015 due to other overseas
commitments. In respect of code provision A4.1 stipulate that
non-executive directors should be appointed for a specific term
and directors should have formal letters of appointment. The
non-executive Directors are not appointed for a specific term
and do have formal letters of appointment but they are subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the provision to the
Company’s Articles of Association, and their appointment will be

reviewed when they are due for re-election.
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CODES OF CONDUCT ON DIRECTORS’
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions and dealings (the “Code of Conduct”) based on the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules. The terms of the Code of Conduct are no less exacting
than the standards in the Model Code, and the Code of Conduct
applies to all the relevant persons as defined in the Model Code,
including the Directors, any employee of the Company, or a
director or employee of a subsidiary or holding company of the
Company who, because of such office or employment, are likely
to be in possession of unpublished price sensitive information in
relation to the Company or its securities. Having made specific
enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code and the Code of

Conduct throughout the year of 2015.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic
decisions and performances and is responsible for promoting
the success of the Company by directing and supervising its
affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision
making in all major matters of the Company include approving
and monitoring of all policy matters, setting of objectives,
annual budgets and overall strategies, material transaction,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board delegates its authority and
responsibilities to the senior management for the day-to-day
management, administration and operation of the Group.
These responsibilities include the implementation of decisions
of the Board, the co-ordination and direction of day-to-day
operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by these senior executives
and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its

responsibilities.
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Corporate Governance Functions

No corporate governance committee has been established and
the Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s
policies, practices on corporate governance and continuous
training and development of directors and senior management

etc.

Board Composition

As at 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this report,
the Board comprised two executive and seven non-executive
Directors of whom three are independent as defined by the Stock
Exchange. The number of independent non-executive Directors
and the non-executive Directors represents 33% and 44% of the
Board respectively. To enhance independence and accountability,
the role and responsibility of the Group Chairman, Mr. Koo,
Cheng-Yun, Leslie and the Group Managing Director, Mr. Wu
Yih Chin, is separated. The Directors, including the independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of
valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism
to the Board for its efficient and effective delivery of the Board
functions. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention
to the Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio of
executive Directors to non-executive Directors is reasonable and
adequate to provide checks and balances that safeguard the
interests of the Shareholders and the Company as a whole. The
profiles of each Director are set out in the “Biographical Details of

Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual report.
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Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the
Company had three independent non-executive Directors
representing not less than one-third of the Board. One of the
three independent non-executive Directors has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules.
The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence and
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are
independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.

The family relationships among the board members, if any, have
been disclosed under “Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management” section in this annual report.

Through the insurance plan of the Company’s parent company,
T’Cement, the Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability Insurance for the directors and officers of the
Company for indemnifying their liabilities arising from corporate

activities.

Appointments, re-election and removal

According to the Articles of the Company, the Board has the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as
a Director either to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the
Board. The nomination should be taken into consideration of the
nominee’s qualification, ability and potential contributions to the

Company.

In accordance with the Articles, all Directors appointed to fill a
causal vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders at
the first general meeting after their appointment. At every annual
general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from office by

rotation.
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Board Meetings

The Board meets in person or through other electronic means
of communication at least four times every year. The Board
is responsible for overseeing the Group’s businesses and
development, formulating long term strategies and policies.
The Board also monitors and controls operating and financial
performance in pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives. At
least 14 business days’ notice of regular Board meeting are
given to all Directors, who are all given an opportunity to attend
and include matters in the agenda for discussion. Apart from
regular meetings, senior management from time to time provides
Directors information on activities and development of the
businesses of the Group. The company secretary takes detailed
minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters discussed
and decision resolved at the meetings. Individual attendance
records of each Directors at the respective Board and committee
meetings are set out in the table on page 49 of this annual report.
All Directors and Board committees have recourse to external
legal counsel and other professionals for independent advice at
the Group’s expense if they require it. The Board has delegated
the day-to-day management and operation of the Group’s

businesses to management.

Directors’ Continuous Training and Development Programme
Pursuant to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors are
continually updated on developments in the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities. The Company has provided

timely regulatory and technical updates to the Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy effective on
1 September 2013. The Company seeks to achieve board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. Selection of candidates will be based on merit
and contribution which the selected candidates will bring to the

Board with the consideration of the above diversity attributes.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 9 directors of
which one is a woman. The Board is characterised by significant
diversity, whether considered in terms of gender, nationality,

professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code, three Board
committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, were established to

oversee particular aspects of the Group’s affairs.
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PEEBHRS
Directors’ Attendance Record at Meetings ESHEEELE
Details of the attendance of individual Directors at the Board BEERNFARESGERR=EEEEER
meetings and the three Committees meetings during the year are ZHBEERFBHNT X
set out in the table below:
Meetings Attended/Held
HE/BTER
Audit Remuneration  Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee

Exg EREEE HMZEEE REZEE8
Executive Directors HITE=R
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie ZERAEE 4/4 N/A 38 A 1/1 1/1
Mr. Wu Yih Chin REWLE 4/4 3/3* 1/1 1/1
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Dr. Shan Weijian BREEELT 2/4 N/A i N/A i F N/A A3 A
Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson R FEAE 0/4 N/A i N/A i F N/A T3 F
Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason KR4t E 3/4 N/A 7~ N/A T~ N/A T A
Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth Fudi+ 4/4 3/3 N/A i A N/A T
Independent non-executive Directors B HTES
Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald BAREEL 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth MERET 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger HEaBkE 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1

* The Director is not a member of the committee at the relevant time

but attended the meetings by invitation.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and
to assist in the execution of its responsibilities, the Board has
established three Board Committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.
Independent non-executive Directors play an important role in
these committees to ensure independent and objective views are

expressed and to promote critical review and control.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established in 1999 and its members
comprise three independent non-executive Directors and a non-

executive Director:

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald (Chairman of the Committee)
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

Ms. Wang, Lishin, Elizabeth

All committee members possess diversified industry experiences
and appropriate professional qualifications as required under the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year.
Their major duties and responsibilities are set out in the terms
of reference and the work conducted by the Audit Committee

included the following matters:

1.  Reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed
by the external auditor in respect of the final audit for the
year of 2015;

2. Reviewed the Group’s 2014 annual and 2015 interim
reports, internal controls and corporate governance issues,
financial and accounting policies and practices and made

recommendations to the Board;

3. Recommended to the Board on the re-appointment of
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor and to develop
policy on the engagement of an external auditor to supply

non-audit services;

4. Discussed with the external auditor their independence and

the nature and scope of the audit; and

5. Discussed with the external auditor any material queries
raised by the auditor to management in respect of the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control

and management’s response.
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The Audit Committee reviewed the Group’s internal control
based on the information obtained from the external auditor and
Company’s management and was of the opinion that there are

adequate internal controls in place in the Group.

To comply with the requirement under the CG Code in respect
of the responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties, the Board has delegated its responsibilities to the
Audit Committee to develop and review the policies and
practices of the Company on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; to review and monitor the
Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements; to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct applicable to the Directors and employees;
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management and to review
the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out in
the CG Code contained in the Listing Rules and disclosures in

the corporate governance report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors and two executive Directors:

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald (Chairman of the Committee)
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie

Mr. Wu Yih Chin

Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth

Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

Its major terms of reference are summarised as follows:

1. To formulate and recommend to the Board the policy for
the remuneration of the executive Directors and other senior
executives as designated by the Board;

2.  To determine the individual remuneration package of each

executive Director including basic salary, annual bonus plans

and allocation of share options;
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3. To consider and recommend to the Board any payment
or compensation commitment to be made to an executive

Director on termination of his contract;

4. In formulating its policy, the Committee shall give due regard
to the contents of the Listing Rules and shall also consider
market forces and compare between different remuneration
packages paid to directors of other companies of a similar
size in comparable industries. The executive Directors may
attend meetings of the Remuneration Committee when
invited to do so, but not when their own remuneration is

being discussed; and

5. To determine any performance related remuneration

schemes and executive share option schemes.

The Remuneration Committee is authorized by the Board to seek
any information it requires from any employee of the Company in

order to perform its duties.

In connection with its duties, the Remuneration Committee is
required by the Board to select, set terms of reference for and
appoint remuneration consultants, at the Company’s expense
as the Remuneration Committee deems necessary in order to

perform its duties.

The Remuneration Committee sets the remuneration policy for
the executive Directors and senior management. Specifically,
the Remuneration Committee agrees their service contracts,
salaries, other benefits, including bonuses and other terms and
conditions of employment. It also agrees terms for their cessation

of employment.

One meeting was held in 2015, with the attendance rate of
100%. No executive Director takes part in any discussion about
his own remuneration. During the meeting, remuneration of the
Directors has been discussed and no significant change has
been proposed to the remuneration policy and the directors’

remuneration.
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee was established in 2012 and its
members comprise three independent non-executive Directors

and two executive Directors:

Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
Mr. Wu Yih Chin

Dr. Liao Poon Huai, Donald
Dr. Chih Ching Kang, Kenneth
Mr. Shieh, Jen-Chung, Roger

(Chairman of the Committee)

Its major terms of reference are summarised as follows:

1. To review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s

corporate strategy;

2. To identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for

directorships;

3. To assess the independence of independent non-executive

Directors; and

4. To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for

Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.
The Nomination Committee is authorized by the Board to seek

any information it requires from any employee of the Company in

order to perform its duties.
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The Nomination Committee shall have the authority delegated
by the Board to engage independent professional advisors, at
the Company’s expense, to assist the Nomination Committee in

order to perform its duties.

Member of Nomination Committee can call for a meeting anytime
when it is necessary. One meeting was held in 2015, with the
attendance rate of 100%. Issues concerning the structure, size
and composition of the Board were discussed and no change

has been proposed to the structure, size and composition.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the fees charged to the accounts of the
Company and its subsidiaries for the non-statutory audit services
amounted to HK$1,293,000. The non-statutory audit services
consist of the professional service in relation to the rights issue,
tax compliance and the interim review. The cost of statutory audit
services provided by external auditor was HK$7,292,000. The
responsibilities of the external auditor with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s

Report” on pages 106 to 108 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
Pursuant to the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, it

stipulates that management should provide all members of the
Board with monthly updates giving balances and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and

prospects in sufficient details.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the management
of the Company has provided to all Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors)
monthly reports which provided sufficient details in relation to the
Company’s performance, position and prospects. In addition, the
management has also provided all Directors, in a timely manner,
updates on any material changes to the performance, position
and prospects of the Company and sufficient information for

matters brought before the Board.
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The Board recognises its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
accounts which give a true and fair view and are in accordance
with generally accepted accounting standards published by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Appropriate
accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;

judgments and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for
maintaining an adequate internal control system and reviewing
its effectiveness through the Audit Committee. The Company
management maintains and monitors the systems of controls on

an ongoing basis.

Based on the assessment made by the Company’s management
and external auditor during its statutory audit, the Audit
Committee satisfied that the internal control system is sufficient
to provide reasonable assurances that the Group’s assets are
safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition,
transactions are properly authorized and proper accounting
records are maintained. In addition, the Board considered
that the resources, qualifications and experience of the staff
responsible for the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function, their training and budget are adequate. The system
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, and to manage rather than

eliminate risks of failure in the Group’s operational system.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Ka Kay was appointed as the company secretary
of the Company since 27 August 2015. She is responsible
to the Board for ensuring the board procedures are followed
and that the Board is fully briefed on all legislative, regulatory
and corporate governance developments. Ms. Leung is also
responsible for the Group’s compliance with the continuing
obligation of the Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules

and regulations.
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The biographical details of Ms. Leung is set out in the section
of “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
on page 42 of this annual report. Up to the date of this annual
report, Ms. Leung has undertaken not less than 15 hours of

relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Articles, any one or more Shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meeting of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition. The requisition must be lodged with

Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the company secretary at the
Company’s office in Hong Kong at 16/F., Hong Kong Diamond
Exchange Building, 8-10 Duddell Street, Central, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there is no change in

the Company’s constitutional documents.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has established a wide range of communication
channels between itself and its shareholders, investors and other
stakeholders. These include the annual general meeting, the
annual and interim reports, notices, announcements and circulars

and the Company’s website at www.tcchk.com.
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

“Environmental protection is responsibility but not a cost” is
always the motto of the Group’s environmental protection social
conscience. For environmental protection, we keep on exploring
with innovation. In facing the intensifying global competition,
the environmental and climatic issues brought by economic
development are getting more and more serious. How to
balance between sustainable operation and the environment in a

responsible manner is every enterprise’s responsibility.

With the Group’s in-depth experience, by adhering to the
“Ensuring brand quality with unrelenting effort” mentality, besides
producing high quality cement and dedicated in business
development, during the production process, the Group treasures
environmental resources with improving competitiveness,
maximising resources recycling, lowering unit energy
consumption, and reducing wastages as the core objectives.
For the counteracting strategies that are relevant to the impact
of climatic changes to the environment, apart from conducting
energy conservation measures and endeavoring to lower factory
greenhouse gas, the Group also continues to conduct resources
recycling to replace original materials to safeguard environmental

resources.

In conformance with our spirit of “What is taken from the
society should be used in the interests of the society”, besides
facilitating operation management, we actively promote resource
investments and environmental practices, establish “green
industry” and perform practically to implement sustainable
development and environmental protection, devote whole-
heartedly enterprise social responsibility, and demonstrate self-
disciplined reform administration of “Welcoming the changes,
learning with passion”, adopt an ever-innovative attitude to create
a win-win situation for enterprise sustainability and shareholders

interest maximisation.

Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
Chairman

Hong Kong

17 March 2016
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the second year for the Group to prepare the
Environmental and Social Responsibility Report in order to
demonstrate our continuous commitment to transparency and

accountability to our stakeholders.

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

This Environmental and Social Responsibility Report is prepared
according to the principles and provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in Appendix
27 of the Listing Rules, with the plants of the Group in the
PRC as the targets. The scope that covers is the 16 (2014: 13)
subsidiaries of the Company in total that are principally engaged
in the manufacture and distribution of cement and clinker but
excluding associates and joint ventures (collectively referred to as

“TCC Cement Companies”).

This report sets out the strategy of TCC Cement Companies and
its implementation in two subject areas, namely environmental
and social. Through this report, shareholders, investors and
the public will be given a more comprehensive and thorough
understanding regarding the governance and culture of the
Group, a channel to review the performance of the Group in the

environmental and social responsibility aspect.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK
We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental and
social responsibility approach and performance. Please give your

suggestions or share your views with us via ir@tcchk.com.
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ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

A. Environmental

1.

Emissions

TCC Cement Companies stringently comply with the
applicable prevention and control laws promulgated by
the State Government on wastage, waste gas, sewage

emission and noise pollution in the PRC, inter alia:—

- Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

- Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of

Atmospheric Pollution

- Emission Standard of Air Pollutants for Cement

Industry

—  Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
PRC

- Law of the PRC on Prevention and Control of

Pollution From Environmental Noise

To maintain an environmental-friendly production
environment, for each of the years ended 31 December
2014 and 2015, the pollutants discharged by TCC
Cement Companies were monitored and inspected
regularly by a certified environmental supervisory
department. Most of TCC Cement Companies hold
the Pollutant Emission Permit (35 2% %) BE iR 7F 7] &
and engage periodically an independent certified
environment supervisory institution to conduct emission
monitoring quarterly or annually. The inspection results
have complied with the relevant national standards

requirements.
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For dust pollution and waste gas emission, TCC

Cement Companies invested tremendously in

purchasing advanced equipment when constructing

its plants, so as to control the emission to be under

national standards. The emission information of waste

HRWESRERERBER  8RKE
NAARER s AR THEEBER
R N6 RE 2
T HEZZE—RAFT+_A=+—H
IEFE - BRKER RIS A REREE

gas emissions of TCC Cement Companies for the year WEZBEREIENT
ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:
Average
emission Emissions
intensity in total
2015 —E-RHfF
Nitrogen oxide RE 290 mg/m?® 21,292 tonnesHg
Oxysulphide k=7 68 mg/m3 3,394 tonnes
Smoke dust & e 22 mg/m? 2,744 tonneshf
2014 —E-EF
Nitrogen oxide REW 328 mg/m? 27,846 tonnesMf
Oxysulphide maty 58 mg/m? 3,397 tonnesf
Smoke dust 1% R 26 mg/m? 5,282 tonnesliA

The emission information of greenhouse gases

emissions of TCC Cement Companies for the year

BHE_ZT—AF+-_A=+—HILF
E-aRKERTIMAEREHRE

ended 31 December 2015 is as follows: RBERREE DT
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
Tonnes Tonnes
T 7S
Carbon dioxide-directly Y 32,404,828 29,630,697
Carbon dioxide-indirectly —SEibix— & 1,778,527 1,616,094

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

60



Environmental and Social Responsibility Report

ERRUESSEHS

TCC Cement Companies have successively
established new Selective Non-Catalytic Reduction
technology (SNCR) smoke and gas denitration
engineering systems, so that the nitrogen oxide
emission concentration can reduced significantly. As
at 31 December 2015, 13 (2014: 11) cement plants
had completed the installation of the denitration
engineering systems. The harmful and harmless waste
were collected universally and recycled by qualified
entities. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
penalty that TCC Cement Companies was fined due to
environmental pollution of approximately HK$383,000
(2014: HK$315,000).

Use of Resources

TCC Cement Companies stress great importance
on energy and water resources saving. Each of TCC
Cement Companies has formulated its system for
energy saving and rational utilisation and energy
administration to control the energy and resources used
in its production, operation and management activities,
thereby increasing resources utilisation rate and energy

economic efficiency to prevent pollution.

Most of the plants of TCC Cement Companies are
equipped with residual heat power generation to reduce
energy consumption. Furthermore, each company has
always adopted the recycling use of recycled water,
from which plenty of water resources were recycled
for use in production process and pre-agitating truck
cleaning. Over the years, huge amount of capital was
invested to gradually improve water utilisation plan and
respective equipment to reduce environment pollution

due to water discharge.
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The consumption data of TCC Cement Companies

for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out as

BE_Z—HF+_A=+—HI#F
T ARKEAR ZEEEIEH YN

follows: T:
2015 2014
—E-RE —
Total volume Total volume
Total power consumption BHEEE kwh/1,000”

(including residual heat

power generation)

(BHAEE) ETHTAH

3,759,162,000

3,270,870,000

Total water consumption BHREKE
18,274,000 15,140,000
Total paper bags for RERRBEH
packaged cement wHE 244,643,000 164,947,000
Environment and Natural Resources BERIARER
Residual Heat Power Generation BRI EFE

Besides striving to optimise cement production process
to reduce product unit heat consumption and power
consumption to reduce greenhouse gases emission
per tonne continuously, TCC Cement Companies also
take into account energy saving and environmental
protection. All clinker production lines of TCC
Cement Companies are NSP production lines which
are equipped with residual heat power generation
system. They are able to recover the heat in waste
gases discharge by pre-heaters and coolers during
the cement rotary kiln process and use the heat for
power generation. This will achieve the purpose of
energy saving and emission reduction, fully recover the
maximised heat volume and generate best benefits.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, residual heat
power generation units of TCC Cement Companies
generated a net power volume of approximately
1,296,032,147 kilowatts (2014: 1,247,187,523
kilowatts) in total and in converting into carbon dioxide
reduction of approximately 826,739 tonnes (2014:
795,581 tonnes).
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Mine Management

TCC Cement Companies stress great concern to water
and soil conservation and ecology conservation to
reduce bare areas in mining regions, increase water
and soil conservation functionality, establish local
wildlife ecology and promote the overall aesthetic
feeling in mining areas. TCC Cement Companies always
conduct garden greening works to help enhancing the

environmental performance significantly.

Wastage Management

TCC Cement Companies have been integrating and
recycling renewable resources for many years, which
include desulphurization gypsum, flyash, coal cinder,
slag and blaster furnace slag. The cement kiln is not
only the current method of utilising resources to handle
operation wastages, but also the best and eventual
handling facilities. TCC Cement Companies bring into
play its own “Core Competence of Environmental
Protection” for waste materials and garbage handling
and continue to contribute to environmental protection.
The handling volume of renewable resources by TCC
Cement Companies for the year ended 31 December

2015 is set out as follows:

BT

BRI FIE R K R R ERER
ERABY UREERRREEE.
EIKEREEDEE  EERTHLH
EMERRRERREEEBER B
KRB —EESMERETEEL
LI WIRRBRZIRABHEKR
MY Bh 2k o

BEEYEIE
BRKERRZFRESNANBEE
BERBEBRTAE HHEX KL
BERBREZ KREEZE TEF
REEREREZEY STHEHK
BRIBERIE ARARRABINEFELRS
HEBRMBENREBEAGZ [BR
BN BRERBRRE—MHON -
HE-_Z—AF+-A=+—HBLF
T eRKEARIZ BEERNEIE
REHHMT:

2015 2014

—E-iF —E-mEF

Tonnes Tonnes

7] 7]

Desulphurization gypsum BRRAE 1,283,000 1,199,000
Flyash ) BEIX 651,000 839,000
Coal cinder L 1,042,000 854,000
Slag A 346,000 186,000
Blaster furnace slag 1B K& 285,000 153,000
63 .:.ﬁs@l"%‘—‘%@zﬁﬁséj



Environmental and Social Responsibility Report
ERERHESEHRS

Actively Coordinating with carbon emission trading

The quota management in carbon emission is an
important government measure to promote low-
carbon development. In order to coordinate with the
local governments to reduce carbon emission and
control atmospheric pollution, TCC Cement Companies
vigorously coordinate with and actively participate in
carbon emission trading. The emission volume and the
amount of carbon emission trading for the year ended

31 December 2015 are set out as follows:

SR E R 5

BB RCET R T E R BT HEE
RERAEZRE - RBELE T BT
BTN E EHIARSHE Ak
KA BIK N BE A I FE 1R 2 B HE AR
EXGTR-BE_ZT—HF+_A
=+—BIEFE FEBERERS
HRERSEHIMAT

Unit 2015 2014
B —ZE-FF —T-mEF
Emission volume of carbon R RER S tonnes
emission right transactions HEFEME g
sold 58,000 -
Amount of carbon emission X HENIER 5 HK$ 000
trading sold HE SR TETT 1,071 -
Urban Waste Treatment Project B BE Y i FETE H

On 4 August 2014, one of the Anshun plant of TCC
Cement Companies in Guizhou province signed an
investment project with the local government to invest
and construct a household garbage incineration
handling line that is synergistic with the cement kiln,
with a garbage handling capacity of 200 tonnes
per day. The project franchise period is 25 years. It
commenced operation in December 2015. Compared
with traditional incineration method, co-disposal in
cement kilns leverages on high temperature of cement
rotary kiln to absorb and handle toxic gases such
as dioxin gas and penetrant fluid that are generated
from the gasification of garbage incineration, and uses

combustible matter in household garbage as alternative
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materials for cement production, thus has improved
the “reduction, bio-safety, recycling” treatment of
household garbage. Hence, it is more environmentally-
friendly, safer and more economical and will not
bring secondary pollution to the environment. TCC
Cement Companies will continue to cooperate with
local governments and seek to provide urban waste

treatment services in other plants.

This is the first project of co-disposal of garbage
established by TCC Cement Companies in the PRC.
It is also a demonstration project for the construction
of environmental protection industry value chain. It
can achieve harmless disposal of urban household
garbage and has an expected handling capacity of
73,000 tons per year. Anshun plant has become a
powerful demonstration platform, proving to the society
that cement companies can also play a vital role in

environmental protection.

Environmental Protection Awards

In 2013, three of the Yingde, Guigang and Jurong
plants of TCC Cement Companies commenced
product certification one after another and were
awarded the “China Environmental Labeling Product”
and the “China Environmental Labeling Low-carbon
Product” certifications simultaneously in early 2014.
The obtaining of relevant certificates represents that
not only the quality of the related products from the
plants are in line with national requirements, they
are also in line with the environmental protection
requirements in terms of the relevant procedures in
production, utilisation and disposal, and the products
possess the advantages of environmental protection
in energy saving and emission reduction. Other TCC
Cement Companies also conducted the certification
application in 2014, during which, by leveraging on
clean production processes, they achieved the dual
progress in environmental protection and economic

development.
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China Environmental Labeling Product Certification
B IR IR AR 5 R AR

Plant Certificate No. Complying Models Date Of Issue Expiry Date
& Bl & E w0 BERR HEEH BRHR

Yingde CEC08775368815-3 Pl 42.5R PO 42.5 - PO 42.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19
iR

Guigang CEC08777174969-3 Pl 52.5R~ PO 42.5 - PO 42.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19
858

Jurong CEC08760893071-6 Pl 52.5 + PIl 52.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19
GIES PO 42.5 - PO 42.5R

Chongging CEC08767610563-8 PO 42.5R 2014.09.26 2017.09.25

BE

Liaoning CEC08766729432-6 Pl 52.5 - PO 42.5 2014.11.02 2017.11.01
EE

Anshun CEC08767540336-9 PO 42.5 2014.11.30 2017.11.29
2 JIE

China Environmental Labeling Low-carbon Product Certification
TEBRRERERERRE

Plant Certificate No. Complying Models Date Of Issue Expiry Date
& B! & E R FEER HEAH BRHR
Yingde 05514P1087032C01 PIl 42.5R - PO 42.5 - PO 42.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19
HiE

Guigang 05514P1087031C01 Pl 52.5R~ PO 42.5 - PO 42.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19
858

Jurong 05514P1087030C01 Pl 52.5 + PIl 52.5R 2014.01.20 2017.01.19
GIES PO 42.5 ~ PO 42.5R
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Between 2013 and 2014, one of the Yingde plant
of TCC Cement Companies in Guangdong province
obtained the award of “Ranked 167th of 2013
Guangdong Top 500 Manufacturing Enterprise” issued
by Guangdong Manufacturers Association and The
Institute of Enterprise Research, Guangdong Academy
of Social Sciences, and obtained the title of “2013
Guangdong Outstanding Contribution Manufacturing
Enterprise” awarded by Guangdong Manufacturers
Association, and received the “Green Planning
Company” of “2012/13 Hang Seng Pan Pearl River
Delta Environmental Awards” organized jointly by
Hang Seng Bank and the Federation of Hong Kong

Industries.

In 2015, the 2015 China International Cement
Conference was held in Beijing and adopted the theme
of “Low Carbon Cement, Green Development”. One
of the plants of TCC Cement Companies in Jurong
province, was awarded the “Environmental Protection
Model Enterprise of Large-Scale Cement Group in
China”.

As at 31 December 2015, 11 cement plants (2014:
8) of TCC Cement Companies had obtained the
Environmental Management System Certification
and Certificate for occupational health and safety
management, implying that the production operating
management of these plants have matched the
requirements of the Environmental Management System
and Occupational Health And Safety Management

System respectively.
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B. Social

I.  Employment and Labour Practices

1.

Employment

TCC Cement Companies provide market
competitive salaries and favorable performance
bonuses, which are distributed according to
the equitable and incentive performance bonus
measures by linking up the overall operational
profitability of the Company to individual staff
performance, thereby repaying staff with excellent

performance.

TCC Cement Companies prepared and
implemented staff management measures, which
set out the human resources policies covering
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, diversity,
other benefits and welfares. Basically, every rule
that sets out in the management measures is
prepared according to the relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to “Labour
Law” and “Labour Contract Law” in the PRC.
During the year, TCC Cement Companies have
stringently complied with the aforesaid standards,

rules and regulations.
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The total employees breakdown of TCC Cement RZE—RF+A=1+—8"
Companies by employment category, age group, BRACEABIREEER - Fik
region and gender as at 31 December 2015 are ARl HEm RIERIE D EEEB A
set out as follows: HEIOT
By age group
REREAR
16-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-59 Over 60
years old yearsold yearsold yearsold vyearsold yearsold Total
Employment category B &% 5 16-208%  21-30%  31-40%  41-505%  51-59% 60 L &t
2015 “E-1%
Long-term £H# 210 2,963 3,211 2,549 276 1 9,210
Short-term 52 5 10 56 20 1 - - 87
220 3,019 3,231 2,550 276 1 9,297
2014 —E-mF
Long-term 8 193 2,999 2,881 1,679 102 1 7,855
Short-term pSh-i 6 64 27 9 - - 106
199 3,063 2,908 1,688 102 1 7,961

By staff hometown region

RETIZHAHE
Guangdong Guangxi Sichuan Guizhou Jiangsu Liaoning Fujian
Province Province Province Province Province Province Province Others Total
Employment category {EfE 5! EXR%E EEZ effIES ENE &2 BEZ REE ity &t
2015 ZE-1%
Long-term =8 2,169 1,110 1,459 1,036 565 401 109 2,361 9,210
Short-term BH - - - - - 76 - 11 87
2,169 1,110 1,459 1,036 565 477 109 2,372 9,297
2014 ZT-MF
Long-term =8 2,094 1,083 1,189 1,142 557 373 65 1,352 7,855
Short-term B - - - - - 99 - 7 106
2,094 1,083 1,189 1,142 557 472 65 1,359 7,961
BRERERERAR
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By gender
% 1% Bl
Male Female Total
Employment category {EfE%E 5! B z &5t
2015 —E—-REF
Long-term K H 7,120 2,090 9,210
Short-term 52 HA 61 26 87
7,181 2,116 9,297
2014 —E—F
Long-term & B 6,108 1,747 7,855
Short-term 52 HA 78 28 106
6,186 1,775 7,961
The staff turnover rate of TCC Cement Companies HE-Z—hHAF+=-A=1+—
by age group, region and gender for the year HIEFE  8RKERA IR FHR
ended 31 December 2015 are as follows: AR @ R Bl SR B R K
pecg
By age group
BERAR
16-20 21-30 31-40 41-50 51-59  Over 60
years old yearsold yearsold yearsold vyearsold yearsold Total
Category L] 16-205%  21-308%  31-40%  41-508%  51-59% 60mM L =X
2015 —E-5f
Staff turnover HEAZ 114 1,203 643 350 37 1 2,358
Staff turnover BBk
percentage 1.2% 12.9% 6.9% 3.8% 0.4% 0.1% 25.3%
2014 —E-mE
Staff turnover BERE A &1 130 1,269 645 202 11 2 2,259
Staff turnover BRX
percentage 1.6% 16.0% 8.1% 2.5% 0.1% 0.1% 28.4%
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Report

By staff hometown region

RATSHSENS
Guangdong Guangxi Sichuan Guizhou Jiangsu Liaoning Fujian

Province Province Province Province Province Province Province Others Total
Category £ ERE REZ m# ENE IHE gEY REE i CH
2015 ZB-1F
Staff turnover BERAR 47 230 450 332 66 67 31 1 2,358
Staff turnover percentage BB % 5.1% 2.5% 4.8% 3.6% 0.7% 0.7% 0.3% 7.6% 25.3%
2014 —2-mE
Staff turnover BBAR 386 276 241 776 53 67 81 379 2,259
Staff turnover percentage B & 4.9% 3.5% 3.0% 9.7% 0.7% 0.8% 1.0% 4.8% 28.4%

By gender
214 5l
Male Female Total

Category 35l ) z &%
2015 —B-hfF
Staff turnover BB A B2 1,893 465 2,358
Staff turnover percentage i ¥ & 20.3% 5.0% 25.3%
2014 —T—NF
Staff turnover BB A & 1,844 415 2,259
Staff turnover percentage Bt = 23.2% 5.2% 28.4%
Health and Safety 2. RBERZE

TCC Cement Companies stress great importance
on staff health and safety. Therefore, each
company has established its rules for safety
production operation. In order to enhance staff’s
daily safety awareness and prevent the occurrence
of serious occupational disasters, TCC Cement
Companies implement hazard identification and
risk assessment measures, and also put forth self-
management to eliminate potential hazards and
prevent occupational disasters, and implement
stringent standards in emphasizing industry
safety importance within the plant and advocate
the management measures in handling industry
safety issues. Such measures will eradicate the
occurrence of industry safety incidents, and even
if so, immediately after any event, the reporting
system will initiate and report to the relevant
department and the president. All new staffs are
required to participate in new staff safety training.
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Environment safety and hygienic policy of TCC
Cement Companies :

(1) To continue green planting and water and
soil conservation in mining areas for natural
landscape preservation in the plant mining
area.

(2) To comply with the relevant requirements of
environmental protection laws and regulations
and continue to prevent, control and
improve the pollution situation for improving
environmental performance.

(3) To practice waste reduction and resource
recycling diligently.

(4) To promote fraternity with neighbours
and enhance the communications with
neighbouring residents.

(5) To comply with the laws and regulations on
safety and health and other required matters
to prevent staff from injury and sickness.

(6) To implement hazard identification and risk
assessment measures, and also put forth self-
management to eliminate potential hazards
and prevent occupational disasters.

(7) To establish and maintain a safe and healthy
working environment and continue to improve
for escalating the safety and hygienic
performance.

As at 31 December 2015, TCC Cement
Companies carried out the establishment
of Cement Base National Safety Production
Standardisation Class Il Standard Enterprise
gradually, of which 7 (2014: 6) cement plants
have passed the National Safety Production
Standardisation Class Il Enterprise evaluation.
Total number of cement plants that have passed
the Class Il Safety Standard evaluation is over
43% (2014: 46%) of total cement plants under the
TCC Cement Companies. The remaining cement
plants are also actively facilitating the rectification
and establishment of Class Il Safety Production
Standardisation.
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The information of staff injury or fatality and their

percentages that are due to work and the person-

time in safety training of TCC Cement Companies

for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out

as follows:

BE_T-—hE+-_HA=+—H
LEFEE - &RKERAFREIAT
EBAEMX BRI THAR L
KR B2ERZEIFINANREERH
FaT

Unit 2015 2014
B —E-hfF —E-MF
Number of employee’s BT TEHEEHRH No. of
occupational injury incidents
incidents KE 65 52
Number of employee’s BETTEAH No. of
occupational injury persons
A# 65 54
Percentage of employee’s B T T{5 A8t = %
occupational injury 0.70% 0.68%
Number of working days BEIRTIIEBEL Days
lost due to employee’s TER# A2
occupational injury 5,139 2,625
Compensation amount BEIRTIIEEE HK$'000
due to employee’s &% FET
occupational injury 686 735
Number of employee’s fatal 8 T T {E@E& No. of
incidents due to work T EHUNE incidents
K& 1 2
Number of deceased BTHATITIERME No. of
employees due to work T A persons
AZ 1 4
Percentage of deceased SETHAIERE %
employees due to work ARYN - §i =S 0.01% 0.05%
Compensation amount BETHETINRTEE HKE000
due to employee’s k2| FET
occupational fatality 1,012 4,256
Number of times of safety %22 JIE 25 %R X £ No. of
emergency drilling incidents
KB 66 53
Person-time participated in 2% 2 EEEM  Person-time
safety emergency drilling AR AKX 3,073 2,733
Person-time participated in 2 8% 215 FI| AR Person-time
safety training AKX 10,741 10,714
BRERERERAR

73

2015 F3§



Environmental and Social Responsibility Report
ERERHESEHRS

Development and Training

TCC Cement Companies always attach importance
to staff training and talents development.
Through a series of result-oriented professional
trainings and tailor-made cement specialist career
development plans for individual employee, our
enterprise is able to maintain its continuous
competitive professionalism in the cement industry.
TCC Cement Companies actively develop cement
specialists to meet the future development needs,
and regularly organize various managerial and
professional training courses for staff, or cooperate
with other training institutions, schools for

commissioned training.

The trainings offered to TCC Cement Companies

staff include:

— introductory and safety training for new

employees;

—  technical training for on-the-job employees

and transferees;

—  professional job skills improvement training;

— external training by the Company to
attend professional training related to laws
and regulations, all kinds of professional
knowledge, managerial knowledge and key
posts and training courses of academic

research; and

—  regular safety training.
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5

Average training hours completed per employee BHE_Z—RF+= ﬂ +—
and percentage of employees trained by employee IEFE aRKERRILE éii
category and gender in TCC Cement Companies A R RIE D F ﬁ BREKE
for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out AR LZIEEB DL
as follows: AT
By employee category
RESER
Electrical ~ Machinery Ancillary Other
Management ~ technician  technician Marketing administration ~ departments Total
ER B
Category g5l EEE BiAR BiEAR ES N} ®ETH Hit 3P &t
2015 —Z-n%
Number of employees at end of period  HiFEEAH 449 1,862 2,843 243 1,290 2,610 9,297
Average training hours completed TR R TFHIRE 22 41 48 18 20 42 40
Percentage of employees trained XIEERAL 76% 78% 79% 93% 54% 83% 77%
Charges for education training AR ER
(HKS'000) (F&1) 607
2014 —E-mE
Number of employees at end of period  HiFKEE AH 308 1,914 2,727 230 1,002 1,780 7,961
Average training hours completed TR FHERE 17 31 35 10 10 15 21
Percentage of employees trained XNEEEAL 78% 63% 69% 100% 93% 100% 78%
Charges for education training HENHRER
(HK$'000) (Fi&T) 726
By gender
& 5l
Male Female Total
Category Eal £ z &5t
2015 —E—FhEF
Number of employees HIRIEEB A
at end of period 7,181 2,116 9,297
Average training hours completed e FI S R EL 39 42 40
Percentage of employees trained XIEEED L 78% 72% 77%
2014 — M
Number of employees HiRIE B A
at end of period 6,186 1,775 7,961
Average training hours completed TERK BT 1S B K 20 23 21
Percentage of employees trained ZIEEBDL 81% 67% 78%
BRERERERAR
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Labour Standards

Through recruitment channels and proper
selection process, TCC Cement Companies assign
appropriate works based on their knowledge,
experience, personal characters and working
experience. Remuneration does not commensurate
with gender, religion, race and political party
background. Other than providing excellent
remuneration package, TCC Cement Companies
also strictly comply with the relevant national and
local labour regulations and requirements, and
no employee under 16 will be recruited. Each
TCC Cement Companies will review the overall
recruitment practices from time to time to prevent
child labour, forced labour and other potential
illegal incidents. Employees must truthfully fill
in the “Staff Basic Information Sheet” when an
employment is commenced. In the event of holding
forged certificate, filling in untrue personal resume,
there will be immediate dismissal by TCC Cement
Companies once found and it will be handled as a
serious violation of the rules and regulations of the

company.
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Il. Operating Practices

1.

Supply Chain Management

With the purpose of meeting target costs, TCC
Cement Companies adhere to the principle of
“Develop locally and supply nearby” to actively
develop local suppliers to create local employment

opportunities and economic prosperity.

The key raw materials for cement manufacturing
include limestone, clay, silica, scum and gypsum
with coal as auxiliary fuel, of which, the Group
utilises the limestone manufactured internally,
with domestic quality mineral manufacturers

supplementing.

TCC Cement Companies develop new suppliers
through investigation, review, verification and
completion of the supplier list for operation
purpose. We conduct regular evaluation regarding
the quality, delivery schedule, pricing and service
of qualified suppliers and delist unqualified
suppliers. The performance management on
suppliers includes market research, formulation
and implementation of raw material procurement
strategy and cheap material utilisation and risk
management etc. Risk management includes
controlling on procurement channels, price
comparison sourcing, tender management and
evaluation, business management and contract
management, payment settlement, factory
acceptance, inventory safety inspection, sales
of waste and obsolete goods. The procurement
department conducts reassessment on every
supplier each year to ensure compliance with all

the requirements.

71

= BEES
1. HEHEE

ARARDRERA BIRAAR
BT - e [SEABIR - BEIE L
B A 5 ¢ 0
B - DB 47 9 7 32 4 B4
EELE

KEEETERBEBSARA
Bt W HBRLTE -HPM
MRRR-EhAaRABEBN
BUABAERER S -

BRAERANRAEHNHEER
B -UEBRHE FE - RER
SR BBER WHARBMH
EEREHFZERE B B
1% KBRS - A RS L
HAg HHEBEHCERERR
WIS RN R RE R
B ) E BT~ BRE AR A A K2
RREEE -EREEBRERE
BB LERE HREEE X
BERLRGRER NREE
BERBRY EFENELZERE
BEVELEFARET KB
HMASFeHEsRHERENE
TRtz BREEATEMER

iE °

BRERERERAR
2015 F3§



Environmental and Social Responsibility Report

BRI

SEEEHS

TCC International Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2015

The number of suppliers of TCC Cement
Companies by region for the year ended 31

December 2015 is set out as follows:

BHE-_Z—RAF+-_A=+—8H
EFE - 8RKER AL &
DR EFEBEHIWNT

Guangdong Guangxi Sichuan Guizhou Jiangsu Liaoning Fujian
Province Province Province Province Province Province Province Others Total
EX% EEE m# ENE TEE FEY REY Hiy EH
2015 ~3-1%
Number of suppliers ~ f£/ER & E 112 28 88 100 75 24 579 399 1,405
2014 —I-mEF
Number of suppliers /B &5 120 34 110 87 63 23 545 375 1,357
Product Responsibility 2. EmEIT

Customer satisfaction is always the biggest
goal of TCC Cement Companies. TCC Cement
Companies have excellent management team
and in terms of quality and services, they adhere
to the operation philosophy of “Ensuring brand
quality with unrelenting effort” and uphold that our
quality will excel competitors to ensure the cement
manufactured will meet 100% qualification rate.
By this, TCC Cement Companies adopt advanced
instruments and equipment, manage and control
raw materials, optimise raw materials, ingredients
and processing to provide customers with stable
quality and professional services. Meanwhile, it
also helps to enhance product quality and image
for customers and suppliers, and in turn improving
their profits. For continuing to increase customer
portfolio and maintain customer base, it is only
when you can create customers’ maximised
values then you can win their trust and support.
TCC Cement Companies adheres to integrity
and dedicated services and surpass customers’
expectation with exquisite services to achieve
“Customer Satisfaction”. Our paramount objective
is to build up good relationships with suppliers
and customers, and pursue enterprise sustainable

operation and growth.
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TCC Cement Companies actively construct
the sales and service platform, integrate group
resources and strive to provide comprehensive
pre-sales, sales and after-sales services. We focus
more on improving professional techniques and
service efficiency, implement customer relationship
management, recruit and accumulate human
resources and experience, enhance our core
strengths and continue to expand our service limit
to surpass client expectation, thereby creating

higher customer satisfaction.

In 2015, TCC Cement Companies invited over 30
co-operative partners from Guangdong, Guangxi
and Fujian provinces for a distributors meeting
in Taiwan. The purpose of which is through the
rich activities such as plants visits, interactive
communication and award ceremony, the
distributors will be able to have an understanding
of the leading strength of TCC Cement Companies
and thus exalt the brand recognition and market
shares of the “Brand Cement” of TCC Cement

Companies.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, 13 (2014
12) companies of the TCC Cement Companies
conduct customer satisfaction research regularly
every year, the results of which will be used for
the improvement and supervision in understanding
current market trend and customer needs, so
as to adjust various transaction conditions at
appropriate time according to market conditions
to shorten the differences between targets (level
of customer attention) and current conditions
(customer satisfaction level), and achieve mutual
supplemental support between customers and the
company to enhance the overall profitability of the

company.
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According to the analysis of the research results of
customer satisfaction conducted annually, in terms
of company goodwill, cement brand name, and
cement quality stability, TCC Cement Companies
generally obtained high scores in terms of level of
attention and satisfaction. In the overall satisfaction
level, customers are satisfied with our products
and services, showing our performances are being

recognised.

The technical team of TCC Cement Companies
not only provides customers with such services
as trial samples, plant visits, meet for sample
testing, trial blending and technical consultation,
they also provide matching supporting services
at construction sites to allow customers to feel
in person our superior and stable quality than
competitors. TCC Cement Companies formulate
customer service and customer complaint
measures to provide customers with product
quality service, set up exclusive laboratory to
complement the various production and business
units and provide “the Cocktail-style Customized
Services” together with customer complaint
solutions.

Customer service statistics of TCC Cement
Companies for the year ended 31 December 2015
are set out as follow:

RESFHETFPHEERNES
R MABEE  KEmE -
KEMBREEFEEET A
RARRBMNEBMHERES
BESSD REBEBMEEL
BEFPHEMMRBHRZTHED
RE-BLIREFPHMEE-

BRKER B EAMEKER T &
ERPRUEEREMA TR2E.
S [ R I B~ P R i A
ERB I BEEEITRGIR
W& EEFRLERD
BFERATHNIZEEE -8R
KRRBIRIA TR N EHFIOEY
EFRHERRERY REE
BNMREESGSEERERE
- W H THE B EHR%]
RERBRTTER

BHE-_Z—RAF+-_A=+—8H
EFEE aRKERARMNERR
B ErEsIn T

2015 2014

—E-RF —T—HF

Concluded Concluded

cases cases

ERERRH EHEETRE

Samples provided ot 353 309

Plant visits ABB2E 94 87

Meet for sample testing =R 42 61

Others HAh 289 215

Total BEf 778 672
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Each of TCC Cement Companies is mostly having
its laboratory, which is equipped with various new
inspection and testing instrument and is able to
carry out inspection and testing works according
to different standards, thus ensuring the superiority
and stability of each companies’ cement quality.

For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015,
neither sold nor shipped products were recalled
due to safety and health reasons.

Product complaints received and the quantities
recalled by TCC Cement Companies for the year
ended 31 December 2015 are set out as follows:
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Unit 2015 2014
iy —E—RHF —E—NF
Number of product REBRERN cases
complaints received aiy = ES 104 81
Number of related B AR B R cases
complaints settled 2B =~ 104 80
Number of cases FEBANEX case
received requesting EmBEK R =~
product recall 1 -
Number of settled cases B f#5#& A £ [E Uk case
regarding recall ZRE S 1 -
Quantity of recalled BRRERZHE: tonne
products: K g
Cement 20 -

TCC Cement Companies formulate non-compliance
control measures and customer complaints
administration manual to establish control and
preventive procedures due to non-compliance of
quality, environmental and safety hygiene administration
reasons, ensure defected products will not flow into
next production stage, and whereby non-compliance
situation will be handled immediately and effectively. To
ensure the cement and clinker shipped will meet the
quality, environment and occupational health and safety
administration requirements, TCC Cement Companies
will fully manage from source to end. From the process
of plant raw materials intake, production and until
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delivery of cement and clinker are under stringent and
specific identification standards to monitor and control
quality indicators at every production stage. Should
non-compliance be discovered at any production
stage, the corresponding isolating measures and
handling methods will also be in place.

In July 2014, the “Common Silicate Cement”
produced by one of the plants of TCC Cement
Companies in Guigang city was awarded the
“2013 Branded Product” by Bureau of Quality
and Technical Supervision of Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region.

In August 2014, one of the plants of TCC Cement
Companies in Jurong city was chosen as the
‘2013 Shanghai Cement Category Enterprise
Quality And Integrity Assessment — Excellent
Enterprise” by Shanghai Cement Industry
Association.

In 2015, National Quality Supervision And Testing
Centre for Cement of China authority announced
the award list for the 2015 “Ruitai Technology Cup”
— The Fifteenth National Cement Quality Indicator
Competition”. Several factories under TCC Cement
Companies were enlisted. Among which TCC
(Guigang) Cement Ltd., TCC Chongging Cement
Company Limited, Scitus Luzhou Cement Co.,
Ltd., Jurong TCC Cement Co., Ltd. and TCC
Liaoning Cement Company Limited were honored
with Excellent Award. There were six TCC Cement
Companies, being TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd,
Guizhou Kaili Rui An Jian Cai Co., Ltd., TCC
Guangan Cement Company Limited, TCC Anshun
Cement Company Limited, Scitus Naxi Cement
Co., Ltd. and TCC Fuzhou Cement Co., Ltd.
being honored the title of Outstanding Award.
Meanwhile, TCC Huaying Cement Company
Limited and Guizhou Kong On Cement Company
Limited were honored the title of Qualified Entity.
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With so many award-winning subsidiaries, they
demonstrate the recognitions of our adherence
to the “Bedrock Quality” philosophy and the
implementation of “Ensuring brand quality with

unrelenting effort” to produce high quality cement.

For the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2015,
there was neither any intellectual property rights
litigation nor proceedings regarding the divulgence

of customer privacy information.

Anti-corruption

According to TCC Cement Companies staff
management measures, no person is allowed
to presume upon his position to demand and
receive bribery or use improper measures to obtain
benefits, and it is also not allowed to blackmail,
cheat and conduct money laundering activities.
Once identified, the staff will be dismissed
dishonorably. If the case is significant, it will be

reported to the police or judicial authority.

TCC Cement Companies also encourage the
reporting of any act that is illegal or in violation of
any ethical standards, enhance advocating moral
philosophy, encourage staff to report to managers,
internal audit director and other appropriate
personnel when suspecting and discovering any
act that is either illegal or in violation of ethical
standards, and provide sufficient information to
enable the company to manage any subsequent
matters properly. The company shall handle the
reported incident strictly confidential and let
the staff be aware that the company will strive
to safeguard the security of the staff who has
reported the incident in good faith.

For the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2015, neither TCC Cement Companies nor their
employees were involved in any legal cases of

corruptible activities.
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lll. Community

1.

Community investment

“Wisdom” Hall Education

The “Wisdom” Hall Education project is the first
children education social welfare activity in the
PRC after a decade. The start of this project will
not only reflect the practical implementation of our
development philosophy of “What is taken from
the society should be used in the interests of the
society”, it will further show the determination
that TCC Cement Companies is striving to
assimilate into and develop hand-in-hand with the
community. Today, the rural areas are in poverty
with many vulnerable and unattended children,
many of them have received poor education, and
at the same time, malnutrition is also an apparent
problem. Through donating nutritious meals and
provide English and computer extracurricular
courses to local poor, vulnerable or unattended
children, TCC Cement Companies will help to
improve their malnutrition problems and at the
same time, perfect the learning resources to

facilitate local human resources development.

The three core philosophies of “Wisdom” Hall
Education social welfare activities are: Brand
Virtue, Brand Conduct And Learning and Brand
Quality. TCC Cement Companies repay the society
with practical activities and set ourselves as
an example to encourage students to establish
social responsibility mentality, nourish healthy
thinking and virtue. Through enriching students’
extracurricular activities, we broaden their horizon,
improve analytical thinking abilities and learning
results, endeavor to become useful persons and
excel in moral and academic performances. In
helping the poor unattended children with weaker
body build-up, TCC Cement Companies improve
their physical quality by providing nutritious dinners

to improve the quality of study life.
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In early 2014, TCC Cement Companies started
paying numerous visits and communications
with Yingde Chengbei Primary School ( &1 i
it /N8 ) in Guangdong and Hechuan Yanjing
Primary School (& JI|E 3 /&) in Chongging for
“Wisdom” Hall Education social welfare activities.
Such social welfare activities are highly recognised
and welcomed by school management and local

education bureau.

The TCC Cement Companies “Wisdom” Hall
Education social welfare project has already
commenced in September 2014, and will use
Yingde Chengbei Primary School ( %123 4t /N E2)
and Hechuan Yanjing Primary School (& JI| &
/NE&) as piloting points. We will start from the two
aspects in child education and beverages, helping
the kids to set up social responsibility mentality,
aiming at strengthening students’ competitiveness,
and improving life quality. At its initial stage, the
project is expected to benefit 200 families and
thereafter, gradually expand to other regions
within the business regions where TCC Cement
Companies are locating, and target to have more
students to learn proactively and grow healthily
under a complacent and diversified teaching

environment with equitable opportunities.

In 2015, Chongging plant invited students from
“Wisdom” Hall Education to visit the plant, which
not only enriched students’ extracurricular life,
but also helped them to broaden their horizons
and enhance knowledge through the interaction

between the school and enterprise.
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Currently, the TCC Cement Companies “Wisdom”
Hall Education social welfare project has
commenced again smoothly in Guixingzhen
Primary School, Qianfeng District, Guangan City,
Sichuan Province and Jinyin Centre Primary
School, Pingba District, Anshun City, Guizhou
Province in September 2015. “Wisdom” Hall
Education received endorsement and support from
both local governments for caring the unattended

children and poor students.

Social Welfare

To support social welfare, TCC Cement Companies
actively participate in community development and
the related activities of charitable social welfare
organizations, help the community nearby to repair
and build bridges and roads, perfect infrastructure
facilities, donate cash and goods to poverty
regions and those in need, solve their practical
problems. For the year ended 31 December 2015,
TCC Cement Companies donated externally a
total of 5,400 metric tons of cements (2014 4,700
metric tons), with a total amount of approximately
HK$1,209,000 (2014: HK$1,326,000).
Furthermore, TCC Cement Companies also
participate in the supporting and sponsoring
activities related to disaster relief and local
social welfare organizations, and approximately
HK$1,764,000 million (2014: HK$3,731,000) in

aggregate donations were made.
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CONCLUSION:
In future, TCC Cement Companies will be focusing on our
environmental works:

(1) Enhancing equipment operation management, staff training,
inspecting repair works and improving dust collection
system to ensure all environmental equipment are operating
normally.

(2) Improving environmental cleaning and control and managing
sewage treatment and emission, stringently controlling
wastage treatment procedures and enhancing the
management of sub-contractors, mechanical cleaning motor
vehicle tyres and greening factory environment.

(8) Adding more air pollution prevention and control equipment
to reduce the pollution on environment.

(4) Promoting continuously the energy and resources integration
utilisation, reducing natural minerals applications, striving
to perform enterprise social responsibility to best deploy
wastage and reducing emission.

Mutual supplemental support should be achieved between
environmental protection and economy development, in which
it will form a virtuous cycle of improving the quality of life of
our communities. Therefore, by adhering to the vision of “What
is taken from the society should be used in the interests of
the society”, and while promoting operation management, we
also constantly engaged in environment improvement works.
TCC Cement Companies gives top priority to energy saving
and environmental protection for its production, which includes
protect the environment we are living, follow the revolving-
oriented economic strategy, lower unit energy consumption,
and reduce wastage. TCC Cement Companies will target the
six objectives of “highly productive, high customer satisfaction,
highly innovative, highly co-operative, highly cultural and highly
internationalized”, coupling with the aim of environmental
protection economic development and act in concert with social
environment momentum. Our improvement will mainly focus on
“escalating competitiveness, maximising resources recycling,
lowering unit energy consumption, reducing wastage, utilising
cement kiln to assist other enterprises in wastage treatment”
and expect to establish a healthy cycle of environmental-friendly
economics to achieve the enterprise sustainable operation
objective.

87

A
ARNEARASHBRESTER:

(1) MRERERIEEIE AR BEHRET
ERMEWERGEEBRRAMBRRRE
EREfE-

(2 MABRBBRMEBEKEE BN 2 EE
BEEEYRERRF  RINBRZINEER
B WEEAEWMBRIAMARCBRIRIRE

(8) ERERSRIHIRME  FELRTSR-

4) FHEHRDEEREANA RORAEY
ERER  BEERANERBENRE-

RREQEEREZAAWAAR B — B
HELEmENRERR Bt RFE W2
HE Bzl WER ERELEEENF
i NETER IR ARRSEE T 8REAR]
e REMELENEL RERFAFE
VIR BREERAEERRE R EELERH
ME HAIBERY  2RIERARBNUISEE
N REEREE SAF s Xt
BRI ZRKTRSEARREERE K
BHERERE UAIRABRFH BRBNA
BAE  BRIEEMERBRE R EEY F
AKEEMPHEMEREEERRZEY | AE/E
W HEEVRFREENRERR EFBFEK
BREMBIR-

FE

BRERERERAR
2015 F3§



Report of the Directors
SREZ

The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group consist of the import and
distribution of cement in Hong Kong and the manufacture and
distribution of cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related
products in other areas of the PRC. Through its associates,
the Group is also engaged in the production and distribution of
ready-mixed concrete in Hong Kong. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during

the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on pages 109 to 110 of this
annual report. The Directors now recommend the payment of a
final dividend of HK2.0 cents per ordinary share and preference
share to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of ordinary shares or the register of members of
preference shares of the Company on 19 May 2016, estimated to
be HK$108,756,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out in the sections of “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and “Prospects and Future Plans” on

pages 14 to 32 of this annual report.

Further discussion on the environmental policies and
performance together with the compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations of the Group, together with the discussion on the
relationship with the employees, customers and suppliers, are
set out in the section of “Environmental and Social Responsibility

Report” on pages 57 to 87 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
ESEERSE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the ordinary share capital
and non-redeemable convertible preference share capital of the
Company are set out in Notes 35 and 36 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations in cash
and in form of cement finished goods in the total amount of
approximately HK$2,973,000.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata

basis to existing Shareholders.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page 113 of this annual report.

At 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserve, including the
share premium and contributed surplus accounts, available
for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed
in accordance with the Companies Law (2004 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, amounted to HK$16,877,329,000. Under the
laws of the Cayman lIslands, a company may make distributions
to its members from the share premium and contributed surplus

accounts under certain circumstances.
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Report of the Directors
SEEBRSEE

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date

of this report are:

Executive Directors:
KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie (Chairman)
WU Yih Chin (Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:
SHAN Weijian

CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson
CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason
WANG, Lishin, Elizabeth

Independent non-executive Directors:
LIAO Poon Huai, Donald

CHIH Ching Kang, Kenneth

SHIEH, Jen-Chung, Roger

The Company has received annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors as regards their
independence to the Company pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent

non-executive Directors as independent.

In accordance with Article 114 of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie, Mr. Chang, An-Ping, Nelson and
Mr. Chang, Kang-Lung, Jason shall retire by rotation and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management

of the Group are set out on pages 33 to 42 of this annual report.
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Report of the Directors
ESEERSE

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year and the time when the Report of the Directors
are approved, a permitted indemnity provision that meets the
requirements specified in section 469(2) of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) for the benefit

of all the Directors were in force.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There were no contracts of significance to which the Company,
its holding companies, any of its fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the

year or at any time during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted by the Company on
23 May 2006 (the “Scheme”), the Company had on 27 May 2011
granted to certain Directors the rights to subscribe for shares
at an exercise price of HK$4.42 per share, exercisable during
the period from 27 February 2012 to 26 May 2014 (both days

inclusive).

As at 26 May 2014, the number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted on 27 May 2011 and remained
outstanding were lapsed. No other option under the Scheme has

been granted during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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Report of the Directors
SiREE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under the provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or which had otherwise been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Issuers (the “Model Code”), were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the Ordinary Shares as at 31
December 2015
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KB

() R=ZZE—RF+-ZBA=+—HB REER
2R

Number of Approximate
Capacity and Ordinary percentage of
Name of Directors nature of interest Shares held shareholding
EEpng SO RERME FEBERHE REBNBEDL
KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie Directly beneficially owned 99,091,528 2.00%
=3O HEERER (note 1)
(Bt7E1)
WU Yih Chin Directly beneficially owned 5,650,000 0.12%
REA ERERER
CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason Directly beneficially owned 3,000,000 0.06%
SR Ml 4 HEERER
107,741,528 2.18%
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(i)

note:

60,322,500 Ordinary Shares were directly beneficially owned
by Mr. Koo. An additional 26,742,028 and 12,027,000
Ordinary Shares were also held by two corporations which
are 49.85% and 49.45% beneficially owned by Mr. Koo

respectively.

Biat:

0

=4 E & B % F60,322,5000% # #
Beo B 284 B E o BB 49.85%
K 49.45% ki 2 W W A B £ B &
26,742,028 }212,027,000% & @ % -

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of (i) A=—E—RE+=-A=+—8 REE%
associated corporations as at 31 December 2015 ERAREEROGZER
T’Cement T’Cement
Number of shares held,
capacity and nature of interest
FEzRAME FRRBEME
Directly Through Through Approximately
beneficially spouse or controlled percentage of
Name of Directors owned  minor children corporation Total shareholding
ERAREBR i3l REML
EEng ERERER AREFZ TEHEE @i BAk
KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie 36,827,543 91 193,538,052 230,365,686 6.24%
=5 (note 1) (note 2)
(Hit1) (Hit2)
CHANG, An-Ping, Nelson 156,573 3,059,817 7,155,821 10,372,211 0.28%
wEF (note 1) (note 3)
(Hizt1) (Mit3)
LIAO Poon Huai, Donald 12,616 789,293 - 801,909 0.02%
BAXE (note 1)
(Hrit1)
CHANG, Kang-Lung, Jason 190,000 - - 190,000 0.01%
KAl
notes: Bt it -
(1) The shares are held by the respective Directors’ spouses as (1) BNBESEFIREBEAZLERERRE
the registered and beneficial shareholder. FEE=I
(2) Koo, Cheng-Yun, Lesile, is interested in companies controlled @ =ZEXRAREMEHZAAFEEE
by him, which held an aggregate of 193,538,052 shares of @wm o mMABARAARIFE AT Cementz
T'Cement. 193,538,052 % f& 17 ©
(3) Chang, An-Ping, Nelson, is interested in companies controlled (B) FREFEREAESI 2 ABIFHEEEZ M

by him, which held an aggregate of 7,155,821 shares of

T'Cement.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no person
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein or which had otherwise been notified to the Company and

the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year, there were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director or their respective spouse
or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by the
Directors; or was the Company, or any of its holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body

corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS

Details of directors’ emoluments are set out in Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements. For the year ended 31
December 2015, the emoluments of the senior management,
whose biographical details are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report and include three of the five highest paid individuals
analysis presented in Note 11 to the consolidated financial

statements, fell within the following bands:

BREXFEEEN RZTE—RF+_A=+—
B #EAL (UIFEFHARFTHRAT) R
ARARHEMBEEE (EERLES MPE K
BIEXVED) 2 Bty - R HEHH HEBHRE
&5 MR RPIEXVEFT R F8N BAME AR
NALBRZMzERIAR (BREREES
EEEGRIIBRIGESGREFRERER 2B
FORR)  BARERE S R I E (R £ 36215 A
AZMGEFT 2 B R M2 B RmIRE  ARER
ETHAMNGARA BRI EDEIRE

EERBROHES 2ER

AEER TEREMESIREZTAZIEBL
AREFREREEBBEARNRA RO RES
MmiFes MEBRTELFEN KAQFHE
ERCEE NI EN )= PNCIDNE) = PNE R
SEEARE AEEFARBEMEMEAF]
ZAFREN -

BEERETITME

ERZEZMWE 2 FBEHINEGE M B RKRM T
M- BE_Z-—RAF+_A=+—RHLFE"
ERERE M (EBREFEHNAFRIE
EREREEERRE| —SHNEERGEAEMS
WMEWMF 2B A EESHFATOIAN=
BEANTINTFUTER:

Number of individuals

A
Emoluments of senior management by bands 2015 2014
BREERE 2 FHHAER —E-HF —T—mEF
Up to HK$1,000,000 % 71,000,000/ 7T 17 15

HK$1,000,001 - HK$1,500,000
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE
INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2015, according to the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and, so far as was
known to the Directors or chief executive of the Company, the
persons or entities, other than a Director or chief executive of the
Company, who had an interest or a short position in the shares
or the underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company or any other company which is
a subsidiary of the Company, or in any options in respect of such

share capital were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the Ordinary Shares as at
31 December 2015

Capacity and

BREARREZ ZIRR

R-ZZE—HE+-_A=Z+—8 RELXQREK
REH KBS KOIFEICIKMTFEZE LMK
BEFAARNDATHRAHMA THIALHE
B(BEELARATHREREBRIN RAAEZK
M EARGFPRBEARBELSRBERIE
XVEPE2 R 3D MG E R AR B KRE 2
RERSAR  SkEE R RS WM BENT R
ERIERTERAT I BARRMB AR ZE
MEMARZRRREG FREZ EAEARIRAR
EAES5%5 A s W KB R 2 (I RE AR
iR

() R=B—FEE+=-A=+—H REER
ZHR
Number of Approximate

Ordinary Shares percentage of

Name of Shareholders nature of interest held shareholding
REREH SORERME g BEREE REBNBTDL
(note 1)
(Btat1)
TCCI Directly beneficially owned 2,814,016,329(L) 56.92%
BEEERHRA
T'Cement (note 2) Through a controlled corporation 2,814,016,329(L) 56.92%
T'Cement (#1:t2) BRZIEHEE
CHPL Directly beneficially owned 782,849,250(L) 15.84%
EERERER 525,000,000(S) 10.62%
Chia Hsin Cement (hote 3) Through a controlled corporation 782,849,250(L) 15.84%
FHNOR (B13E3) FERZ AR 525,000,000(S) 10.62%
notes: Biat -
(1) The letter “L” denotes a long position in such shares, the letter (1) EXFEILIXRTZERMOETE B
“S” denotes a short position in such shares. FEISIEKRTZEROHAXE -
BREREEERAT
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(2) T’'Cement is interested in the shares of the Company by virtue
of its beneficial ownership of the entire issued share capital of

TCCL.

(8) Chia Hsin Cement is interested in the shares of the Company
held by its subsidiary, CHPL.

(ii) Long positions in the underlying shares of the

Convertible Preference Shares as at 31 December 2015

(2) T'CementAE#z#BTCCIZIE FHITRRA
MmiEA AR ARG 2 -

(8) FHAOEREME A FCHPLE A Z AR
AR E A R -

(i) A=ZZE—RF+-A=+—HB RuEHE
BERZHEBROZHRE

Percentage of
the Company’s

Number of total issued

the underlying Ordinary

Name of Shareholders Ordinary Shares held Share capital
EARQBE#AT

EERBRAEHE

REREHE FEHEEEREE ZEDL
TCCI 539,383,608 10.91%
T’Cement (note 1) 539,383,608 10.91%

T’ Cement (H1iF1)
note:

(1)  T’'Cement is deemed to be interested in the underlying shares
of the Convertible Preference Shares held by TCCIl as TCCl is

wholly-owned by T'Cement.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no person
(not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or a short position in the shares or the underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote
in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any
other company which is a subsidiary of the Company, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
sales revenue. Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
Shareholders which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital, had any interest
in any of the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers during

the year.

RELATED PARTIES AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions, which fall within the definition
stipulated in the Hong Kong Accounting Standard 24 “Related
Party Disclosures”, undertaken by the Group during the year
are set out in Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements.
The transactions included in Note 46 items (i) to (vi) to the
consolidated financial statements also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of such transactions conducted by certain
subsidiaries of the Company with connected parties during the

year are summarised below:

TEEFRHEER
REBEFERN MAEBRERNESFH2HE
A AR S B EB0% A T - A E R
A BB F 1 2 R IE R A S BB R B #E30%

AT -

AEER BEFIWSFLAMBPEALHIEE
EPTRABER AR BIANE% A £ Z ERIBOR -
MERASEEETAAREFPRHEATHEEE

A4S -

FAEATRFERERS

AEERAFRERETZBRE LS ERE

2457 [RREANLHEE]

RIAZERCBEALR

SEINNERE TR M 5E46 - SR A M IR
Ff FE46% ()2 (ViR T8k 2 2 5 TR R B A

MBNFVAAR PR E 2 548

MEXH -FR &K

RAETHBAREBEATETHNERRS

BRI -

Annual cap
under the waiver
granted by the

Amount Stock Exchange
BB AR
¢8E FBRRRZEELR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEL
1. Leasing of a site on Tsing Yi Island, mAAR AR RNE AT
Hong Kong, from a fellow subsidiary of HEBABERE—HRILK
the Company 4,968 4,968
2. Purchase of cement in Hong Kong from the WADEZ ZEERRFR
Company's ultimate holding company and its HIMBRAEEBEAKE
subsidiaries 74,311 200,000
BRERERERAR
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Annual cap
under the waiver
granted by the
Amount Stock Exchange
BB
¢E FRREZEELR
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FHT TEL
3. Purchase of cement and/or clinker in MARAZHERERD AR
the PRC from the Company’s ultimate holding HMBARERBEEA
company and its subsidiaries US VYT T 1,116 20,000
4. Receive of transportation and management WRBARE 2 ARMNBRRIRME
services from fellow subsidiaries of BELERRY
the Company 268,545 525,000
5. Receive of maintenance service and WRBARE 2 ARMNBRRIRME
one-off implementation service of ERBM RN 2B ERB R
a computer software system from fellow —RMEE AR
subsidiaries of the Company 30,243 53,000
6. Sales of limestone in the PRC to the Company's ~ [AIAR R Z REER AR R EH B LA
ultimate holding company and its subsidiaries EHREHEERRKA 7,331 60,000
7. Payment of service fee to the Company’s RARAR ZREERART N REE
ultimate holding Company 86,177 125,000
1. Leasing of a site on Tsing Yi Island, Hong Kong HERBRERE— K

On 11 September 1997, the Company entered into a
lease agreement with TCC Development Limited, a fellow
subsidiary of the Company, under which the Company
agreed to lease that part of the property known as Tsing Yi
Town Lot No. 119 on which the cement operation facilities of
the Group in Hong Kong are located for a term of 30 years
with effect from 11 September 1997. The rent payable was
negotiated on an arm’s length basis between the parties
with reference to the agreements signed. Details of the
continuing connected transaction is set out in greater details
in the prospectus of the Company dated 23 September
1997.
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Purchase of cement in Hong Kong

On 15 November 2012, the Company, on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries, entered into a purchase agreement
with T'Cement, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the purchase of cement in Hong Kong. The agreement has
a term commencing from 1 January 2013 to 31 December
2015. The price of the transaction was determined between
the parties with reference to the agreements signed. Details
of the continuing connected transaction is set out in greater
details in the announcement to the Shareholders of the

Company dated 15 November 2012.

Purchase of cement and/or clinker in the PRC

On 15 November 2012, the Company, on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries, entered into a purchase agreement
with T'Cement, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the purchase of cement and/or clinker in the PRC. The
agreement has a term commencing from 1 January 2013
to 31 December 2015. The price of the transaction was
determined by reference to the prevailing market prices,
and no less favourable than those available to the Group
from Independent Third Parties. Details of the continuing
connected transaction is set out in greater details in the
announcement to the Shareholders of the Company dated
15 November 2012.

Receive of transportation and management services

On 15 November 2012, the Company, on behalf of itself
and its subsidiaries, entered into a transportation and
management service agreement with Ta-Ho Maritime
Corporation, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the transportation of cement, clinker, coal and/or gypsum
and for the transportation-related services provided. The
agreement has a term commencing from 1 January 2013
to 31 December 2015. The price of the transaction was
determined by reference to the prevailing open market prices
of road transportation and shipping services. Details of the
continuing connected transaction is set out in greater details
in the circular to the Shareholders of the Company dated 6
December 2012.
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Receive of maintenance service and one-off
implementation service of a computer software system
On 14 November 2014, the Company, on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, entered into a master agreement with TCC
Information Systems Corporation (“TCC Info Systems”), on
behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, a fellow subsidiaries of
the Company, (i) for the provision of maintenance service,
which include but are not limited to general management
information system support, network and software
consultation and hardware maintenance services, payment
agency services, system virtualization and data disaster
recovery services and other related services as may be
agreed upon by the Company and TCC Info Systems from
time to time for the operations of the Group’s business; and
(i) for the one-off implementation service, which include
but are not limited to one-off installation and/or integration
of the information systems for the new production facilities
and the newly acquired subsidiaries of the Group. The
agreement has a term commencing from 1 January 2015
to 31 December 2017. The price of the transaction was
determined between the parties with reference to the
agreements signed. Details of the continuing connected
transaction is set out in greater details in the announcement
to the Shareholders of the Company dated 14 November
2014,

Sales of limestone in the PRC

On 5 August 2014, the Company, on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, entered into a supply agreement with
T’Cement, on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries, for
the supply of limestone from the PRC to Taiwan. The
agreement has a term commencing from 5 August 2014
to 31 December 2016. The price of the transaction was
determined by reference to the prevailing market prices,
and no less favourable than those available to the Group
from Independent Third Parties. Details of the continuing
connected transaction is set out in greater details in the
announcement to the Shareholders of the Company dated 5
August 2014.
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7.

Payment of service fee

On 12 March 2015, the Company, on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, entered into a service agreement with
T'Cement, for the provision of services to the Group on
an on-going basis. The services provided included but
are not limited to the consultation and advisory services
relating to (i) human resources (including formulating staff
policies, recruiting and training, performance evaluation
and formulating remuneration packages); (i) production
design and engineering (including reviewing and revising
production plans, providing maintenance, enhancement
and improvement, procuring of production facilities and
providing technical advice on the production facilities of
the targets in merger and acquisition projects); (iii) product
sales, distribution and marketing; (iv) financial management
(including budgeting, monitoring financial performance and
formulating treasury policies); (v) internal audit; and (vi) legal
(including providing advice, preparing legal documents and
assessing legal risks in projects). The agreement has a term
commencing from 12 March 2015 to 31 December 2017.
The service fee payable by the Company to T'Cement is
determined based on the total clinker production capacity,
the total cement production capacity and the total residual
heat generated by the Group in the immediately preceding
period. Details of the continuing connected transaction
is set out in greater details in the announcement to the
Shareholders of the Company dated 12 March 2015.
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Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that the transactions have

been entered into:
() in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on
normal commercial terms, on terms no less favourable than

those available to or from Independent Third Parties; and

(i) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of

the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information”
and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued an unqualified letter
containing the following findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

(i)  the transactions have received the approval of the Board;
(i) the transactions were in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group if the transactions involve provision of goods or

services by the Group;

(i) the transactions have been entered into in accordance with

the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

(iv) the transactions have not exceeded the cap disclosed in

previous announcements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the

year.

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO RULE 13.21
OF THE LISTING RULES

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of Rule 13.21
of the Listing Rules, the following disclosures are included in
respect of the Company’s loan agreements, which contain
covenants requiring performance obligations of the controlling
Shareholder of the Company.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 4 September 2014 between
the Company and certain banks relating to a five-year term
loan facility of US$350,000,000, and a loan agreement dated
14 December 2011 between the Company and certain banks
relating to a five-year term loan facility of US$550,000,000, a
termination event would arise if () T'Cement ceases to own
legally and beneficially, at least 40% and 30% of the shares in the
Company’s capital respectively or (i) the Group fails to meet the

financial covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 30 March 2015 between the
Company and a bank relating to a three-year term loan facility
of HK$100,000,000, and a loan agreement dated 22 June 2011
between the Company and a bank relating to a three-year loan
facility of US$40,000,000 and further extended for another two
years, a termination event would arise if (i) T'"Cement ceases to
own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of the shares in the
Company’s capital or (i) the Group fails to meet the financial

covenants stipulated in the loan facility.
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Report of the Directors
SREZ

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 23 December 2015 between
the Company and a bank relating to a two-year loan facility of
HK$128,000,000, a termination event would arise if (i) T'"Cement
ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 40% of the shares
in the Company’s capital or (i) the Group fails to meet the

financial covenants stipulated in the loan facility.

Pursuant to a loan agreement date 5 May 2015 between the
Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan facility of
US$30,000,000, a termination event would arise if T'Cement
ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 40% of the shares

in the Company’s capital.

Pursuant to a loan agreement dated 5 May 2015 between
the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan facility of
HK$40,000,000, a loan agreement dated 17 June 2013 and
further extended each year between the Company and a bank
relating to a one-year loan facility of US$15,000,000, and a loan
agreement dated 23 July 2012 and further extended each year
between the Company and a bank relating to a one-year loan
facility of HK$40,000,000, a termination event would arise if
T’Cement ceases to own legally and beneficially, at least 30% of

the shares in the Company’s capital.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the section of “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 43 to 56 of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.
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Report of the Directors
ESEERSE

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market

statistics.

AUDIT COMMITTEE, REMUNERATION

COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Details of the Company’s Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee are set out in the section
of “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 43 to 56 of this

annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, there is
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2015.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results and its assets and liabilities for
the past five years is set out on page 236 of this annual report.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as

auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

KOO, Cheng-Yun, Leslie
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
17 March 2016
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Independent Audltor s Report
§8 X7 1%z 2 Bif ¥ 25

Deloitte.
=)

TO THE MEMBERS OF
TCC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
TCC International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 109 to 235, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

& X1 & S b # 5 2

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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Independent Audltor s Report
§8 X1 1%z 2 Bif ¥ 25

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GoEBEEREMEERIREE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

2015 2014
—E—HF —ZE-MF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
k2 FET FET
Revenue g 6 10,911,069 13,752,863
Cost of sales 5 KA (9,236,140) (9,520,046)
Gross profit EH 1,674,929 4,232,817
Investment income K& A 7 88,092 61,961
Other income, gains and losses HEa g A - Wz R EsE 8 (281,067) 11,236
Selling and distribution expenses 5% Kk 7 $HFE X (665,693) (680,040)
General and administrative —MRITHHAEZ
expenses (926,084) (798,495)
Finance costs A& AR 9 (277,871) (294,929)
(387,694) 2,532,550
Share of profits of associates FEAG B & A R 2 m 122,050 241,586
Share of loss of a joint venture EiE—EEERACEE (1,324) -
(Loss) profit before tax BREAT (B8 & T 10 (266,968) 2,774,136
Income tax credit (expense) Frissid e (i) 12 20,806 (703,603)
(Loss) profit for the year REE (BEE)&EF (246,162) 2,070,533
Other comprehensive expense, HizmAL -
net of income tax MBRFTEHR
ltems that will not be TgEFHHLEEEHEZ
reclassified to profit or loss: HH:
Exchange differences arising on BREREINEE
translation to presentation EEZERERE
currency (1,261,455) (531,838)
Gain on revaluation of a property EE—EmERE 4,975 2,674
Income tax relating to BHEm—EmEL
revaluation of a property Frig it (610) (352)
Share of other comprehensive JEAGEEE AR 2 H M
expense of associates 2HEMAX (377) (717)
Other comprehensive expense RFEEEMEPEMAL
for the year, net of income tax MRS (1,257,467) (530,233)
Total comprehensive (expense) rEE2@ (AR W
income for the year B (1,503,629) 1,540,300
BREREEGRAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 &= %

—AFtZA=+—HILFE

2015 2014
—E—RF —H4F
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
ik FET FET
(Loss) profit for the year JEIEERFEE (BE) RN :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABER A (249,391) 2,051,156
Non-controlling interests FE 12 AR A 2 3,229 19,377
(246,162) 2,070,533
Total comprehensive (expense) EiEE2E (MAx)la
income attributable to: HaRE
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIE7F =N (1,491,596) 1,528,831
Non-controlling interests FE 12 IR 4 2 (12,033) 11,469
(1,503,629) 1,540,300
2015 2014
—E-AHF — Py
(Restated)
(&&E5))
(Loss) earnings per share Bk (EE) &R 14

— Basic

— &K

HK(6.5) centsi& il

HK49.6 centsi& Il

— Diluted

—#E

HK(6.5) centsi&ll

HK49.6 centsi& 1l

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GOBEIARE

At 31 December 2015 R-FE—AF+-HA=+—H

m

2015 2014
—E—HF —E—NF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
b &t FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% BB k&EE 15 17,102,276 16,192,592
Prepaid lease payments FENHERE 16 1,957,979 1,862,720
Intangible assets mEEE 17 3,667,443 3,104,141
Mining rights R 19 465,128 397,993
Interests in associates EE QAR 20 1,516,419 1,497,663
Interest in a joint venture —HagRalER 21 10,627 12,500
Other financial assets HibemEE 22 44,575 88,231
Deposits paid for acquisition of RUEME  BE &
property, plant and BN EMEE
equipment and other assets SR @ 204,169 245,604
Deposits paid for acquisition of RBERB AR ZF 2
subsidiaries HIEA - 519,701
Available-for-sale investments A ERE 23 37,377 41,459
Pledged bank deposits EHEPRITER 24 17,746 18,561
Deferred tax assets BEIERIBEE 25 143,294 47,150
25,167,033 24,028,315
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 26 1,082,570 1,271,002
Prepaid lease payments EREEKE 16 59,967 57,399
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE e R
other receivables H A fE W EIE 27 820,056 1,321,740
Trade receivables eI B B ER K 28 2,836,770 4,108,429
Tax recoverables A] Uk [0 7 18 38,427 12,956
Held-for-trading investments BIEXSRB KA 29 37,820 49,370
Restricted bank deposits IR HISRITIFE R 24 70,635 -
Pledged bank deposits PEFRITER 24 1,543 3,262
Time deposits JE BRfF 3k 24 381,990 164,423
Cash and bank balances Ha RIRTT4 6 24 5,330,638 4,624,719
10,660,416 11,613,300
Current liabilities REBaE
Trade payables RN E SRR 30 1,024,255 1,007,831
Other payables and Eo b e FIE
accrued liabilities JEEtBE 31 1,498,886 1,510,546
Tax payables FERHIE 23,336 313,958
Bank loans RITE R 32 6,028,147 6,497,201
8,574,624 9,329,536
Net current assets REBEEFE 2,085,792 2,083,764
Total assets less HEERRBARE
current liabilities 27,252,825 26,312,079
ARERERSRAR

2015 F3{



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

NS ENE RIS

At 31 December 2015 R-ZFE—#A#F+-HA=4+—H

2015 2014
—E-—HF —E—mF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
K1t FH& T FET
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bank loans RITE R 32 5,704,736 6,380,672
Amount due to immediate N EBIEIR AR B
holding company 33 930,000 930,000
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIEAE 25 405,289 359,755
7,040,025 7,670,427
20,212,800 18,641,652
Capital and reserves [N R ]
Share capital — ordinary shares A& AR — i 35 494,347 329,565
Share capital — non-redeemable A% 2K — 7~ 7] & [8] 7] &5 44
convertible preference shares B85 i 36 49,433 49,433
Reserves [ 19,416,772 17,981,951
Equity attributable to owners of ZEATEE AELER
the Company 19,960,552 18,360,949
Non-controlling interests FEERER 252,248 280,703
20,212,800 18,641,652

The consolidated financial statements on pages 109 to 235 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors on
17 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

KOO, CHENG-YUN, LESLIE

ER R
CHAIRMAN
FE
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 &l =%

—AFtZA=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E—HF —m4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FiET
Cash flows from operating activities KEFEHCBRERE
(Loss) profit before tax BREAT (B1E) & T (266,968) 2,774,136
Adjustments for: &P TR
Interest expenses FER X 277,871 294,929
Interest income FLE WA (86,985) (61,367)
Dividend income from listed EmRAIEER S A
equity investments (1,107) (594)
Depreciation of property, ME - BELZBTE
plant and equipment 1,223,662 1,092,157
Amortisation of prepaid lease TN ERIE
payments 62,719 57,382
Amortisation of intangible assets mEE#E 13,877 4,820
Amortisation of mining rights PR #E 4 5 41,249 38,415
Allowance for doubtful debts of EUWE SRR 2
trade receivables REREE 297 13,322
Change in fair value of derivative MESRTH—
financial instruments — warrants HEZRN ?TE"‘“@)J - (5,780)
Equity-settled share-based VAR A 8 E LA RR 19
payment expenses SHFAX - 748
Impairment losses of AHEHERE
available-for-sale investments Z R EEE 2,588 2,161
Impairment loss of inventories GFEZREESE 7,040 50,279
Impairment losses of property, Y% BB REEZ
plant and equipment A EE - 2,933
(Net reversal of) impairment BHEERER R
losses recognised in respect of H fh flE Wy R IE 2
loan and other receivables ERR(BEFEE)
MIEE R (15,415) 27,288
Loss on disposal of property, LEWME BE &
plant and equipment R BB 8,765 3,324
Share of profits of associates IR E R A2 m T (122,050) (241,586)
Share of loss of a joint venture BiE—HEEARZ
&8 1,324 -
Exchange adjustments E 5 % 218,972 (78,837)
Operating cash flows before EEESEFAI 2
movements in working capital KEBERE 1,365,839 3,973,730
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERAD (4Em) 358,981 (35,768)
Decrease in prepayments, TENFRIE e REAM
deposits and other receivables JE Ug F B R 211,424 297,410
Decrease (increase) in trade FEUE 5 BRFOR A (38 40)
receivables 1,312,188 (96,389)
Decrease (increase) in held-for-trading  ##1EX 5 BB 2K E
investments A (38 0) 11,550 (83)
Decrease in trade payables FETE 5 BR BOR (582,156) (266,749)
Decrease in other payables and H b JE T EUE K
accrued liabilities FEEta &R (501,756) (98,253)
Xﬁgulzlte;{:;mnzaé1H50Id|ngs Limited "4



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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SREREE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &% — %

—AFEFTZA=F—HIEFE

2015 2014
—E-AF —
NOTE HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt it FHERT FET
Cash generated from operations KEFTSIR 2,176,070 3,773,898
Income taxes paid BERAER (879,403) (622,826)
Withholding tax paid on FUEREEE DR, B AT
dividends/interest received B FE Tz B
from associates/subsidiaries (24,779) (4,089)
Net cash generated from KEFREFG RS T
operating activities 1,771,888 3,146,983
Cash flows from investing activities KREETHZHEME
Net cash outflows from acquisition WEEHMB AR ZIRE
of subsidiaries I FEE 34 (1,684,635) -
Interest received 2R 8 80,377 58,385
Dividends received from associates g Wﬁ%%@ AR e 325,344 155,350
Dividends received from listed B R AR ﬁ 1% 2
equity investments 1,107 594
Purchase of property, BEWE BELEHB
plant and equipment (407,234) (750,243)
Payment for prepaid lease payments S HEMNHEERE (20,524) (7,999)
Purchase of intangible assets BEREEE (8,199) (9,716)
Purchase of mining rights e B TR (106,261) (3,139)
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWME - HEREE
plant and equipment 2 FT1SFkI8 17,307 8,619
Deposits paid for acquisition of RKERB LB ZT 2
subsidiaries HEA - (521,043)
Payment for acquisition of AU RS B A R RIE
associates - (4,251)
Advance to a joint venture BE—HAEE QT (78) (137)
Advance to loan receivables B EKER - (24,193)
Repayment of advance to —RBEAREERNR
an associate - 57,845
Repayment of loan and (= ﬁfﬂﬁl% K E A,
other receivables JFE W kT 152,204 21,586
Placement of restricted FEXR %‘J RITER
bank deposits (147,604) -
Withdrawal of restricted RERX R EBIRITIF R
bank deposits 74,180 -
Placement of pledged bank deposits GFESEMERITER (85) (9,835)
Withdrawal of pledged B EFRITFER
bank deposits 137,837 8,169
Placement of time deposits GFETEHIFR (217,567) (164,423)
Net cash used in investing activities WEEEFAZ
e FEE (1,803,831) (1,184,431)
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2015 2014
—E-1F —ZT-mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Cash flows from financing activities BEFEHCREERE
Proceeds from issue of new shares BITHRR D < FTiS 5008 3,625,208 -
Transaction costs attributable to BITHRDEER SR A
issue of new shares (17,089) -
Interest paid 2R E (287,293) (297,090)
New bank loans raised FIBIRITER 6,178,867 6,444,703
Repayment of bank loans EEETER (7,988,648) (6,194,285)
Advance from immediate holding BEBEERARRK
company 1,937,500 930,000
Repayment to immediate holding MEBZERRFER
company (1,937,500) (635,500)
Repayment of long term and other BERBREAMERNRIE
payables (43,478) -
Dividends paid to owners of the ENARATHEARE
Company (492,697) (549,546)
Dividends paid to non-controlling AT IEE R AR R AR B
shareholders (16,422) (12,000)
Preferred distribution paid SN -F
to convertible preference R E DI
shareholders (24,223) (24,223)
Payment for acquisition of additional XANWEERITE R R 2
interests in subsidiaries REHME 72 308 - (8,583)
Net cash generated from (used in) MEESE (FTR) 2
financing activities IR & F 934,225 (346,524)
Net increase in cash and FAReRBE2EE
cash equivalents for the year b B 902,282 1,616,028
Cash and cash equivalents FUzHRekBReEE
at beginning of year 4,624,719 3,066,954
Effect of foreign exchange rate INEEZEB) 2 B
changes (196,363) (58,263)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZBESABSEE
at end of year, represented by BNIR & MR 1T 45 64
Cash and bank balances 5,330,638 4,624,719
TCC International Holdings Limited 116
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) consist of the import and distribution of
cement in Hong Kong and the manufacture and distribution
of cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related
products in other areas of the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”). Through its associates, the Group is also
engaged in the production and distribution of ready-mixed
concrete in Hong Kong. There were no significant changes
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the

year.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate

Information and Key Dates” section to the Annual Report.

The parent company of the Company is TCC International
Limited (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Taiwan Cement Corporation). In
the opinion of the directors of the Company (the “Directors”),
Taiwan Cement Corporation (“T'Cement”), a company
incorporated and whose shares are listed in Taiwan, is the

Company’s ultimate holding company.

The functional currency of the Company and its major
subsidiaries and associates is Renminbi (“RMB”). However,
the consolidated financial statements of the Group are
presented in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) as the Directors
consider this presentation is more useful for its current and

potential investors.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #lZ2—F—AF+=H=+—HIFFZE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time in the
current year.
Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined benefit plans:
Employee contributions
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2010 — 2012 cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to

HKFRSs 2011 - 2013 cycle

The application of these amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial performance and position for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

TCC International Holdings Limited 118
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKFRS 11

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 38

Amendments to HKAS 16
and HKAS 41

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Financial instruments’

Revenue from contracts with
customers’

Accounting for acquisitions of
interests in joint operations?

Disclosure initiative?

Clarification of acceptable
methods of depreciation and
amortisation?

Agriculture: Bearer plants?

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its

associate or joint venture®
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #lZ2—F—hF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

(Continued)

Amendments to Investment entities: Applying
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 the consolidation exception?
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2012 — 2014 cycle?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2016.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of the
new and revised HKFRSs will have material impact on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The provisions of the new CO (Cap. 622) regarding
preparation of accounts and directors’ reports and
audits became effective for the Company for the financial
year ended 31 December 2015. Further, the disclosure
requirements set out in the Listing Rules regarding annual
accounts have been amended with reference to the
new CO and to streamline with HKFRSs. Accordingly
the presentation and disclosure of information in the
consolidated financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2015 have been changed to comply
with these new requirements. Comparative information in
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2014
are presented or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements based on the new requirements. Information
previously required to be disclosed under the predecessor
CO or Listing Rules but not under the new CO or amended
Listing Rules are not disclosed in these consolidated

financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for certain properties
and financial instruments, that are measured at revalued
amounts or fair values at the end of each reporting period,
as explained in the principal accounting policies set out

below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions
that are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in
HKAS 36.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are

described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;
° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group
loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and
expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to

control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and

attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint

venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at

the acquisition date, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 “Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”,

respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or the share-
based payment arrangements of the Group entered into
to replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2

“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date; and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current
assets held for sale and discontinued operations” are

measured in accordance with that standard.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a

bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation is initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s

identifiable net assets.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Business combinations achieved in stages

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition
date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where such treatment would be appropriate if that interest

were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period, and additional assets or liabilities are recognised,
to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less any accumulated impairment losses and is presented as

an intangible asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (“CGUSs”)
(or groups of CGUs) that are expected to benefit from the

synergies of the combination.

A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when there is
indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the CGU is less than the carrying amount, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is
recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss for

goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU, the attributable amount of
goodwill is included in the determination of the amount of

profit or loss on disposal.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of

an associate is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those

policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant
activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing

control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures
used for equity accounting purposes are prepared using
uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate or joint venture.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate or joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in
the associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on

behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the

investment is acquired.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate or a
joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with
HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the

investment subsequently increases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or
a joint venture, or when the investment (or a portion thereof)
is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and the fair
value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in
accordance with HKAS 39. The difference between the
carrying amount of the associate or joint venture at the
date of the equity method was discontinued, and the
fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from
disposing of a partial interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss
on disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that associate
or joint venture on the same basis as would be required
if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by
that associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit
or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit
or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity

method is discontinued.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)
When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from
the transactions with the associate or joint venture are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint

venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for discounts,

returns and sales related taxes.
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
goods are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all

the following conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

e the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated

with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably.
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established (provided that it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income

can be measured reliably).

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold land and office buildings held for use in the
production or for administrative purposes, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued
amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations
are performed with sufficient regularity such that the
carrying amount does not differ materially from that would
be determined using fair values at the end of the reporting

period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Any revaluation increase arising on revaluation of land and
buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the land and building revaluation reserve,
except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease
of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in
which case the increase is credited to the profit or loss to
the extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease
in carrying amount arising on revaluation of such land and
buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the balance, if any, held in the land and building
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that
asset. On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
asset, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the
land and building revaluation reserve is transferred directly to

retained earnings.

Property, plant and equipment (other than leasehold land
and office building and construction in progress) are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include professional
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Such
properties are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.

135

3. TEFHHE ()

M MERERE (&)
TEAZE L RBTREE ZEMHE
EHNE M2 E KR ERIL N Tt REF
EfHEERF EEBRRZEELAMNIE
mRERZ EMEBERI ERBERT &
IR EZ TR MR 2 EfRER AR
FR-BEMZELHWARETRELE ZREE
WML EBBZAEEN A CEBERL
whEFEHHEHB2HE (MEF)  AIRE
aRER - EREEXEA -—HEMBEE
Bt MBTFELRBEANSR T ZEIEE
HRGHEEZRRARBEN T -

W BB MERE (HELH R AERT
AR R TIZERSN) O IR R H & 25T
FERERRFRERR (08)REER
RS2 51 BR o

ERPAREE HEXEEZMEIE
PR AR AL (] 2 RERR BB B 1R DI BR - B AN B
REXEARRASESHBIRNEER
BEWENMBERR ZEMERKRT
RAERER B DB REE ZWE K
FERREER - ZFEENAIERE AR
B REEMEEZ AREEELITE-

BRERERERAR
2015 F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=58

wik O

B 5 ¥R 22 BiY 5

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &% =%

3.

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

—AFtZA=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or
fair value of assets other than construction in progress less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on

a straight-line basis over the lease term.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as

a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both
elements are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the lease at the

inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial position
and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-line
basis. When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably
between the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted for as

property, plant and equipment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong Dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expense items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of
the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (exchange fluctuation reserve).
Exchange differences resulting from translation of non-
foreign operations to the Group’s presentation currency
accumulated in equity is reclassified to retained earnings

upon disposal of relevant group entity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are

substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefits scheme
including Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and the
employee’s pension schemes of the respective municipal
government in various places in the PRC where the Group
operates are recognised as an expense when employees

have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘profit before tax’ as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years
and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary differences arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group
is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will

be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of

its assets and liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is

included in the accounting for the business combination.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is recognised on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective

basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised of their fair value at the acquisition date (which is

regarded as their cost).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
(Continued)

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated

useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in the profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and

consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future

cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another standard, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under
that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

increase under that standard.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories comprises direct materials and,
where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost is determined using
the weighted average cost method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and the costs necessary to

make the sale.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition. All regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame established

by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.
Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt

instruments other than those financial assets classified as at
FVTPL.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of

selling it in the near term; or

e on initial recognition, it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term

profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a

hedging instrument.

Held for trading investments are measured at fair value, with
any gains or losses arising on remeasurement recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend earned on the financial assets. Fair

value is determined in the manner described in Note 41.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition,
loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other
receivables, loan receivables, time deposits, cash and bank
balances and pledged bank deposits) are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any

identified impairment losses.
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective

interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the

recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not

classified as (a) loans and receivables (b) held-to-maturity

investments or (c) financial assets at FVTPL.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less

any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting

period.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting
period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of

the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the

financial assets have been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or

counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the
Group’s past experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period, as well as observable changes
in national or local economic conditions that correlate with

default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial

asset’s original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such

impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade receivables and other receivables,
where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When
trade receivables and other receivables are considered
uncollectible, they are written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off are credited to profit or loss.

149

3. TEFHHE ()

ERMITA(Z)

THEE (&)

EHEERE (&)

BN HRETREEZSRMEE  flanmEl
BEEF AETEHEMTHRER2
BE1R 1A — B R BE T R E - FE U AR 3R AR
BREZEBEEITEEEASE BT
WRESH HAERNTREREZRBATEE
EHZREEMN AR ERKERRAIE
B 2 Bl 7 4B R R B B e o

MABEHEKAIEZECHEEMS ©#
REEEREEREEREERZSRE
EZRERNEHEFRRBCREET
FREZREMEZMZER-

RUKAINEZEREEMS  RIERIE
CHREERAERREUSHEERR
ZEEHREHEFRRRCREETH
RRz2BEMEZRZZRTE - GRR
BEETEEHERHRER -

BRMETREE SMEEREESER
EREBEBEMRD  EEKESERK
H b EUCKIRRR SN - ZEU BT - BREES
BERABEERRD - BEREREEE

ERaTHR - BERKEZHRALEME
YOI AR A N AT W el - Rl & B AR B
STRT A T B R R E 2 AR R AR -

BRERERERAR
2015 F3§



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB IR TR ET

For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to
an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the

impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity
are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an

equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue

costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or

cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, other
payables, bank loans and amount due to immediate holding
company are subsequently measured at amortised cost,

using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on

initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.

Non-redeemable convertible preference shares

Non-redeemable convertible preference shares in which the
Group has no contractual obligation to redeem and will be
only settled by the exchange of fixed number of the Group’s

own equity instruments is classified as equity instruments.

The balance will be transferred to share capital and share
premium once preference shares are converted. Any excess
of par value of issued ordinary shares will be transferred to

share premium.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to
make payments when due in accordance with the original or

modified terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
initially measured at their fair values and, if not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, are subsequently
measured at the higher of: (i) the amount of obligation under
the contract, as determined in accordance with HKAS 37
“Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets”; and
(i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the

revenue recognition policy.

Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the

contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in

profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid

and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

For grants of share options that are conditional upon
satisfying specified vesting conditions, the fair value of
services received is determined by reference to the fair value
of share options granted at the grant date and is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share option
reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share

option reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the Directors are required to make
estimates based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ
from these estimates. The estimates are reviewed on an
on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

153

3.

—AF+ - A=1+—HIFFE
FESITEE (&)

LRMBXNREZRS
RTFESZIERE
RERBTEHEBRE AR OBREM
FOMERBZAFESEERENKE
BHZAFEEE BEREBHANER
EXH XARRIEMRA (BRERE) -

AEERESERE BARETEEBHRRER
BEBRERE ZGE- BEHMAEET
ZEMFAZFE (MA)NBETER M
At Rt X RREERTEEH W HBK
RFEFEELHERE-

PRI EIT R B R IR A R
ZHBEREBERERMEE EBRERR
BB RREZWSNER R BIDRET
- A E R B R RER C BESE
BERERFN -

THREMTTZEEZRR

RERAREEHNMESZ T BERRK &
ERAENBELRLER ARz EMBE
RIFL AR -ERBEREZ SRS
EER- 1&%75%%%%%%&3 o ¥ &5t

Bt 2 BT REZMBAARE GRER]
TIMERT AR RN 2 I HERR - kWA

EIHAHBERRRARMABLZE AR
CHENRVEEP IS ILE e

BRERERERAR
2015 F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB IR TR ET

For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continuead)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets within the next financial year.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired required the
Group to assess the recoverable amount of the CGU. It is
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the value in
use. It is determined by an estimation of the value in use of
the CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated. The value
in use calculation required the Group to estimate future
cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present values. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected or when
there is a revision to the estimated future cash flows due to
changes in facts and circumstances, a material impairment
loss may arise. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying
amount of goodwill is approximately HK$3,555,995,000
(2014: HK$3,066,723,000). No impairment loss has been
recognised. Details of the value in use calculation are

disclosed in Note 18.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continuead)

Impairment of trade receivables, loan and other
receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss,
the Group takes into consideration the estimation of
future cash flows from the trade receivables, loan and
other receivables. The amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of (i) trade
receivables is HK$2,836,770,000 (2014: HK$4,108,429,000)
(net of accumulated allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$19,976,000 (2014: HK$20,684,000)); (i) loan and other
receivables is HK$255,360,000 (2014: HK$278,324,000)
(net of accumulated impairment of HK$100,825,000 (2014:
HK$129,835,000)).

Impairment of inventories

The Group makes impairment loss of inventories based on
an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Impairment losses are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable
value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification
of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement
and estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the
inventories. In cases where the net realisable value of
inventories assessed are less than expected, a recognition
of impairment loss of inventories may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such recognition takes place. At 31 December 2015, the
carrying amount of inventories is HK$1,082,570,000 (2014:
HK$1,271,002,000) (net of accumulated impairment of
HK$57,941,000 (2014: HK$53,748,000)).
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTIES (continuead)

Deferred tax assets

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than or more
than expected, a reversal or a recognition of deferred tax
assets would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which such a reversal or recognition takes place. As at 31
December 2015, the carrying amount of deferred tax assets
is HK$143,294,000 (2014: HK$47,150,000).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and
managed separately according to the nature of their
operations and the products and services they provide. Each
of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those
of the other operating segments. Summary details of the

reportable segments are as follows:

()  the import, distribution and handling of cement
segment which is the import, distribution and handling

of cement in Hong Kong;

(i) the manufacture and distribution of cement, clinker,
concrete and other cement related products segment
which is the manufacture and distribution of cement,
clinker, concrete and other cement related products in
the PRC; and

(iii) the investment holding segment which invests in listed

and unlisted equity securities.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

5.

The following table presents revenue and results by

reportable segments.

Manufacture and
distribution of cement,

TEER (&)
PEUR T &

HIFFE

TREJNEZAIEZROoMBE D 2 WE R E

==
4o

Import, clinker, concrete and
distribution and other cement related
handling of cement products Investment holding Elimination Consolidated
0 28R BERAHKE BA-
BEKE RRIREMKERBER REER it | g8
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“g-1f -F-MmF Z-%-1F _—F-MmF Z-B-1F _—F-MF Z-B-1F _—F-MF ZB-1fF _T-QIF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TER T TER FiEn TER TEL TER TAL TER TEL
Segment revenue AHhE
Sales to external customers HETHEBEP 442,11 397,174 10,468,808 13,355,689 - - - - 10,911,069 13,752,863
Inter-segment sales SHEEE - - 17,622 - - - (17,622) - - -
442171 397,174 10,486,520 13,355,689 - - (17,622) - 10,911,069 13,752,863
Segment proft (loss) AHEH (58) 78,341 64,201 120661 2,632,574 (21,092) (17,739) = - 186,010 2,679,037
Unallocated central administration costs &7 EFP Rfﬁi KA (98,969) (17,856)
Unallocated other income, FAREMBA Wz REE
gains and losses (197,764) 166,298
(109,823) 2,827,479
Finance costs BERK (2r787) (294,929
Share of profits of associates EEBEARZET 122,050 241,586
Share of loss of a joint venture ElE-HAERRAZEE (1,324) -
(Loss) profit before tax B (BE)ERH (266,968) 2,774,136

The accounting policies of the operating segments are

the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in

Note 3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned

by (loss from) each segment without allocation of central

administration costs

(including Directors’ salaries),

certain

other income, gains and losses, finance costs, share of

profits of associates and share of loss of a joint venture. This

is the measure reported to the executive Directors, being the

chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource

allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.
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5.

—AFtZA=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuead)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
The Group has no customers that contributed over 10% of

the total revenue of the Group for both years.

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
segments is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the

executive Directors for review.

Geographical information
The Group operates in three principal geographical areas

— Taiwan, Hong Kong and the PRC. The following table

DEER (#)

BB EREE (F)
MEFEREELHEASAE BB E R

10% A E2 &P -

AEFBVBEHREEDHEADZEER
BEZONHWE DEAYEFHERT
WMITESRAEER-

& & B

AEER=ZEXZE -2 FBELEH

Bige - TRARTFPMEI T ZAE

provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue by location W (T m kRS REM)
of customers, irrespective of the origin of the goods and
services:
Taiwan Hong Kong The PRC Elimination Consolidated
Al B E ik &&
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Z2-1f -T-@m% Z%-1f -F-MF Z-B-1f _T-@mF <ZB-Rf _EF-MF ZB-1f C_T-QmF
HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000
TER TEL TER FAL Tz TEL TEx TER Tz TEL
Segment revenue AilE
Sales to external customers HETHPEP 7,331 1,642 442,171 397,174 10,461,567 18,354,047 - - 10,911,069 13,752,863
Inter-segment sales AHEEE - - 17,622 - - - (17,622) - = -
7,331 1640 450793 397174 10461567 13,354,047 (17,622 - 10,911,080 13,752,863
Analysis of the Group’s non-current assets by geographical REEREEMEMREI D ZERBEE
location of the assets are detailed below: DT
Hong Kong The PRC Consolidated
BB H =E
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
“E2-Rf C—T-QmF ZB-Rf _"T-mE ZB-RFfF _—T-OF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TET TEL TET FEL TET TET
Non-current assets ERBEE 64,796 62,386 23,332,199 22,260,365 23,396,995 22,322,751

note: Non-current assets excluded interests in associates, interest
in a joint venture, other financial assets, available-for-sale

investments, pledged bank deposits and deferred tax assets.
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

Import,
distribution and

5. EER (&)
Hi 5 2hE R

Manufacture and
distribution of cement,
clinker, concrete and
other cement related

handling of cement products Investment holding Consolidated
BO-28R HERAHAR BB
BEKE ERIREMAREBER REER Fxs)
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
~%-1f C-T-MmF <-%-1f -T-NmF <-%B-1f _-T-NF C-%-If _TQmF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TiEr TEn T TEn TET TEn TET
Amounts included in the measure of st ED BEEH
segment results: et Az &8 :
Allowance for doubtful debts of EUESETZ
trade receivables REEEE - - 297 13,322 - - 297 13,322
Change in far value of held-for- BERSRBRIRE
trading investments ZhTERY - - - - 11,550 (83) 11,550 83)
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 1,970 1,974 1,338,301 1,189,655 1,236 1,145 1,341,507 1,192,774
Dividends income from listed equity ~ EHRAZEREMA
investments - - - - (1,107) (594) (1,107) (594)
Impairment losses of available-for- MEHEREL
sale investments REER - - - - 2,588 2,161 2,588 2,161
Impairment losses of inventories FHRZAERE - - 7,040 50,279 - - 7,040 50,279
Impairment losses of property, 0k BEREEL
plant and equipment REEE - - - 2,933 - - - 2,933
(Net reversal of) impairment losses BERUETR
recognised in respect of loan and Hip ez BRR
other receivables (BEFE)RESE - - (15,415) 27,288 - - (15,415) 27,288
Loss on disposal of property, LENE.
plant and equipment BEREE EE 2 - 8,763 3,324 - - 8,765 3,324
Amounts regularly provided to the THRUFEELEREE
chief operating decision maker BARHEAPEER
but not included in the measure of FAZRE:
segment results:
Bank interest income RAHEMA (3,674) (35000 (76189)  (54,580) 7122) (482 (86985  (58,562)
Change in fair value of derlvative ITESRIA-THEEL
financial instruments - warrants ATEE - - - - - (5,780) - (5,780)
Finance costs BEMK 1 2 146,989 154,868 130,881 140,059 277,871 294,929
Share of profits of associates e AR R - - - - (122,050) (241,586) (122,050) (241,586)
Share of loss of a joint venture EE-HagRazEE - - - - 1,324 - 1,324 -
Income tax expense (credit) FERTY (£4) 12,561 11,776 (45,628) 676221 12,261 15,606 (20806) 703,603
BRERERERAR
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6. REVENUE

Revenue represents invoiced amount of sales of cement,

clinker, concrete and other cement related products, net of

discounts, returns and sales related taxes.

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

W &

Watg MR- EERAREEREKZ
KO B R B K E A KO AE B E A 8
ERRE-

AEBHREZ MM

2015 2014
—E-HF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH& T FHET
Sales of cement and clinker & KR R K 10,629,842 13,423,796
Sales of concrete and HERRTN
other cement related products E KRB E & 281,227 329,067
10,911,069 13,752,863
7. INVESTMENT INCOME 7. BEWA
2015 2014
—E—HF —E—-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FET
Dividends income from listed ETRAEERBWA
equity investments 1,107 594
Interest income from an associate RE—MEEEERAZ
FEMA - 2,805
Bank interest income RITHF B WA 86,985 58,562
88,092 61,961
TCC International Holdings Limited 160

Annual Report 2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB ERERUEE

7.

INVESTMENT INCOME (Continuea)

Investment income earned from financial assets, analysed by

category of assets, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

7. BREWA (#)

DT

ERMEEMBNZRERAREERMZ

2015 2014

—F-1% —T-lF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT FHET

Held-for-trading investments BIEXSRB2RE 1,107 594
Loans and receivables B R EWRIE

(including cash and bank deposits) (BiERe MIBITFER) 86,985 61,367

88,092 61,961

BREREEERAT
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8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. Ht A KW=k EE
2015 2014
—B-IF —ZE-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Change in fair value of derivative MESR T H—
financial instruments — warrants RREFE AT EED - 5,780
Change in fair value of BIEXSRB KA
held-for-trading investments Z AT EED (11,550) 83
Government grants (note) AT R (AT aE) 57,046 56,668
Handling charges FEER 2,702 2,206
Management fee income ERBUWA 4,039 1,884
Net exchange loss 5 FEE (381,322) (31,396)
Rental income MaBA 271 252
Allowance for doubtful debts of EWE 5 Rz REREHE
trade receivables (297) (13,322)
Impairment losses of available-for-sale A ERE 2 REEE
investments (Note 23) (H:7723) (2,588) (2,161)
Impairment losses of property, M BEREREZ
plant and equipment BB EE - (2,933)
Net reversal of (impairment losses) EEERERREM
recognised in respect of loan and other FEW RIE 2 B MR
receivables (Note 27) BEEFEE ORERE)
(Hiit27) 15,415 (27,288)
Others HAt 35,217 21,463
(281,067) 11,236
note: The amount represents the incentive subsidies provided by the Wit ZmefmEPE A EERARERREHE

R EUARBE TERLR 2R
B ol BRBLEE P S BRI - RERER L
B E T A RERR

PRC local authorities to the Group to encourage investments
in certain specific locations. There is no specific conditions
attached to the grants, the Group recognised the grants upon

receipts.
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FINANCE COSTS 9. RE KA
2015 2014
i —ET—mEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Interest on: AT ZHE -
Bank loans |ITERK 254,213 285,983
Loan from immediate holding company JENEBIER AR ZER 25,740 11,434
Total borrowing costs BIEE A 279,953 297,417
Less: Amounts capitalised in construction & : NERETI2H
in progress BER{LE&E (2,082) (2,488)
277,871 094,929
Borrowing costs capitalised arose on specific borrowings to RREFEERNM 2 BEXNAERAE BT
finance the construction in progress for both years. BEIRREHREC R TEE-
163 é'\ﬁ@p%g;@zﬁméf_é
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10. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 10. BRBLAT (fB548) % A

2015 2014
—E—HF —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
(Loss) profit before tax has been arrived BRBLRT (B8 B FE kR
at after charging the following: T3 &8 -
Director’s remuneration (Note 11) BEEME (HiF11) 3,610 4,524
Other staff cost =N
Salaries and other benefits ok HEMER 674,266 631,785
Other pension costs and mandatory E A iR AR AR &
provident fund contributions BIEEHNK 82,144 71,898
Equity-settled share-based payment AR A 88 & DARR 19
expenses TRRE - 340
Total staff costs #8 T 760,020 708,547
Depreciation of property, M BELREETE
plant and equipment (note) (Hiat) 1,223,662 1,092,157
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T ERIB 62,719 57,382
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEEHH
(included in cost of sales and (BEFABEERAERR
general and administrative expenses) —RRITHEX) 13,877 4,820
Amortisation of mining rights PR R 5
(included in cost of sales) (BEFAHEKAK) 41,249 38,415
Auditor’s remuneration % S AN Bl & 7,292 6,978
Impairment losses of inventories FEZRESE
(included in cost of sales) (BEFASEENA) 7,040 50,279
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - -HEX
plant and equipment R BB 8,765 3,324
Operating lease payments in respect of MEMxzEHEERS
rented premises 13,417 12,217

The Group has no forfeited contributions from the retirement

benefit scheme for both years.

note: Depreciation charge of approximately HK$1,203,000
(2014: HK$1,252,000) relating to plant and machinery

used in buildings under construction was capitalised under

construction in progress.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB ERERUEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to

the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows:

MNEEZEREEMNS

EEME

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

RARE A E AR R R AR RGN EE - &

FREZZMH

W

Executive Directors (nofe g/ Non-executive Directors (ot 4 Independent non-executive Directors (70t ¢/
ATES (Wila) FAGES (ib) BUFATES (fide)
KOO, wy CHANG, CHANG, WANG, LIAO, CHIH SHIEH
Cheng-Yun, Yih SHAN An-Ping,  Kang-Lung, Lishin, Poon Huai, ~ Ching Kang,  Jen-Chung,
Leslie Chin Sub-total Weijian Nelson Jason Elizabeth Sub-total Donald Kenneth Roger Sub-total Total
A REN At BEp 2T B F ] ERZN it BaE HEE 8L gt st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TER  TAR TR YA THR YRR TER  TER  TER  TER  TER  TAR AR
2015 —%-1%
Fees e 220 - 220 220 220 220 220 880 220 220 220 660 1,760
Other emolument
Salaries and allowances - 1,360 1,360 - - - - - - - - - 1,360
Performance related
incentive bonus 310 180 490 - - - - - - - - - 490
Total emoluments faMe 530 1,540 2,070 220 220 220 220 880 220 220 220 660 3,610
2014
Fees 220 - 220 220 220 220 220 880 220 220 20 660 1760
Other emolument
Salaries and allowances - 1,360 1,360 - - - - - - - - - 1,360
Performance related
incentive bonus 620 376 9% - - - - - - - - - 9%
Equity-settled share-based £
payment expenses ER 342 66 408 - - - - - - - - - 408
Total emoluments faEe 1,182 1,802 2,984 220 220 220 220 880 220 220 20 660 4,524
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

notes:

(@)

The executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group. Except for the
salaries and allowances of Mr. Wu Yih Chin, emolument of
other Directors and performance related incentive bonus of Mr.

Wu Yih Chin were paid by the Company.

The non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as Directors of the Company.

The independent non-executive Directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as Directors of the

Company.

The performance related incentive bonus is determined with

reference to the performance of the Group’s operation.

The emoluments of Directors are determined by the

remuneration committee having regard to the performance

of individuals and market trends.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 11.

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees’ emoluments

During the year, the five highest paid individuals included
two (2014: two) Directors, details of whose emoluments
are set out above. The emoluments of the remaining three

(2014: three) highest paid individuals are as follows:

BEEREEME &)

BEME

RAFEERN AT FMALTEERA
(ZZE—mF - WMB)EF EHFMFBE
HINEX -EBp=F (=T —NF: =
B)ERRFMALTZHMEIIWT

2015 2014

—E—EHF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FER FHET

Salaries and other benefits e M EMERL 1,541 2,098

Retirement benefits scheme contributions & K& Fl 5+ & 2 5% 69 100

Performance related incentive bonus B 3% IR B R 2 SR EN AT AT 1,108 1,307
Equity-settled share-based AR AR E AR T

payment expenses - 18

2,718 3,523

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

HEF2NFTIEE:

Number of employee

BEAH
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—MOF
Up to HK$1,000,000 R % 1,000,000 7T 2 -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T
—1,500,000/% 7T 1 3

During the year, no emolument was paid by the Group
to the Directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2014: nil). None of the
Directors has waived or agreed to waive any emolument
during the year (2014: nil).
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

12.INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE 12. 8% (E&) X H
2015 2014
—E—FHEF —E—OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHETT
Current tax: & HATIE

Hong Kong BB 13,704 11,931
PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EMEH 101,672 665,874
Withholding tax TR 736 11
116,112 677,816

(Over)underprovision in prior years: BAEFEREE (BE)TR:
Hong Kong BB (1,060) (58)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax REEMRSE (87,272) 28,545
(38,332) 28,487
Deferred tax (Note 25) RIEFR IR (B 2725) (98,586) (2,700)
(20,806) 703,603

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the

estimated assessable profits for both years. Taxation arising

in the PRC is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant

regions in the PRC.

Under the Law of PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT

Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008

onwards.

Certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are entitled to the

preferential tax treatment for Western Development Policy

(the “WDP Policy”). The applicable reduced preferential

Enterprise Income Tax rate under the WDP Policy is 15% for

an effective period up to 2020.
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12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSE (continuead)

The tax (credit) charge for the year can be reconciled to the

(loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of

For the year ended 31 December 2015 &% %

profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: D

—AFFTZA=+—HIFE

12.FF 88 (ER) X H (@)
FERZFHE (Ee) AL Egs
2HEWERABREA (E8) &5z ¥k

Bz M EAM

2015 2014
—E-RHF —mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET
(Loss) profit before tax Brip Al (B1E) & (266,968) 2,774,136
Tax at PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate of  LAFRE i%ﬁﬁ S E25%
25% (2014: 25%) (note) — DU :25% )
ETECBIE (M) (66,742) 693,534
Tax effect of share of profits of associates & {h B & X &)@ 5| 2
BiEwE (80,513) (60,397)
Tax effect of share of loss of ElE—HEaE R rBEZ
a joint venture MG 331 -
Tax effect of expenses not AR E 2 RB &
deductible for tax purpose 66,008 67,276
Tax effect of income not taxable BERBMMA 2 BT &
for tax purpose (24,606) (14,717)
(Over)underprovision in prior years BEFERE (BE)TRE (38,332) 28,487
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERZTHIFBIE
MBTE 68,641 14,118
Utilisation of tax losses previously not R LA ARER 2B IBEE
recognised (2,602) (12,331)
Income tax at concessionary rate HEEMETAEZMEH 1,896 (22,142)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries R E M AEERE L L 2
operating in other jurisdictions MBARTRME ZZE (7,003) (6,082)
Withholding tax on undistributed earnings k% Bt & Fl 2 T8 17 12,189 19,353
Others HAty (73) (3,496)
Income tax (credit) expense for the year REFEH (ER)ZH (20,806) 703,603

note: The Group’s major operating subsidiaries are located in the

PRC and accordingly, income tax rate of 25% is adopted.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

13. DIVIDENDS 13. R E
2015 2014
—E-HfF —F-mF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FAET
Dividends for ordinary shareholders RARFEERN KA A
and preference shareholders of the DR DIR N5 & mp%
Company recognised the following as AR e B IR B AL B,
distribution during the year:
2015 Interim — Nil (2014: 2014 T —hFHH
interim — HK3.0 cents) per share — gk
—E-mE: —T-F
I H— 3.0/ (L) - 113,699
2014 Final — HK13.0 cents (2014: —T-MFERH
2013 final - HK11.5 cents) per share —Fi%13.078 1L
(ZF2—mF: —F—=
REA—11.5784L) 492,697 435,847
492,697 549,546

The 2015 preferred distribution to convertible preference
shareholders totalling approximately HK$24,223,000 (2014
HK$24,151,000) was also recognised as distribution during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2015 of
HK2.0 cents (2014: HK13.0 cents) per ordinary share and
preference share, totalling approximately HK$108,756,000
(2014: HK$492,697,000) has been proposed by the
Directors to be payable to ordinary shareholders and
preference shareholders and is subject to approval by the
ordinary shareholders in the forthcoming annual general

meeting.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
OB ERERUEE

14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

14.

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss) earnings per

share attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company

is based on the following data:

(Loss) earnings for the purposes of basic and diluted

BR(ER)EF

ARBEBRBEREGESRERREE
(B1R) B TIRE AT BURF & -

RUGHESREAREE (FR) AN

(loss) earnings per share (E58)&BR
2015 2014
—E—HEF —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
(Restated)
(geE5)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to PN ¥ N )
owners of the Company KEE (FEE) T (249,391) 2,051,156
Less: Preferred distribution in respect of & : B R Al S E Ik 2
convertible preference shares BEDIK (24,223) (24,151)
Undistributed earnings Al 82 {8 S AR AR R
attributed to convertible JE(R 2 R IR
preference shareholders - (267,687)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to PiNNETE- S )
ordinary shareholders of the Company AKEE (EE) A (273,614) 1,759,318
BRERERERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE (continuea) 14. 81K (B8 B (2
Number of shares vl 4=
2015 2014
—E-IF —T-lmEF
000 000
TR F AR
(Restated)
(r&751)
Weighted average number of ordinary FTEORER RS
shares in issue for the purposes of basic (BB BFIAZ
and diluted (loss) earnings per share BT BRINE TR 4,192,814 3,545,570
The computation of diluted (loss) earnings per share does FrESREE (BE) BRI ERE LR
not assume the conversion of the outstanding convertible M ARITEE 2 AT B R R (AR EITHE
preference shares because their exercise would result in BT -—hEEREBERIH TN
a decrease in loss per share for 2015 or an increase in FERBFILM) -
earnings per share for 2014.
The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue EHAFE R BB 2 B BT E RN
during the year and the comparative were adjusted to reflect BIFHSERRABRURBRER S —HF
the effect of bonus element of the rights issue which was t AT HEREE AR E-

completed in July 2015.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

15. ¥ %

Cement Leasehold Furniture,
plant land and fixtures
and office Plant and and office Motor Construction
facilities building ~ machinery  equipment vehicles Lighters in progress Total
KER HELH BER &R RER
k&fHE RELZET BE  BOERBE RE i ERIR ay
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TET TR TR TR TR TR
COST OR VALUATION RAREE
At 1 January 2014 RZE-NE-A-H 7,713,351 48,000 13,315,904 106,693 270,495 7,731 544,768 22,006,942
Additions HE 19,910 - 86,421 3,024 4,424 - 530,739 644,518
Disposals i (138) - (22,201) (4209) (1,561) - (5,121) (33,250)
Transfers e 278,701 - 218,185 9,741 10,457 - (517,084) -
Surplus on revaluation EfEH - 1,800 - - - - - 1,800
Exchange adjustments EXRE (182,0893) - (323,533) (3,073) (6,383) - (18207)  (528,249)
At 31 December 2014 R-F-MF+=A=+-8 7820771 49800 13274776 112156 277432 7731 540,005 22,001,761
Additions RE 445 - 41,993 4,592 1,204 - 325,483 378,717
Avising on acquisition of subsidiaries WM BLAABEE
(Note 54) (Hia34) 1,384,929 - 1,138,621 30,053 18,306 - 80597 2,652,706
Disposals e (4.473) - (27,193) (5,691) (4,365) - (163) (41,885)
Transfers L8 164,993 - 258,198 7,260 4,235 - (434,686) -
Surplus on revaluation EHRH - 4,000 - - - - - 4,000
Exchange adjustments EX % (455,453) - (720,640) 8,113) (14,277) - (27,318)  (1,225,796)
At 31 December 2015 R-Z-EF+-B=1+-H 8,920,212 53,800 13,965,755 140,457 282,535 7,731 484,013 23,854,503
Comprising: BiE:
At cost RAE 8,920,212 - 13,965,755 140,457 282,635 7,731 484,013 23,800,703
At valuation 2015 RZZ-REHE - 53,800 - - - - - 53,800
8,920,212 53,800 13,965,755 140,457 282,635 7,731 484,013 23,854,508
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RHFERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-EE-A-AH 1,039,370 - 3,720,989 58,322 129,665 7,663 5,206 4,961,205
Charge for the year REEHH 238,488 874 804,506 11,940 37511 - - 1,093,409
Elimination on revaluation Ea - (874) - - - - = (874)
Impairment loss recognised in the year ~ AEEEBRRESE - - 2,933 - - - - 2,933
Elimination on disposals HERE (14) - (11,295) (3743) (1,134) - (5,121) (21,307)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (28,690) - (102,171) (1,962) (3,289) - (85) (136,197)
At 31 December 2014 REF-EEHZA=+-B  1,49.154 - 4415082 64,557 162,753 7,653 - 5899,169
Charge for the year TEEHHE 281,254 975 873,777 24,845 44,014 - - 1,224,865
Elimination on revaluation B - (975) - - - - - (975)
Elimination on disposals HERH (646) - (6,461) (5,084) (3,672) - - (15,819)
Exchange adjustments ERAE (77,612) - (263,313) (4,890) (9,204) - - (355,019)
At 31 December 2015 RZE-EF+-A=+-H 1,452,150 - 5,019,055 79,478 193,891 7,653 - 6,752,227
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2015 RZB-EE+ZA=1-8 7,468,062 53,800 8,946,700 60,979 88,644 78 484,013 17,102,276
At 31 December 2014 RZE-EE+ZA=1+-H 6,580,617 49,800 8,859,724 47,599 114,679 78 540,095 16,192,592
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9% MERRE &)

(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or fair value
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress), less their estimated residual
values, if any, using the straight-line method over their

estimated useful lives as follows:

Cement plant and facilities 30 years

Leasehold land and Over the unexpired term
office building of lease

Plant and machinery 15 years

Furniture, fixtures and

office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5-10 years
Lighters 10 years

The leasehold land and office building is situated in
Hong Kong and was revalued on 31 December 2015
at HK$53,800,000 (2014: HK$49,800,000) by Grant
Sherman Appraisal Limited, an independent firm of qualified
professional valuers, at open market value on existing use
basis. The resulting surplus arising from the revaluation at
31 December 2015 of HK$4,975,000 (2014: HK$2,674,000)
was dealt with in the land and building revaluation reserve.
Had there not been any revaluation of this property, its
carrying amount at cost less accumulated depreciation
at 31 December 2015 would be HK$1,297,000 (2014:
HK$1,334,000).

The fair value of the leasehold land and office building was
determined on the direct comparison approach. There had
been no change from the valuation technique used in prior
year. The fair value is assessed by reference to the recent
transactions of similar properties in the neighbourhood with
no significant adjustments to the observable inputs (i.e.
recent transaction price) and the fair value measurement
is categorised in Level 3. In estimating the fair value of the
properties, their current use equates to the highest and best
use. There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3

during the year.

TCC International Holdings Limited 174
Annual Report 2015

TEREESYME BELERE (EEIRER
SM)IHB VTR A AER - EHIRGEIEE
(E) & EREAEEAMBEER A
KR FE FARANTER AT BFEROT

KT TR K% 5% A 304
HELH K&

MAREF R K E W F
i 55 K% 1 28 15%F
TR KER

WMAERME 5

E 5E104
= 104F
BYABREEGMEMITRBTGHEARD
ARZT—REF+A=+T—HHAE
BURBEZHELHERAEET IR
HERARE 2 AR™TEER53,800,000
e (ZZ — M4 : 49,800,000/ L) ° A

—£¢+—ﬂ:+—EZEﬁE%%
4,975,000/ 7T ( ZZ— U4 : 2,674,000/%
mwamim&@$EM%%mﬁﬁwﬁ
WESEMEEDEMER N T —
FH+ZA=+—BzZRAKREER R
PrEE%#551,297,0008 7T (—Z T — P04
1,334,000/ 7T) °

MELHMERRERBT ZAFENEER
mﬁiﬁmwﬂt—iﬁ%%ZEﬁ&W

B8N FEIDZERIEIANEU
%%ZL%X%?M#%HIEQﬂﬁﬁ
WA (AR ZE)FLERNRHE
MAFEFEDERE =F -REFZE
%%ZQ?E%’%%ZEE%@%E%
REERZ NAFERLESE A LB H
%:?&°



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fom © 1 75 ¥k R By 5T

15.

16.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The significant unobservable input is price per square
feet. By using direct comparison approach and taking into
account of location and other individual factors such as size,
building facilities, level, age of building, etc., the price per
square feet (gross floor area) of the adopted comparables
is ranging from HK$17,000/sq.ft to HK$35,000/sq.ft (2014:
ranging from HK$18,000/sq.ft to HK$31,000/sq.ft).

The management reviews the valuations performed by the
independent valuers for financial reporting purposes and
reports to the audit committee the valuation process and
result of the valuation at least every six months, in line
with the Group’s interim and annual reporting dates. The
management will verify all major inputs to the independent
valuation report, assess the property valuation movements
when compared to the prior year valuation report and hold

discussions with the independent valuers.

15. % -BWERRKRE 2)

BEATABEHASBERETHRER -
FRAEELEBRETRAE RH M EEEH
X NEE EFRE EERERS B
R ELBRRAI2ETFAR (RE@EE)
EBENTEFHRI7,0008 TEFFHR
35,0008 T (ZE—MEFE :NFHEAFR
18,000/ 7T £ & F 77 )R31,0004 7T ) °

EREERNB L EMMYERRMET
ZEE XELEAREA (FEAKEZH
HRFERERH) AERZEG®RER
BEERRGEEER EEE/ZEBILA
BREZHMBEERGAER FHEEEF
ZHEREHL2DEREEESH NEFT
BB TT AT 3 ©

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 16. A HERE
2015 2014
—E—HF —E-MF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAT
Leasehold land in the PRC R HEE T 2,017,946 1,920,119

Analysed for reporting purposes as: DITEE2MAE -

Non-current portion ERE I 1,957,979 1,862,720
Current portion mENER R 59,967 57,399
2,017,946 1,920,119
AREBREEERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

17.INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. B EE

Customer Computer
Goodwill base software Total
[k EFEHEWY B ag
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL FHEL FHEL
COST A
At 1 January 2014 R-ZZE—NF—A—H 7,027,498 83,886 56,058 7,167,442
Additions NE - - 9,716 9,716
Written off 158 - - (236) (236)
Exchange adjustments AR (187,359) - (1,355) (188,714)
At 31 December 2014 W-ZZ-mE+=-F=+—H 6,840,139 83,886 64,183 6,988,208
Arising on acquisition of IWEEN B A RIBEE
subsidiaries (Note 34) (Hi34) 681,432 84,758 628 766,818
Additions NE - - 8,199 8,199
Exchange adjustments BEE 54, 38 B (407,425) (4,068) (3,417 (414,910)
At 31 December 2015 R-ZEBE-EF+ZA=+—-H 7,114,146 164,576 69,593 7,348,315
ACCUMULATED Rt EERRE
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014 R-ZT—NF—A—H 3,881,049 83,886 22,719 3,987,654
Charge for the year REFHH - - 4,820 4,820
Elimination on written off 188 R 88 - - (236) (236)
Exchange adjustments PE 5 A2 (107,633) - (538) (108,171)
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—WFE+=A=+—H 3,773,416 83,886 26,765 3,884,067
Charge for the year REFHH - 8,212 5,665 13,877
Exchange adjustments BEE 3¢, 38 B (215,265) (312) (1,495) (217,072
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-HEF+=-H=+—-H 3,558,151 91,786 30,935 3,680,872
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2015 R-Z-"E%+=-H=+—-H 3,555,995 72,790 38,658 3,667,443
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—NFE+=-A=+—H 3,066,723 - 37,418 3,104,141
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17.

18.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. Particulars
regarding its impairment testing are disclosed in Note 18. All
other intangible assets are amortised, using the straight-line

method, over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Customer base 2-6 years

Computer software 5 years

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill arising from
business combinations has been allocated to the following
CGUs or groups of CGUs:

17.

18.

BELEE (&)

BN EEEITRE RS - 5 B E R E R
SHBEOAMEISRE AR ERE
EEGRIRE TR T REREN:

BPEMR 2-6%F
B E 5%
| & E R E R

SRBEAAME EBAMHMELEZEE
EESRENRGELEUIRNESESE
BAAER

2015 2014
—2-EHF —T-lmEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHET
Upper Value Investments Limited Upper Value Investments
Limited 1,718,111 1,813,561
TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd. ak (EA)KEERAR 758,914 801,078
Kong On Cement Holdings Limited BEKEIERERAF] 17,678 18,603
Mining Industrial Companies (note a) BETIRERA (Kita) 254,200 267,126
Scitus Luzhou Companies (note b) EMNBERTR (Mib) 153,569 161,312
Anshun Xin Tai Construction Materials ZIEEZREMERERAA
Company Limited* (“Anshun Xin Tai”) (IZEEE]) 4,800 5,043
TCC Huaying (as defined in Note 34) EL A (EEWMFE34) 62,050 -
TCC Huaihua (as defined in Note 34) & (E1E)
(&2 T sE34) 586,673 -
3,555,995 3,066,723
* For identification purpose only * (EREF
BREREEERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 &% =%

—AFtZA=+—HIFE

18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE
ASSETS (continuea)

notes:

(@)

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group acquired
the entire equity interest of TCC Jiangsu Mining Industrial
Company Limited, TCC Guigang Mining Industrial Company
Limited and TCC Yingde Mining Industrial Company Limited
which locate in Jiangsu, Guigang and Yingde respectively
(collectively referred to as “Mining Industrial Companies”).
The goodwill arising from acquisition of Mining Industrial
Companies is allocated to each of other three subsidiaries
engaged in the manufacture and distribution of cement,

clinker, concrete and other cement related products.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group
completed the acquisition of the entire equity interest of
Scitus Naxi Cement Co., Ltd., Scitus Luzhou Cement Co.,
Ltd., Scitus Hejiang Cement Co., Ltd. and Scitus Luzhou
Concrete Co., Ltd. (collectively referred to as “Scitus Luzhou

Companies”).

All of these CGUs or groups of CGUs are operating under

the segment

“Manufacturing and distribution of cement,

clinker, concrete and other cement related products”. During

the year ended 31 December 2015, management of the

Group determines that there is no impairment of any of its

CGUs or groups of CGUs containing goodwill.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

18. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON INTANGIBLE

ASSETS (continuea)
The basis of the recoverable amount of the above CGUs or
groups of CGUs and its major underlying assumptions are

summarised below:

The recoverable amount of these CGUs or groups of CGUs
have been determined based on a value in use calculation.
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a
5-year period with growth rate of 2% (2014: 2%) per annum
and a discount rate of 8.21% (2014: 8.16%) per annum.
The cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated
using zero growth rate. The key assumption for the value in
use calculation is the budgeted selling price of the products,
which is determined based on the unit’s performance in past
few years and management’s expectations for the market

development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of the manufacture and distribution of
cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related products
segment to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of

that segment.
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ZERSELBNSBSEEEMMARZ
A EIgEREERAEBESE S EE
ot E A A ERARIEEREMILER

EHMERNF I UBKEEBEINRERES
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HE -RIEHENRESRERATHERE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

19. MINING RIGHTS 19. IR IERE
HK$’000
THET
COST RA
At 1 January 2014 RZE—mE—H—H 547,602
Additions NE 4,933
Exchange adjustments & H % (12,917)
At 31 December 2014 RZE—WOF+=-A=+—H 539,618
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries RUEE B A R ELE (A7:2534)

(Note 34) 9,823
Additions NE 91,811
Reclassification from HENHEEFEENHE

prepaid lease payments 41,978
Exchange adjustments PEE 5, 38 =& (31,457)
At 31 December 2015 R-E—HFE+=-HA=+—H 651,773
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt BERBEE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2014 R-ZE—MmME—H—H 105,972
Charge for the year REZHH 38,415
Exchange adjustments PE H & (2,762)
At 31 December 2014 R-ZE—mOFE+=-HA=+—H 141,625
Charge for the year I 41,249
Reclassification from HIENHEEFEEN S

prepaid lease payments 12,615
Exchange adjustments VE R (8,844)
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE—-HEF+=ZHA=+—H 186,645
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2015 R-E—HFE+=-HA=+—H 465,128
At 31 December 2014 RZE—NF+=A=+—H 397,993

The mining rights are amortised using the straight-line

method to allocate their cost over their estimated useful lives

ranging from 3 to 30 years.

TCC International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE
20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. k& N TR
2015 2014
—E—FEF — O F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAT
Cost of investments in unlisted associates 3FF FMEE& N T2
®EKAR 1,268,977 1,268,977
Share of post-acquisition profits, and FEAE U 12 2 m | o
other comprehensive income, H b2
net of dividend income (FBR AR B WA 298,266 279,510
1,567,243 1,548,487
Less: Impairment loss recognised B ERERREEE (50,824) (50,824)
1,516,419 1,497,663

These associates are strategic partnership for the Group,

providing access to new customers and markets in Hong

Kong and specific region in the PRC.

Details of the Group’s principal associates at 31 December

2015 and 2014 are as follows:

Place of
incorporation

Name of associate and operation

F&

EI’ZIK

7

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power held

—hER=FT—
B EEBEBERAR ZFIBTHIIM

BEELTERS
EZ%WEW&Z%

mE+=A=t+—

Principal activities

MR LR BEERER
BENRAEW EE RAERERLA TEXH
2015 2014
—E-fHE —gF
Baoshan Kungang & The PRC 30% 30% Manufacture and
K. Wah Cement H distribution of

Construction Materials

Co. Ltd
RILEHZEKE

EMABERAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. & QN EI R (#)

Name of associate

Place of
incorporation

and operation

Proportion of
ownership interest

and voting power held

Principal activities

BRI BERER
BHENRER EE A KR ERLA TEEK
2015 2014
—E-F1EF —E—UE
Hong Kong Concrete Hong Kong 31.5% 31.5% Production and distribution
Company Limited B of ready-mixed concrete
BERTBRAA EERDHEEHRRT
Prosperity Conch Cement  The PRC 25% 25% Manufacture and
Company Limited H distribution of
(“Prosperity Conch”) cement and clinker
REFBKEEREME HERDHKR KA
DA ([HEEE])
Quon Hing Concrete Hong Kong 50% 50% Production and distribution
Company Limited B of ready-mixed concrete
BELER T BRA A EERDHEEHRRT
Sichuan Taichang Building  The PRC 30% 30% Manufacture and
Material Group H distribution of
Company Limited* cement and clinker
M REREMEE HERDHKR KA
BRRAT
Yunnan Kungang & The PRC 30% 30% Manufacture and
K. Wah Cement H distribution of

Construction Materials

Co. Ltd
EEEHEENKE

BHARAR

*

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

For identification purpose only

182

Y OEHRES

cement and clinker

BE Ry SO A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fom © 1 75 ¥k R By 5T

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s

material associate is set out below. The summarised

financial information below represents amounts shown in the

associate’s financial statements after taking into account

the fair value adjustments made on acquisition prepared in

accordance with HKFRSs.

All of these associates are accounted for using the equity

method in these consolidated financial statements.

20. & NE R (&)

AEEEBZMERR ZMBERBEES
SRR - FOIM I ER B E T RREEN
BREENRR B E QAP BERRAT
R DEFEREEREL 2 ATES

%Zo

FIBEZEHERNRORZERAWBERE
IARE A ARR ©

Prosperity Conch wEEE
2015 2014
—E—EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAET
Current assets MENE E 1,862,849 1,999,968
Non-current assets EMEEE 1,943,025 2,036,112
Current liabilities mEBE (831,859) (643,703)
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE (178,500) (187,500)
Revenue I = 1,493,116 2,628,366
Profit and total comprehensive income NF s &
for the year PEWEEEE 231,730 616,374
Dividends received from the associate R 4F FZ U BY
during the year RNl 250,000 -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. & QN EI R (#)

Prosperity Conch (Continued)

Exchange loss of HK$35,273,000 (2014: HK$17,441,000)
arising on translation of interests in Prosperity Conch
to presentation currency of the Group for the year is

recognised in other comprehensive income of the Group.

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

RERR (&)

RAFEHERERE I ERAANEES
25| EEE A 7 IE H E518385,273,000/8 7T
(ZZ— D4 : 17,441,000/ 7T ) A 2 &= &

ZEA 2 Y S A RERR -

B E R B B A B S R R
CHMAEAT RS EEEYENT

2015 2014
—B-IF —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TER FHET
Net assets of the Prosperity Conch BEgREEFRE 3,295,515 3,204,877
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBREEGER
interest in Prosperity Conch WA R 2 25% 25%
Carrying amount of the Group's REFENEREGEZ
interest in Prosperity Conch w2z BREE 823,879 801,219
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HILFZE

20.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. & QN EI R (#)

Aggregate information of associates that are not

individually material

FEREABMERR ZHATER

2015 2014
—E-IF —T-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FHET
The Group’s share of profit for the year & EEARFE R 64,117 87,492
The Group’s share of AEBE
other comprehensive expenses HEh2MEALZ (877) (717)
The Group’s share of AEBE
total comprehensive income PEW A 63,740 86,775
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ANEBERZEHE N2
interests in these associates AT IRE A 692,540 696,444
The unrecognised share of loss of REFREREN —H
an associate for the year RN B - =] 4,308 -
Cumulative unrecognised share of iR — g AR 2
loss of an associate Bt AEREE 4,308 -

Exchange loss of HK$28,147,000 (2014: HK$15,278,000)
arising on translation of interests in associates, that are not
individually material, to presentation currency of the Group
for the year is recognised in other comprehensive income of

the Group.

185

RAFEREZSEHRERNERZBE R
AR RAEEZ2IEBELEE
R & 1828,147,0008 7T (ZF — M4 :
15,278,000/ 7 ) I AN SR B 2 H b 2 E K
3 A HERR ©

BRERERERAR
2015 F 3R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fom © B F5 ¥k R By 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HAF+=-H=+—HIFFZE

21.INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 21. —BEeE TR
2015 2014
—E—EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Cost of investment in an unlisted —RFLETAERT

joint venture ZBEPRA 12,300 12,300

Share of (loss) profit and other B (BE) RN REMEE
comprehensive (expense) income (F ) ez (1,673) 200
10,627 12,500

Details of the Group’s joint venture at 31 December 2015

and 2014 are as follows:

Name of joint venture

Place of
incorporation
and operation

RZE—RFA_FT—NWNF+_A=+—
B AEBZAL AR ZFABHIDMT

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting power held

Principal activities

EEEER
EENAAEE R A AL R A i B R RERLH FTEEK
2015 2014
—B-AfF —T—mF
BELZHEEEMBMRART The PRC 50% 50% Manufacture and
A distribution of sand
and gravel aggregate
products (not yet
commenced
business)
E R D EY A SR E®R
(MARFARES)
The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in ZEERARZEFREVBHREANRAE
these consolidated financial statements. wmAARR

2015 2014
—E-fF —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FHET
The Group’s share of loss and total AEBEERFEEER
comprehensive expenses for the year >HEMASEE (1,324) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 &% — %

—AFEFTZA=F—HIEFE

RMB36,762,000 (2014: RMB53,922,000) (equivalent to
HK$43,747,000 (2014: HK$67,403,000)) which are unsecured,
will mature in 2017 to 2018 (2014: 2016 to 2018) and carry

variable interest rate with reference to the benchmark loan

rates of financial institutions set by the People’s Bank of

China.

(b) Long term deposits are non-interest bearing.

(c) During the year ended 31 December 2014, the associate
had declared dividend of HK$90,000,000, of which
HK$20,000,000 will be paid in 2016 and the amount is

classified as other receivables under current assets as at 31

December 2015.
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22. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 2. Hitt e mEE

2015 2014
—E—EF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Refundable deposits from AT BEBATEPIZ
PRC government sectors (note a) iREZRS (Mita) 43,747 67,403
Long term deposits (note b) REIFF (W iZb) 828 828

Dividend receivable from an associate FEUT — R B 2 A R AR B
(note ¢) (Hiite) - 20,000
44,575 88,231

notes: oz

(a) Refundable deposits from PRC government sectors of (@ REFPBHBFIHMAZAORERE AR

36,762,000 (ZFE —MF: AR

53,922,0007T) (4855 743,747,000/% 7T

(=% — P44 : 67,403,000 7T) ) A EIK

B BR_E—tFE-FT—N\F (=

—lmF: =T J\E) BIE

WEEREARBITHGEZ € REER
B ERZEF E L.

/\qEI—?

RHYERRRE -

e

HE-_T-—MN&EF+-_A=+—B1tF
BB e A F B E kAR E90,000,000%
7T * £ #20,000,0008 TR =T — N F
T ZEER T AF B =1—
BOMEARBEEET 2 ihEYEKRE-

¢
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—hF+=H=+—HIFFZE

23. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 23. A HHEERE
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Unlisted equity securities, at cost JEETIIRARE S - LA 54,021 56,143
Less: Impairment losses recognised B EHERZREEE (16,644) (14,684)
37,377 41,459

The above unlisted investments represent investments
in unlisted equity securities issued by private entities
incorporated in Hong Kong and Taiwan. They are measured
at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period
because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so
significant that the Directors are of the opinion that their
fair values cannot be measured reliably. As at 31 December
2015, accumulated impairment losses of HK$16,644,000
(2014: HK$14,684,000), which is recognised to the extent
that the carrying amount exceeded the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Accordingly, the impairment losses of HK$2,588,000 (2014:
HK$2,161,000) had been recognised in the year ended 31
December 2015 and included in profit or loss in the “other

income, gains and losses” line item.
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PR EFMBRERRERBEERAET
MR ZFABBRETZIELTRA
BH-WMERBEHRRA RN RE
TR BAABZATEMGHHEERK
WMEEFRRERNFETREAESE R
—E-RE+-_A=+—8 R REMAE
518 516,644,000 L (ZF — M & -
14,684,000/ 7T ) » Ik TR BRI B 8 I 1%
BFUeRMEEZBRRMISERETRZM
HAARRBREREZRECSETUER
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

24. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/RESTRICTED

BANK DEPOSITS/TIME DEPOSITS/CASH
AND BANK BALANCES

Pledged bank deposits represented deposits made
as performance guarantee in relation to certain mining
contracts. The pledged bank deposits will be released upon
the completion of relevant mining contracts. They carry
interest at fixed rate ranging from 0.35% to 2.67% (2014
0.35% to 2.67%) per annum.

Restricted bank deposits of RMB59,357,000 (equivalent
to HK$70,635,000) (2014: nil) carry interest at fixed rate
ranging from 0.35% to 2.65% (2014: nil) per annum.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group
and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less, which carry interest at market interest
rates. Bank balances carry interest at prevailing market rates
which range from 0.01% to 2.73% (2014: 0.01% to 2.95%)
per annum. Time deposits carry interest at fixed rate ranging
from 1.3% to 3.00% (2014: 3.06% to 3.08%) per annum.

Majority of the cash and bank balances were denominated
in RMB which is not a freely convertible currency in the
international market. The RMB exchange rate is determined
by the Government of the PRC and the remittance of these
funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions

imposed by the Government of the PRC.
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BHEREL ZFER - I RITFERS

REXERBREASNBERRK ERET
MENFEHF0.35%E2.67% (—ZF—T
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For the year ended 31 December 2016 #lZ2 —F—AHF+=-HA=+—HIFFZF

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)

recognised by the Group and the movements thereon during

the year.

5 EEBIBEE &BF
ATAAEEFERY T SREHRELE
(RfE) RAKFEAHED -

Fair value Withholding
adjustments  Accelerated  Revaluation  Revaluation tax on
on business tax  of land and of mining undistributed  Tax losses
combinations  depreciation buildings rights earnings  and others Total
BRERAH mE TR AABRER HEFER
ZATERE RERE BFEfR HRERER ZENB Hity @z
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#E Ti#En TR TR TiEn T FiEr
At 1 January 2014 RZZ-mE-A-H (273,524 29,015 (15,532) (8,732) (55,567) (6,411) (325,751)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss ~ REREZEFA (1K)
for the year (Note 12) (Hir2) 8,155 9,207 790 367 (19,353) 3514 2,700
Withholding tax paid BRENH - - - - 3,883 206 4,089
Credit to other REMZEREA
comprehensive income - - (352) - - - (352)
Exchange adjustments ERAE 7,202 (750) 153 85 - (1) 6,709
At 31 December 2014 RZZ-ME+-A=+-H  (258,147) 37,492 (14,941) (3,280) (71,087) (2,692) (312,605)
Arising on acquisition of WEHRBARBES
subsidiaries (Note 34) (Hi#34) (91,810) 7,278 - - - - (84,532)
Credit (charge) to profit or loss ~ REREZREA (315)
for the year (Note 12) (Hi12) 13,886 (3,287) 365 361 (12,189) 99,450 98,586
Withholding tax paid BERENR - - - - 24,779 - 24,779
Credit to other REMZERETA
comprehensive income - - (610) - - - (610)
Exchange adjustments ERRAE 17,608 (2,054) 455 143 - (3,760) 12,387
At 31 December 2015 RZE-RE+-A=+t-H  (318.468) 39,429 (14,731) (2,776) (58,447 92,998 (261,995)
Xﬁgulgltt-.;{:;(tjllgnzaé1H50Id|ngs Limited 190
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=—F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

25. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)
The analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial

reporting purposes is as follows:

2B EEBBEE 868 (&)

EMBEMAE 2 ELEBIBER DTN
T

2015 2014

—E-EF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Deferred tax assets R IBEE 143,294 47,150
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEE (B (405,289) (359,755)
(261,995) (312,605)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group has unused tax losses
of HK$1,305,714,000 (2014: HK$263,124,000) available to
offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of HK$386,701,000 (2014: nil) of
such losses. No deferred tax assets have been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$919,013,000
(2014: HK$263,124,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are
losses of HK$745,472,000 (2014: HK$178,971,000) which
will expire at various dates up to 2020. Other losses may be

carried forward indefinitely.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC companies from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately HK$5,842,854,000 (2014:
HK$6,233,621,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in

the foreseeable future.
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R-FE—RAF+-_A=+—H A&EH
RE)FATIEEE1,305,714,0008 T (=&
— P9 4F : 263,124,000 7T) + ] FA 72 K 44
KA A o 2 5t 78 E518386,701,000% 7T
(ZZ—NF B )BEREEHBEEE &4
TH R B E18919,013,000/8 7T (= F —Y
% 263,124,000/ 7T ) B8 B R 2R % F1| 2R
EORTER F I BRI AIRERIEE
E-ABAREEBBEENESRE
%Eﬁz%maﬂﬁﬁZ%EMSMQwo
BT (ZF—MH4F 178,971,000/ T) °
b, 5 18 AT 4 PR ER 45 8 o

BERECEMESRE SHPEAAE
T NF-A—HABRMESFMEIRZ
I BB TE TS - B AR S B A B 1
TRNEEELD mMEREBERALTER
AR R P BNE AR BitiE
FI FE A 2 B 2= 5E 495,842,854,0007% 7T
(=ZZ— /94 :6,233,621,000% 7T ) I 7
RAEVBBRERNIEL BT BEE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

26.INVENTORIES 26. 78
2015 2014
—E-EF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Raw materials and consumables R E K SRR 611,877 704,308
Work in progress T8 m 236,502 237,557
Finished goods BUpK i 234,191 329,137
1,082,570 1,271,002

During the year, the Group recognised impairment losses
of inventories in respect of long-aged consumables of
HK$7,040,000 (2014: HK$50,279,000).

RARFEER REEREHIRERERE
B 7R EEE7,040,0008 T (ZZ — M
4 150,279,000 70 ) °

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 27. ANFIE  BHERHMERKE
RECEIVABLES
2015 2014
—E-iF —E-mEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Prepayments B RIE 248,436 388,277
Deposits Ee 170,255 181,704
Loan receivables due from various JiE Wt 22 {18 R 56 P
government sectors (note a) Bk (Kfita) 18,686 37,500
Dividend receivables from associates FE B 2 N AR B, 20,000 286,300
Value-added tax recoverable AJ U Bl 1 E TR 116,990 76,634
Amount due from a joint venture (note b) el —R4& & AR RIE
(Kteto) 8,237 8,573
Consideration receivable for disposal of MEEAHEEREM
available-for-sale investments (note ¢) U 2 (B (Wite) 778 101,928
Other receivables (note d) H b W kIR (M itd) 236,674 240,824
820,056 1,321,740

TCC International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=—F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

notes:

(@)

Loan receivables due from various government sectors are
non-interest bearing, unsecured and repayable within one year

based on agreed repayment terms.

Included in the carrying amount of loan receivables as at
31 December 2015 is accumulated impairment loss of
HK$85,058,000 (2014: HK$101,616,000). The management
has monitored the repayment of these loan receivables
and assessed the recoverability of these balances regularly
to determine the impairment losses. The management
determined that for those balances overdue more than one
year which are generally not recoverable, full provision of
these balances will be made. During the year, the Group has
recognised impairment losses in an amount of HK$13,836,000
(2014: HK$7,923,000) in respect of loan receivables that have
been overdue for more than one year and reversal impairment
loss of HK$25,977,000 (2014: nil) upon receipt of settlement

of same amount.

Amount due from a joint venture is non-interest bearing,

unsecured and repayable on demand.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Group sold
its available-for-sale investments with carrying amount of
HK$599.4 million at the date of disposal, to a subsidiary
of Southwest Cement Company Limited, an independent
third party, together with the amounts due from investees of
approximately HK$273.6 million at a total consideration of
RMB813.8 million (equivalent to approximately HK$1,009.1
million). As at 31 December 2015, the remaining balance
of consideration receivable for disposal of available-for-sale
investment is HK$778,000 (2014: HK$101.9 million).
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27. AN RIE - EHERHEMERRIE

(#&)

Biat:

(@)

R ZEBRNHBFIERARE  BERR

RIFHEEFTERR —FREER-

RZE—RAF+ZA=+—HB A
EREREEE XEBER R RME
&5 1885,058,0008 L (=& — 0 & :
101,616,000 7T) - BIEE O B 1E % L e
WERZ BRI TR HZEEH TR
Bl LEERESE BEBRETE RE&E
BE—F E—MEERE 2 R S
PREAIRBE - REAEERN KXEED
HOBH—FU L ERERERREER
13,836,000/% 7T ( —=Z — I 4 : 7,923,000
) Rt el 2 A BE B R B E 1B
25,977,000 70 (=T — UG - &) ©

R —MaErRREAR/LE BEAR
REREEE-

B

il

REE-T—=F+-A=1+—HLFE
N AEBERLERRABLE = FAE
ARA R Rz — B A A& H A
HER A 2 IR E £599,400,000/5 7T © i
[F] #7273,600,0007% 7T 2 FE 48 3 1% & 75 3K
18 R (B A ARS813,800,0007T (1%
4 #91,009,100,000 70) c R =T — A F
TZA=+—RA HEATHDEERECE
U KB - #4458 A778,0008 L (Z T —
4 101,900,000 7T ) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

27. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (continuea)

notes: (Continued)

(d) Included in the carrying amount of other receivables as (d)
at 31 December 2015 is accumulated impairment loss of
HK$15,767,000 (2014: HK$28,219,000). During the year,
the Group has reversed impairment losses of HK$3,274,000
upon receipt of settlement of same amount (2014: recognised
impairment losses of HK$19,365,000). In addition, the Group
has written off other receivables of HK$8,262,000 (2014: nil).

(%)
Wizt (%)

B (ZE—NWF

27. AN RIE - EHERHEMERRIE

RZZE—RAFE+-A=+—8B HiElk
FIEREERE R EEE15,767,000
28,219,000/ 7T ) °
RAFERN AEBEERKRRRSEE
B BB 2R 8 k5 18 % [E13,274,000/5 7T
(ZE—NF: FER
FETL) o AN - AN S [ B 9 8 L fth FE UK FROE

5, (B &5 1819,365,000

8,262,000/ T (Z T —U4F  ##) o
28. TRADE RECEIVABLES 28. EIRE B BRI

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHE T FAT
Trade receivables from outsiders JEUINAE AN LT Z B SR 2,840,861 4,113,090

Trade receivable from an associate i G ]iEN=lvd
B HEN 12,089 16,023

Trade receivable from a related party N —BEEALT
Z 5 RN 3,796 -
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts B REREEE (19,976) (20,684)
2,836,770 4,108,429

The Group’s policy is to allow a credit period of 90 — 180
days to its trade customers (including the associate and
related party). The following is an aged analysis of trade

AEBBRKEAGTEESERRF (RIEHE
NE N EEATLT)I0E180H 2 BREREf < DA
TAERBEHREKE FEK (OB RE

receivables, net of allowance for doubtful debts, based on BiE)REEHBERERST:
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—MOF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
0 - 90 days 0&90H 1,631,628 2,423,717
91 - 180 days 91£2180H 1,160,944 1,653,866
181 — 365 days 1812365H 44,198 30,846
2,836,770 4,108,429
TCC International Holdings Limited 194
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=—F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea)

Before accepting any new customers with credit limit, the
Group assesses the historical background and credibility
which are available in the market. The credit limit will be
determined with reference to the result of research and will

be reviewed once a year.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables of
approximately HK$43,044,000 (2014: HK$12,287,000)
which have been aged within 181 — 365 days and past due
as at the end of the reporting period for which the Group
has not provided for impairment loss because management
is of the opinion that the fundamental credit quality of
these customers has not deteriorated. Hence, there is no
expectation of significant recoverability problem. The Group

does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not

28. EWE ZEBRFX (&)

REMENEERERBZHTLA &
SEENRELERRTETAREZE
RKF -BRERBEKSBMRNEREER

HETFRM R

M E - EUIE 5 IR 5K 4943,044,0008
7T ( —Z — D94 : 12,287,000/ 7T ) #9 SR i
M F18123650 WA R 45 HAR 2 Hf -
1B 7R &R B 30 R 3t 7% B OB (R RE B R &
B ULTEREREERAZEREPZER
FEEE=ZUETE Bt B A= HIRE
R [0 14 P RE o AR SR B D A R R S A R I
BERERR -

SEBENRREZERE SRR Z KRR

impaired
2015 2014
—E-EHF —E=—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
0 - 90 days 0£90H 23,050 275
91 - 180 days 912180H 824 3,045
181 — 365 days 181£365H 19,170 8,967
43,044 12,287
BREREEERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

28. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continuea) 28.EE B R (#)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts REBEZE2H
2015 2014
S —ET-mF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT FET
Balance at beginning of year RENE R 20,684 7,514
Allowance for doubtful debts REZNERZ
recognised in profit and loss REEBE 297 13,322
Exchange adjustments b 5, 58 2 (1,005) (1562)
Balance at end of year REREE R 19,976 20,684
The Group will provide fully for any receivables aged & B S B AR R B 18365 H 2 ] FE WL FK
over 365 days because historical experience is such that B REE RARBBELLER
receivables that are past due beyond 365 days are generally B HA R 365 8 v FE MR TE — MR 19 R IR
not recoverable. EIE
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, EREYESEAEF2EERRE HER
with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties DERTEZRGHTREF

and customers.

29. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS 2. FERGHEBZRE
2015 2014
—E-hF —T-mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Listed equity securities in Hong Kong, REB LM ZBRARS -
at market value LmiE 28,523 39,740
Quoted investment funds, at fair value BEREES ERAFE 9,297 9,630
37,820 49,370
TCC International Holdings Limited 196
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29. HELD-FOR-TRADING INVESTMENTS

30.

(Continued)

The fair values of the held-for-trading investments are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices
available on the relevant exchanges or prices provided by
counterparty financial institutions. The quoted investment

funds can be disposed of at the prices provided by the

counterparty financial institutions on a regular basis.

TRADE PAYABLES

—AFEFTZA=F—HIEFE

. FEXGFHEZKRE (#)

FEXZIABZREZ ATFETIRIEAEH
RBAABTHEEABRYE T ERKE
PriettcEBRET - BEREESWEY
TEREETHREfEZERLE-

30. EREZ R

2015 2014
—E-AHEF — P&
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET
Trade payables to outsiders ERINAALTZE SRR 995,445 948,312
Trade payable to ultimate holding company &t & &2 A 7 2
ER L 1,073 15,631
Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries ENRRAMNBARZ
B RN 25,970 41,209
Trade payable to an associate i —RBERNR 2
EE LN 1,767 2,679
1,024,255 1,007,831

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on

UTRRBERRZENESRFTIRER

the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: HH 2 BRER D AT
2015 2014
—E-—RHF —
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
0 - 90 days 0£90H 905,241 949,010
91 - 180 days 912180H 18,265 7,024
181 — 365 days 181£365H 62,690 16,903
Over 365 days 3658 M £ 38,059 34,894
1,024,255 1,007,831

PAN 7
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

30. TRADE PAYABLES (continuea) 30. EHE SR (&)
The trade balances due to ultimate holding company, fellow EASEER AR RREWEB AR RS
subsidiaries and the associate are unsecured, interest-free RAIZESEHRERR RERARE
and repayable in accordance with normal trading terms. BB GIEREE-
31. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 1. HMEMNREREFAE
LIABILITIES
2015 2014
—B-E%F —E-mF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Construction cost payables FET R EER A 460,770 502,687
Deposits and receipts in KREEP 2 RTERK
advance from customers 488,878 391,773
Retention moneys HAiFHmE 33,546 40,402
Other taxes payables H th JE T IR 74,085 114,936
Preferred distribution payables to FELT AT EREB SRR R 2
convertible preference shareholders BhnIK 14,130 14,130
Payables for land use rights and T AR R R 2
mining rights JE 5 3B 18,505 9,375
Consideration payable for the acquisition — UgEEH B A FIFEIMEZR 2
of additional interests in subsidiaries e RE 16,660 17,500
Expenses accrual fEst 2 H 233,784 246,913
Management fee payable due to JERNREERAR 2
ultimate holding company SRR 9,680 -
Other payables due to fellow subsidiaries  FEN R ZB AT 2
H Al & 3R 5,848 504
Refundable deposit to former shareholder ~ FRWEEHEEL 2
of a subsidiary arising from acquisition RE T —RHME A A
IRz R % 70,635 -
Other payables H th JE T 5K I8 72,365 172,326
1,498,886 1,510,546
TCC International Holdings Limited 198
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32. BANK LOANS

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=—F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

32.8R1TER

2015 2014
—E-FEF —E—OF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Secured o 69,615 -
Unsecured 45 1 4 11,663,268 12,877,873
11,732,883 12,877,873
The loans are repayable as follows: BEFGESRBOT
Within one year R—FKN 6,028,147 6,497,201
More than one year but not exceeding FRiE— TR EE M E
two years 2,236,200 3,428,700
More than two years but not exceeding BRMEENHBARSF
five years 3,468,536 2,951,972
11,732,883 12,877,873
Less: Amounts due for settlement within B ER—FAREEZ
one year (shown under I (5
current liabilities) MEBAEIET) (6,028,147) (6,497,201)
Amounts due for settlement after one year ZBR—FEER 7 RIB 5,704,736 6,380,672
BREREEERAT
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 ElZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

32. BANK LOANS (continued)
The Group’s bank loans that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies of the relevant group

entities are set out below:

2. RITER (&)

AEENERAEEERNEERUINZE
BRHEZRITEREIIMT

2015 2014

—E-EF —E—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHERT THETT

Hong Kong Dollars BT 159,513 216,939
United States Dollars ETT 9,479,129 8,228,134

All bank loans of the Group are variable-rate loans which
carry interest with reference to Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate (“HIBOR”), London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”)
and benchmark loan rates of financial institutions set by The

People’s Bank of China.

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group has the

following undrawn borrowing facilities:

AEBZMAERTERRIBEERER
B%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬁﬁﬁ%
HED)  WBRTEERE ([RERTH
EHRBD) RPBEARRITAGE 2 S BH
BEEERMEGE -

FHR AREHEAE T HARERZ

2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TAET
Floating rate FE) AR
— expiring within one year —R—FRNE®R 3,580,536 2,761,865
— expiring beyond one year —R—F&ER 155,000 747,500
3,735,536 3,609,365

The Group has secured bank borrowings of HK$69,615,000
(2014: nil) which are secured by fixed charges of certain
assets of the Group, including property, plant and equipment

and prepaid lease payments.

TCC International Holdings Limited
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33.

34.

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=—F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

AMOUNT DUE TO IMMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

On 28 December 2015, the Company entered into a loan
agreement with the immediate holding company for a loan
facility of US$120.0 million (equivalent to HK$930 million).
Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie, an executive Director, is
interested in the transaction to the extent that the immediate
holding company is controlled by him. The agreement has
a term for one year and is further extendable for another
one year. The amount due to immediate holding company
is carrying interest with reference to either HIBOR or
LIBOR plus a spread, unsecured and the amount as at 31
December 2015 will be repayable on 28 December 2017.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
early repaid the balance as at 31 December 2014 which
shall be repaid on 26 December 2016 and has recognised
related interest expenses of HK$25,740,000 (2014:
HK$11,434,000).

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

In order to enlarge the market share in the PRC, the Group
completed the following acquisitions during the year ended
31 December 2015.

In January 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of
the entire equity interest in IU)I|#EEEBIEBREMT R
&] (Sichuan Railway Group Cement Company Limited*) at
a cash consideration of RMB640.5 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$800.6 million) from an independent third
party. The company name was changed to TCC Huaying
Cement Company Limited (“TCC Huaying”) after acquisition.
TCC Huaying is principally engaged in the manufacture and
distribution of cement and clinker in Sichuan province of the
PRC.

*

For identification purpose only
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34.

BENEBEZERARRE

R-ZE—HF+-_A-+N\B KArH
BB A R]F120,000,0005 7T (HBER
930,000,000/ 7T ) 2 &K &L & 5] L Bk 1%
BOHNTEEERNNAEERZRITHESR
HEESCEBIERAR S 2 #m-
ZMEABR—FIWE S —F o BN
HEZERARDREAZERBRITAER
BRARBBITRAERSMEZF B - EIK
HERZZE—AFT+H=T—HZXK
FER—_ET—+tF+-_A=t+/\BEE-
REBE-_Z—HAF+=-_A=+—HLHF
B AEEEREEER-_T—NFE+=
A=Z+—Bz&E8 MzEHRER=-FZ
—ANF+Z A+ BEEYCHERAERM
7 B B 225,740,000/ 7T ( —Z — PO 4 :
11,434,0007 7T) °

W BB B B 2 R
REARFEZTHHE AREARE
—E-mF+=A=+—BIEEREX
T -

RZB—RF—A AEEEKUES
KB AR ®640,500,0007T (HE R4
800,600,000 70 ) e — & B £ = FH i
N#EEEBEKEEREERA 22K
H-ZRAREBEORNWBRET RELS
TKRBRAT ([ELAR]) - ELAR
FEEPEM) AN ERE RS HEKER

Y ERERS
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

In May 2015, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in J#F & A KB R E T A (Hunan
Jindadi Materials Company Limited*) at a cash consideration
of RMB1,177.5 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,465.7 million) from six independent third parties. The
company name was changed to TCC Huaihua Cement
Company Limited (“TCC Huaihua”) after acquisition. TCC
Huaihua and its subsidiaries (the “TCC Huaihua Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacture and distribution of
cement, clinker, concrete and other cement related products

in Hunan province of the PRC.

Both acquisitions have been accounted for using the
acquisition method. The Group has adjusted the amount of
goodwill being recognised based on the final valuation of
acquired identifiable assets. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisitions of TCC Huaying and TCC
Huaihua Group were approximately HK$65,179,000 and
HK$616,253,000 respectively.

Acquisition related costs amounting to approximately
HK$2,516,000 in aggregate have been excluded from the
cost of acquisition and have been recognised as an expense
in the year ended 31 December 2015, and included in the
“general and administrative expenses” line item in profit or

loss.

*

For identification purpose only
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4. WEHEB QT (&)

RZE—AFARA AEBZKAES
R EAR®1,177,500,0007T (FH 5 R4
1,465,700,0008 7)) i S BB L E = U
BHEEAMMEEREEARIZEH
BE-ZRAREHERNWBEREERAR
(BlE)KRERRA ([A% (1E1)]) -
ak (Bb) REMBAR (&% (&)
EEDFEEPEAMERERERDHE
Ke BB JREE T RE MR ERERE
i\’%o

MIAWESDERARBEAK - AEER
RIBFTRE R BRI 8 E 2 RRFHEAE
KRz EeR - AUBELERELS
(B EEMEEZBHESEIAINR
65,179,000/% 7T }2616,253,0007% 7T °

BHE_T-—RAFE+_-_A=1+—HILEE"
BRAWIESEE 2 AR 85T 492,516,000 7T
WREFFAWBEEBE ZRAN MRBRZ
[—RERTHEFAZIEERNERAMAXZ -
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OB ERERUEE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The net assets acquired in the transactions, and the goodwill

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

4. WEHB QR (&)
REXSHRKE Y AEFEREL YT

arising, are as follows: NN
TCC Huaihua
TCC Huaying Group Total
#2248k AF(Et)EHE R
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - -BE IR 975,741 1,676,965 2,652,706
Prepaid lease payments TaA & FE 58,030 207,704 265,734
Intangible assets BEE 435 84,951 85,386
Mining rights iR 1,255 8,568 9,823
Deposits paid for acquisition of RUMEEMEES N2 E
other assets - 1,875 1,875
Deferred tax assets RERIBEE - 7,278 7,278
1,035,461 1,987,341 3,022,802
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 42,055 135,534 177,589
Prepaid lease payments BMEERE 1,530 1,339 2,869
Prepayments, deposits and BRFE EERk
other receivables (note) Hoth fE W IE (f772) 56,344 84,545 140,889
Trade receivables (note) FEWE SRR (HiZ) 16,714 24,112 40,826
Tax recoverables A eI 625 11,546 12,171
Pledged bank deposits BEAETER - 137,640 137,640
Cash and bank balances Be RIRTTEH 16,983 44,977 61,960
134,251 439,693 573,944
Current liabilities REAE
Trade payables R E 5 RN 32,300 566,280 598,580
Other payables and Ht R FIE R
accrued liabilities [EsTBE 34,815 635,803 670,618
Bank loans RITER 356,225 248,625 604,850
423,340 1,450,708 1,874,048
Non-current liabilities *(RBEE
Bank loans RITER - 25,000 25,000
Loan term payables RHIEN A - 21,024 21,024
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEEE 10,907 80,903 91,810
10,907 126,927 137,834
735,465 849,399 1,584,864
ARERERSRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

note: The trade and other receivables acquired with an aggregate
fair value of HK$87,310,000 have gross contractual amounts
of HK$96,400,000. The best estimate at acquisition date

of contractual cash flows not expected to be collected was

HK$9,090,000.

4. WEHEB QT (&)

HtiF - BEIS 4R F{E A87,310,0007% 7T 2 FE
B 5 BR5% I E At REURRIE 2 B ET 4048
8 596,400,000/ 7T © FE HA A~ AT Y 8] 2
BRI BReRARNKEBEN Y REGREA

9,090,000/ 7T °

TCC Huaihua
TCC Huaying Group Total
ERAk AR (ELEE o
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Goodwill arising on acquisition WEEEELACEHE
Consideration transferred BEZERE 800,644 1,465,652 2,266,296
Less: Fair value of identifiable net 3l : & Y B A 54 B
assets acquired EEFEZATE (735,465) (849,399) (1,584,864)
Goodwill arising on acquisition WREEEELA EE 65,179 616,253 681,432
Net cash outflow arising WESEELE 2
on acquisition BeRtFE
Cash consideration BeRE 800,644 1,465,652 2,266,296
Less: Cash and bank balances BEWEZRER
acquired RITEH (16,983) (44,977) (61,960)
Deposit paid in prior year EFENZE® (344,793) (174,908) (519,701)
Net cash outflow arising WHEEEEELY
on acquisition BemiF8 438,868 1,245,767 1,684,635

Goodwill arose on the acquisition of TCC Huaying and
TCC Huaihua Group because the cost of the combination
included a control premium. In addition, the consideration
paid for the combination effectively included amounts in
relation to expected synergies, revenue growth, future
market development and the assembled workforce for TCC
Huaying and TCC Huaihua Group. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill because they do not

meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets.

TCC International Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Impact of acquisitions on the results of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2015, TCC Huaying
contributed approximately HK$299,644,000 to the Group’s
revenue and loss of approximately HK$61,542,000 to the
Group’s results for the period from the date of acquisition (in
January 2015) to 31 December 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, TCC Huaihua
Group contributed approximately HK$469,899,000 to the
Group’s revenue and loss of approximately HK$44,794,000
to the Group’s results for the period from the date of

acquisition (in June 2015) to 31 December 2015.

If the acquisitions had been completed on 1 January
2015, the Group would record total revenue of
HK$11,184,547,000 and a pro forma loss of approximately
HK$560,801,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisitions been completed on 1 January

2015, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 EZ2—F—HhF+=H=+—HIFZE

35. SHARE CAPITAL — ORDINARY SHARES B /WA -—ZBER
Number of
ordinary shares HK$’'000
ZEREA FAT
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each FREECI10B L LBk
At 1 January 2014, N_TE-mFE-A—-R"
31 December 2014 and ZE-WE+ZA=+—HRK
31 December 2015 —E-RE+ZA=1+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREERE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each BREECI10B L Tl
At 1 January 2014 and RZE-WF-A—HEK
31 December 2014 —ET-NFE+ZRA=+—H 3,295,643,213 329,565
Rights issue of shares (note) HREITRG (H32) 1,647,821,617 164,782
Conversion of non-redeemable IR A] B Bl ] B2 (B S R
convertible preference shares 21 -
At 31 December 2015 W-_ZE-—RE+-A=+—8 4,943,464,851 494,347
note: On 16 July 2015, the Company issued 1,647,821,617 Kiat: WZZFE—RAFELA+ B XQRIE

ordinary shares, on the basis of one rights share for every
two existing ordinary shares at the issue price of HK$2.20
per share. The net proceeds of approximately HK$3,608.1
million were raised by the Company. The Company’s issued

ordinary share capital was increased to 4,943,464,851

BREMRIG LW AR — Rt
MR A% 1 2 B - LA G RR2.2078 7T 2 B AT
B3171,647,821,617R @B - A2
7] % & F7 15 3018 )% 38 493,608,100,000
BT ARNAZBEBRTERARANES
4,943,464,851f% °

shares.
The new shares issued rank pari passu in all respects with EETHROES T MMAEBF2EHTRG
the existing shares in issue. ZERSER-
TCC International Holdings Limited 206
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36. SHARE CAPITAL - NON-REDEEMABLE 36.BA—FELE JEBRELR
CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES (MEERKR])
(“PREFERENCE SHARES”)
Number of
convertible
preference
shares HK$’'000
mER
BEBREE TET
Authorised: R :
Preference shares of HK$0.10 each FREECI10B T 2B LR
At 1 January 2014, RZE—ME—HA—QH-
31 December 2014 and T-ME+ZA=F—HK
31 December 2015 —E-AF+ZA=+—H 494,344,810 49,435
Issued and fully paid: BEITERARRA:
Preference shares of HK$0.10 each iﬂﬁ@@o 1082 BER
At 1 January 2014 and RZFE—MF-A—ABK
31 December 2014 T—NFE+=-A=1+—H 494,333,666 49,433
Conversion of preference shares BB IR (21) -
At 31 December 2015 RZZE—AF+-_A=+—H 494,333,645 49,433

The preference shares are non-redeemable and carry no
voting right. Pursuant to the terms of the preference shares
and the articles of association of the Company, as a result of
the rights issue of the Company, the initial conversion price
of preference share, being HK$4.90 per preference share,
has been conditionally adjusted to HK$4.49 per preference
share with effect from 12 June 2015. Under the terms of
the preference shares, each preference share is initially
convertible into one ordinary share. As a result of the above
change in the conversion price, the initial conversion rate
is adjusted such that the number of ordinary shares into
which each preference share is convertible will be adjusted
by multiplying the rate of “4.90/4.49”. Details of which is
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 12 June
2015.
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36.

37.
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—AFtZA=+—HILFE

SHARE CAPITAL - NON-REDEEMABLE
CONVERTIBLE PREFERENCE SHARES
(“PREFERENCE SHARES”) (continued)

The preference shareholders are entitled to receive dividend
pari passu with ordinary shareholders on an as converted
basis. In addition, they are also entitled to preferred
distribution at a rate of 1.0% per annum on the issue price,
at HK$4.9 per preference share, payable semi-annually in
arrears. The preferred distribution is non-cumulative. The
Directors may, in their sole discretion, elect to defer or not to
pay a preferred distribution. If the board of Directors elects
to defer or not to pay a preferred distribution, the Company
shall not pay any dividends, distributions or make any other

payment on any ordinary shares.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option scheme

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) for the purpose of enabling the Directors to grant
options to selected Eligible Persons as incentives or rewards
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group.
The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10
years commencing on the adoption date of 23 May 2006.
The basis of eligibility of any of the Eligible Persons to the
grant of options shall be determined by the Directors from
time to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his
contribution or potential contribution to the development and
growth of the Group. Eligible Persons means any person

falling within one of the following classes:

() any Director or proposed Director (whether executive

or non-executive, including any independent non-
executive Director), employee of any member of the
Group or any controlling shareholder, a person who
controls the Company or any company controlled by a
controlling shareholder (a “Category A Eligible Person”);

or
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37.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member
of the Group or any controlling shareholder or any
company controlled by a controlling shareholder (a

“Category B Eligible Person”);

and, for the purposes of the Scheme, shall include any
company controlled by one or more persons belonging to

any of the above classes of persons.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The Company can grant share options to
subscribe up to 77,292,200 shares of the Company under
the Scheme. The 10% limit may be refreshed with the

approval of shareholders of the Company.

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
which options granted and may be granted to any individual
in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Any option
to be granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company (or any of their respective
associates) must be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-

executive Director who is the grantee of the options).
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37.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

If a grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive Director (or any of their
respective associates) will result in the total number of
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of options
already granted and to be granted to such person under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of grant representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the
shares in issue; and in excess of HK$5 million, such further

grant of options is required to be approved by shareholders.

The option period commences on the Commencement Date
(the date upon which the options are deemed to be granted
and accepted) of such options and ends on the close
of business on the day immediately preceding the tenth

anniversary thereof.

The exercise price per share shall be determined by the
Board, being at least the highest of (i) the closing price of
the shares on the date on which an option is offered to an
Eligible Person, which must be a business day (“Offer Date”);
(i) the average closing price of the shares for the five trading
days immediately preceding the offer date, and (iii) the

nominal value of one share.

Share options do not contain rights on the holders to

dividends or vote at shareholders meetings.

TCC International Holdings Limited 210
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37.SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

7. UM IZNREBZRS (#)
TRANSACTIONS (continuea)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) URAEEBRESE (&)
REBEE-ZT—NF+-A=+—BLFE
W BRI R B ERE 2B ERIZ

Details of specific category of the share options which were

forfeited or lapsed during the year ended 31 December

2014 are as follows.

Date of grant

Vesting period

EACRINE

Exercise period

Number of

Exercise price share option

Rt A FEH T8 TEE BREHA
HK$
B
27 May 2011 27 May 2011 to 26 February 2012 27 February 2012 to 26 May 2014 4.42 6,188,000
—E-——f%hAZ+tH “E-——FRAZt+tHZE —E-—§-RA-+tHZE
—Z-—F-R-+,H “Z-NEFRAZ+AH
27 May 2011 27 May 2011 to 26 February 2013 27 February 2013 to 26 May 2014 4.42 9,282,000
ZE——fRAZ++tH —Z——ERA-FTtHE —EB-=£-A-++HZE
ZE-ZFZAZ1H —T-mERAZF~H
27 May 2011 27 May 2011 to 26 February 2014 27 February 2014 to 26 May 2014 4.42 15,470,000
—E——FRA-++tH —T——%FRA-FttHE ZE-NFZAZ+tHZE
ZE-NFZAZ+H ZE-mERAZFAE
30,940,000

THREBERBE T -—HF+-_A=1+—
BLEFEERNEENETREMBAZAR
BIERE 2 2EEN

The following table discloses movements of the Company’s
share options held by Directors and certain employees

during the year ended 31 December 2014:

Outstanding at Forfeited Lapsed Outstanding at

1 January during during 31 December

2014 2014 2014 2014

R-ZE-WE R-g-m&E

-A—-B RZB-mF¥ RZB-BF +ZA=+-H

Name of Directors/employees ESNE/RE e R AT 2EK XX e R AT

Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie =S 10,450,000 - (10,450,000 -

Wu Yih Chin REH 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) -

Employees EE 18,490,000 (230,000) (18,260,000 -

Total B 30,940,000 (230,000) (30,710,000 -
Exercisable at the end of RBRERRYFIE

the reporting period -
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38.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (continuea)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

No share options were granted under the Scheme during

both years.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately
HK$748,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014 (2015:
nil) in relation to share options granted under the Scheme by

the Company.

Upon lapse of the share options during the year ended 31
December 2014, the amount of HK$35,551,000 (2015:
nil) previously recognised in share option reserve was

transferred to retained earnings.

RESERVES

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the
difference between the fair value of the combined net
assets value of the subsidiaries involved in the Group
reorganisation in September 1997 and the assets, liabilities
and undertakings which relate to the import and distribution
of cement carried out by Hong Kong Cement Manufacturing
Company Limited prior to the Group reorganisation (the
“Relevant Business”), as if they were acquired by the
Group when the subsidiaries and the Relevant Business
commenced operations, and the nominal value of the

Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.

Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the relevant PRC regulations applicable
to wholly-foreign owned enterprises, certain PRC
subsidiaries are required to appropriate an amount of not
less than 10% of its annual after tax profit to the statutory
reserve fund which may be used to increase the paid-up

capital of the PRC subsidiaries.
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39. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Ordinance (the “MPF Scheme”) for employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries with maximum of HK$1,500 (HK$1,250 before 1
June 2014) per employee per month and are charged to
the profit and loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s employer
voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the Group
when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
are members of state-managed retirement benefit plans
operated by the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries
are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified

contributions.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
approximately HK$82,144,000 (2014: HK$71,898,000)
represents contributions payable to these plans by the

Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.
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40. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

—AFtZA=+—HILFE

40.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in

the Group will be able to continue as a going concern

while maximising the return to shareholders through the

optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s

overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,

which includes bank loans and amount due to immediate

holding company net of cash and bank balances, and equity

attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued

share capital, reserves and retained earnings. The Directors

review the capital structure on an annual basis. As part of

this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the

risks associates with each class of capital. The Group will

balance its overall capital structure through the payment of

dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as

the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debts.

EXERER
FEBZEAERRRAEENTER
BRI ARED AEE RS ETH:%E%“
B e A S 1 A BOR R RN [ e oSBT
BASHEERRBRT NE -
AEBEZEARBERERFE (BRER
TERMENEBZERARIE MER

& MIRITH %)&K“ﬂ%&*ﬁ/\ﬁ‘éﬁ%ﬁ?&
(BREZBTELX RERREAN) &
EEFHERHNEARARB - ER/LERS
2B EEEEEEAKNAREALE
BRI AR - ARE/EBHBE
BT D RBRRG A RBEITHER
HEORBEHFOEBBEARE-

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS M. €T H
Categories of financial instruments SRMIAZER
2015 2014
—E—FE —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FHET
Financial assets TREE
FVTPL BAFEEARR
— held-for-trading investments —REX SRR ZIEE 37,820 49,370
Loans and receivables (including ERRERFIE (B
cash and cash equivalents) BekReEE) 8,967,444 9,681,922
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 37,377 41,459
Financial liabilities - h=RE
Amortised cost BSHRACR 14,623,061 15,819,541
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Annual Report 2015



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fom © B 75 ¥ R By 5F

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, trade and other receivables, loan receivables,
bank deposits and bank balances, trade and other payables,
bank loans and amount due to immediate holding company.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include credit risk, interest rate risk, currency
risk, other price risk and liquidity risk and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Management monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

Credit risk

At 31 December 2015, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk, which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties,
is arising from the carrying amount of the respective
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position and the amount of contingent liabilities
in relation to financial guarantee issued by the Group as
disclosed in Note 42. In order to minimise the credit risk, the
management of the Group has delegated a team responsible
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit

risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) M. E@mIE %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies HERKREEBZEEBE (£)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERRE (&)
The Group mainly trades on terms based on prepayments ERHBORGH  AEEEE2REBATERN
and letters of credits in most of the transactions. Thus, the HERERABREEZGTETRS -
management considers that the risk is adequately monitored It BERERABHEERZITHER I
and does not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its TEHSETAUE BT TRITEEE:
obligations.
The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical AEBZEERBREMEMEEZEZEFR
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for all loan PR -RZZTE—RAF+ZA=+—HG2
receivables (2014: all), 97.4% of the trade receivables (2014: *Bﬁgﬂﬁlﬁ R(ZE—MF:25) ERE
98.0%) and all consideration receivable for disposal of RN 297.4% (ZF—MMF :98.0% ) &
available-for-sale investments (2014: all) as at 31 December ﬁ%ﬂﬁ%tﬂ%&ﬁZ’f%ﬁ%%ﬁE (=%
2015. —E:2E) -
As at 31 December 2015, the Group has concentration of R-ZT— ﬁfﬁ-f— B=+—H " Bai()Ew
credit risk with (i) loan receivables due from four (2014: five) WE (ZZF—WF: 1%)REFEBMA
borrowers within the government sectors in the PRC; (ii) FW%?X)\ZﬁHﬁZE + (i) 2 = B [m) — fi] B
financial guarantee issued by the Group to an associate; and R EMEL 2 IS EAR ¢ R (iii)gh i & 7] i
(i) consideration receivable for disposal of available-for-sale HEREMEBEWE T (AP EIHKEKE
investments due from a buyer which is engaged in cement BUEET) 2 RE AU AEEITAATE
manufacturing in the PRC. P2 EERR -
In order to minimise the credit risk on the loan receivables REEKEFRERREZEERRER
and consideration receivable, the management of the &K AEBEEREZYERBWE F0
Group closely monitor the follow-up action taken to recover S EMERN CRERBE LN K&
any overdue amounts. In addition, the Group reviews B R WmE AR EN S REEBS A 2 AT E 2
the recoverable amount of each debtor at the end of the BHOUBRREZIRE 2 BBEELEHZ
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses BEBE UM E EZRAEREEEW
are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Bz EERRE KNIERIK-

Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk on the loan

receivables is significantly reduced.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

(1)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to the pledged bank deposits and time
deposits. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to floating-rate bank loans,
amount due to immediate holding company, amount
due from an associate and bank balances. The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy.
However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise. The fair value
interest rate risk on bank deposits is insignificant as the

fixed deposits are short-term.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR, LIBOR and
benchmark loan rates of financial institutions set by The
People’s Bank of China arising from the Group’s bank
loans, amount due from an associate and amount due

to immediate holding company.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rate risk has been
determined based on the exposure to variable interest
rates for financial instruments at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount due from an associate and the bank balances
net of bank loans in the PRC at the end of the reporting
period and the net balance was outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in

interest rates.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

TCC International Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2015

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December
2015 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$6,823,000 (2014: post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2014 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$7,618,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on

its variable-rate bank loans.

Currency risk
The Group is mainly exposed to United States Dollars
(“US$”) and HK$.

Amount due to immediate holding company, bank
balances and bank loans of the Group are denominated
in foreign currencies. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency loan. However, management monitors
the related foreign currency exposure closely and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arise.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change of 5% in exchange rate
of US$ and HK$ against functional currency of RMB
respectively, while all other variables are held constant.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting

period for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.

—AFFTZA=F—HIEFE

M. €T H#)
MERREEAERKE (£)

5 EEE (&)
() EEmEE (&)
BRE DM

TRAVNAEEBRETRBTD AL
ﬁéEE%AEﬁ%ZE%E{%E5%ZA
B 2 BURE - MATA AR &
%ﬁ’ﬁ1$“ SEREE DT E Pjﬁrﬁ]
*#ﬁ/%ZQI\MﬁlJTEEﬁ%IEE&ﬁ@&i

HIRIZINETE K% 2 B B K1

2015 2014
—E-EE —
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET
(Increase) decrease in post-tax REFERTZEE (350)
loss/(decrease) increase in BB & R A
post-tax profit for the year CR ) 1
- if RMB weakens against US$ — AR H ETIFE (218,488) (197,531)
— if RMB strengthens against US$ — AR ETED 218,488 197,531
— if RMB weakens against HK$ —WARBH AT (5,982) (7,682)
— if RMB strengthens against HK$ — AR BETES 5,982 7,682
Other price risk (i) E M E R e
The Group’s equity investments and the investment AEEBRBRERRZBAEERAS
funds with underlying equity investments at the end HERAIEE 2 REESSAEER
of the reporting period exposed the Group to equity TRAZBLFERER EEESER
security price risk. The management manages this HEHFEEETRRAREEZREHEEK
exposure by maintaining a portfolio of investments EBEER - AEE L RERRKE

with different risk profiles. The Group’s equity price
risk is from listed equity securities in Hong Kong and
quoted investment funds. Available-for-sale investments
also exposed to price risk but no sensitivity analysis
is presented as the available-for-sale investments are

measured at cost.
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
(ii)) ~ Other price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks in respect

of held-for-trading investments at the reporting date.

If the prices of the respective held-for-trading
investments had been 20% higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss
for the year ended 31 December 2015 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$7,564,000 (2014: post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$9,874,000) as
a result of the changes in fair value of held-for-trading

investments.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank

loans and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The Group relies on bank loans as a significant source
of liquidity. As at 31 December 2015, the Group has
available unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
HK$3,735,536,000 (2014: HK$3,509,365,000). Details of

which are set out in Note 32.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows

of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which

—AFFTZA=F—HIEFE

EWMIT AR (&)
PERREEREEKE (&)

mBELREE (F)

TRANAEEFETEEREBEZERS
RIZIMBER - AR IRBEAKREANKZ
RREAHZEREBETRTRACRER
o ETETRABENIHANREHE

the Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for EERHPET ZXBREANBEEEAEES
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed TE e i FIE R 2 /#Ebﬂ%? CAIRITIR &R
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and R BEHRE AR ZFEGFE
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
Liquidity risk tables HEE 25 &
Weighted Repayable Total
average on 1-3 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand months tolyear 1-5years  cash flows amount
mEFH RERK =f8A RER
Filk:S B2 -Z=fiR BE-% -Z1F RERAE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEL TAT TAT THL TEL TEL
2015 “E-If
Non-derivative FTEERER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables ENESEAR
HipEA7E - 838 968,632 990,708 - 1,960,178 1,960,178
Bank loans RITER 2.7 - 2,003,681 4,187,559 5,879,355 12,070,595 11,732,883
Amount due to immediate JERERERAANE
holding company 1.7 - 8,109 24,327 1,945,609 1,978,045 930,000
Financial guarantee contract BBREREY - 124,950 - - - 124,950 -
125788 2,980,422 5202594 7,824,964 16,133,768 14,623,061
2014 —E-QF
Non-derivative FTEERER
financial liabilities
Trade and other payables ENESEAR
ERAE e - 880 1,951,966 58,822 - 2,011,668 2,011,668
Bank loans FAER 29 - 1828499 4857616 6,577,132 13263247 12,877,873
Amount due to immediate JERERERAANE
holding company 1.6 - 3,708 11,122 933,707 948,537 930,000
Financial guarantee contract BBERAY - 150,000 - - - 150,000 -
150,880 3,784,173 4,927,560 7,610,839 16,373,452 15,819,541
7\
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continuea)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contract
is the maximum amount the Group could be required
to settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty
to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more
likely than not that no amount will be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are

guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities is subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting period.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Fair value measurements of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on
a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and

inputs used).
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
(Continued)
Fair value measurements of the Group’s financial assets rEFHEHBEERCHBEBH A FET
UEEMBEEZ A FENE (&)

and financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on

a recurring basis (Continued)

Financial assets/ Fair value as at Fair value Valuation technique(s)
financial liabilities 31 December 2015 hierarchy and key input(s)
R-Z2-2F+-A=t—H EERTR
LREE SRERE ZAYE AFEER TEBAER
Financial assets
CREE
Held-for-trading investments Listed equity securities in Hong Kong: Level 1 Quoted bid prices in
- cement industry - HK$28,523,000 active markets.
(2014: HK$39,740,000); and
quoted investment funds in Taiwan —
HK$9,297,000 (2014: HK$9,630,000)
RIERGREZRE REB LT ZRAES E R RERBT SR EEE-

KE1T ¥ —28,523,0005 7T

(:% PO 4E : 39,740,000 7T )

\BEZBEREES 9,297, ooo,%yz

(_f P9 4E : 9,630,000/ 7T

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their
fair values. In addition, available-for-sale investments are
measured at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the Directors are of the opinion that

their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

There were no transfers between levels in both years.
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

42.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group provided a corporate

guarantee jointly with other shareholders of an associate to a

bank in respect of banking facilities granted to that associate

in aggregate amounted to RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$476,000,000) (2014: RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$500,000,000)), of
which RMB350,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$416,500,000) (2014: RMB400,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$500,000,000) has been utilised

by the associate. Pursuant to the corporate guarantee

agreement, the Group has provided the guarantee amount

proportioned to its equity interest in the associate, which

represents RMB105,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$124,950,000) (2014: RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to

approximately HK$150,000,000).

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no other material

RREE
%:ﬁfﬂiﬂ—:ﬂ =—t+—B8 X£E
BRE-HBEAR HMRRE Sz E
NEER 2 2%/ AR 400,000,000
7L (HE R 49476,000,0008 ) (=
—MHF: ARM¥400,000,0007T (HE
A #7500,000,000/ 7T) ) Z R1TRL &
(HE - AR ¥350,000,0007T (HER LD
416,500,000 78) (ZT—WF: AR
400,000,0007t (18 %5 7 43500,000,0007%
) )EEZEE N RBA) MM — KRBT
RUECEER - BREBECERERGH T&E
BR H R ez B & N R 2 AR L Il 1R R IR
&% Bl A A R#105,000,0007T (48 %R
#7124,950,0008 7T) (ZZE—WF: AR
#120,000,0007T (48 % 72 £9150,000,000
BIT) ) e

B EXPrEEIN RS IR - AR EH

contingent liabilities as at the end of the reporting period. mEMBAIAEBE
43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 43. E R EIE
The Group’s capital expenditure in respect of the following REEFTISEZEFTLHERNEGS
items contracted but not provided for in the consolidated BMERBHEZEATRNT
financial statements are as follow:
2015 2014
—E-—EREF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Acquisition of property, EEME BB R&B
plant and equipment 893,459 940,206
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note) WS B R R (HaE) - 1,752,902
893,459 2,693,108
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43. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (Continued)

note: As at 31 December 2014, amount represents consideration
contracted for but not provided in the consolidated financial
statements for the acquisition of two groups of subsidiaries
operating cement, clinker, concrete and other cement
related products businesses in the PRC. The acquisition of
subsidiaries had been completed during the year ended 31

December 2015 (Note 34).

44. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
outstanding commitments for future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases with fellow

subsidiaries which fall due as follows:

43.

44.

BAREE &)

Mg R-_E—ME+=-A=+—8 ZsH
ERITNERRGANBRERBHEZR
BREARTRLLIR IR RELR
HEiRIERERLEMELAR 2K
B-ZEWBRAAZKBEREBEE-Z
—RE+ A=+ —BUHEFEERK (K
££34) ©

REMORE

R E N LD RS P E]
Vo REIHBEEHEN AERERE
FOERA KRBT AR AERBET

2015 2014

—E-EREF —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Within one year —FR 4,968 4,968
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFERF

(BHEEEMSF) 19,872 19,872

Over five years HBRAF 33,137 38,105

57,977 62,945

BREREEERAT
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44, OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 4. BEHOEAE 2)
(Continued)
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEaHMNESEAEERESIHSHE
Group for certain of its rented land based on current rental ETHETHENZHE HOLHEL
payment. Leases are negotiated for lease term of thirty years MBI AI0F mMHeEMFEREMSES
and the rental is repriced every two years based on the BREHTEE K-

market rent.

45. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 45. EE#E#F

As at 31 December 2015, assets with the following carrying E-—AE+T_A=+—B -KTEHA
amounts have been pledged as a security for the bank loans @Z’éf&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ ERIRITER ZEF MK

or as performance guarantee in relation to certain mining METHESNIERBHER:

contracts.

2015 2014
—E-—ERF —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FHT
Property, plant and equipment LER e 529,434 141,880
Prepaid lease payments BN EKE 62,862 -
Mining rights R - 89,276
Pledged bank deposits BHERERITER 19,289 21,823
611,585 252,979
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46. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2015 #HZ=-F—AF+=-A=+—HIFZE

In addition to the transactions and balances set out in
Notes 9, 27, 28, 30, 33 and 44, the Group entered into the

46. AEANEXR 5

BB ET9 ~ 27 28 <30 ~ 33 44FFH 2 &2
SREBRIN RAFE  AEEDEIT T

following material related party transactions during the year: EABFEALTRS:
2015 2014
—B-IfF —T-mE
notes HK$’000 HK$’000
et TER TET
()  Rental expenses payable to () EN—ERRNERRZ
a fellow subsidiary HeBA (@) 4,968 4,968
(i) Purchases of cement and clinker (i) RSKERAFEEKER
from ultimate holding company #H (b) 75,427 113,088
(ii) Transportation and management (i) ENRZRMBAR 2 EH KX
services fee payable to fellow ERERGEE
subsidiaries (@) 268,545 330,892
(iv) Maintenance service and one- vy EBERZRNBREZE
off implementation service fee BHUHRBoBERBE K
of a computer software system —RMEBARBKE
payable to fellow subsidiaries (@) 30,243 27,031
(v)  Sales of limestone to ultimate v) RIEEERAREEARKA
holding company (b) 7,331 1,642
(vi)  Service fee payable to ultimate Vi) ENHEERARZREE
holding company (@), (c) 86,177 -
(vi) Management fee payable to (i) EN—RBEEATCERE
a related party (note 1) (Hat1) (@) 10,707 11,130
(vii) Rental expenses payable to (vii) BN —BHEEALTZHES
a related party (note 1) B (Hiz1) @) 743 845
(ix) Sales of cement to a related party (ix) F—&EEALTHEKE
(note 1) (Hat1) (b) 52,348 -
(x)  Trademark fee payable to X EN—2@EALZ
a related party (note 2) EEERE (Hit2) (@) 4,766 2,635
(xi) Interest income from an associate (xi) KA —FEEE AR ZMEWA (@) - 2,805
(xii) Purchase of raw materials from (xi) m—fEHERREERMNE
an associate (b) 29,209 36,858
(xiii) Sales of cement to an associate  (xii) [A]—fEE#EE D A HE KR (b) 90,172 87,231
(xiv) Sales of raw materials to (xiv) ) —faB 2R EHERME
an associate (b) 31,223 42,214
(xv) Service income from associates  (xv) R EAHE R A Z RAEWA () 1,576 -
BRERERERAR
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46. RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

notes:

M

The related party is a minority shareholder of a subsidiary.

The related party is the holding company of a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company.

The prices of these transactions were determined between the

parties with reference to the agreements signed.

The prices of these transactions were determined between the

parties with reference to market prices.

On 12 March 2015, the Company entered into a service
agreement with the ultimate holding company for provision
of services including internal services (including human
resources, financial management, internal audit and legal
advice) and production related and sales related services by
the ultimate holding company. Mr. Koo, Cheng-Yun, Leslie, an
executive Director, is interested in the transaction to the extent
that the ultimate holding company is controlled by him. The
agreement has a term commencing from 12 March 2015 to
31 December 2017. The service fee payable by the Company
is determined based on the total clinker production capacity,
total cement production capacity and the total residual heat
generated by the Group for the immediately preceding period.
Details of the transaction is set out in the announcement of the

Company dated 12 March 2015.

During the year, the remuneration of key management

personnel which represents the short-term benefits of

Directors remuneration is approximately HK$3,610,000
(2014: HK$4,524,000) as set out in Note 11.
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47. SUBSIDIARIES 47. Mt B A A
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 KRR _E—RAER-_ZFT—NF+_A
December 2015 and 2014 are as follows: Et+—HZIEMBRARIZHFBENT
Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
R/
WEARER AMRL EELY aMERFE EEEEEERL A TEXK
2015 2014
“E-1f -T-QF
Shares held directly:
EERBZRG
Ulexite Investments Limited British Virgin Island (‘BVI")/ Ordinary US$200 100% 100%  Investment holding
Hong Kong L% R200%E T REER
RERNEE ([HB
BUEE]) /B
Upper Value Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
HERERRAR Bk ERBRIET RERR
Upper Value Investments Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$12,400 100% 100%  Investment holding
ABARHE /B EiBR12,400% T RERR
Shares held indirectly:
FEREZRD
Anhui King Bridge Cement Ltd.*  The PRC Registered capital 60% 60%  Manufacture and distribution of
ZHAFBEREERA A # US$15,000,000 slag powder
AR HERDHEER
15,000,000 7T
Anshun Xin Tai*? The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
RIEZA? H RMB15,000,000 sand and gravel aggregate
HMERAREK products
15,000,0007C BERSHEDAERER
Chiefolk Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 70% 70%  Investment holding
0 %17 1R1,000,000/% 7 REER
Guizhou Kaili Rui An The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Jian Cai Co., Ltd."" # RMB389,660,500 cement and clinker
BN ERZRMARAR" FMERARE HER A EARRAH
389,660,5007T
Guizhou Kong On Cement The PRC Registered capital 65% 65%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited* # US$20,300,000 cement and clinker
EMBRKEBRAR HMER SE R A AR RBH
20,300,000% ¢
HKC Investments Limited Taiwan Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
BERERNERD A aE NT$155,000,000 REER
155,000,000%T & &
Hong Kong Cement Hong Kong Ordinary 100% 100%  Import and distribution of cement
Company Limited B HK$164,391,013 EORD#HEKR

BRERERERAR
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47.SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

47. B R T (&)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
#gr/
WEARER SMAL S TMERFE ElREERER L FTEER
2015 2014
ZE-1Ff C—T-MmF
Jurong TCC Cement Co., Ltd.” The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Mining of limestone and
ARBRKEEBRAF" # US$223,000,000 production and sales of cement
HMER and cement products
223,000,000% 70 RAARAREEREE
TR RICRE @
Koning Concrete Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding
BE L@R100%E T REER
Scitus Luzhou Cement Co., Ltd.*  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
BEMNERNKEFRA A # RMB395,000,000 cement and clinker
HHEX HERDHEKRRAH
AR 395,000,000
Scitus Luzhou Concrete Co., Ltd.*  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
EMEERRLERAR" i RMB25,000,000 concrete
i &R BERNHERT
AR 25,000,000
Scitus Naxi Cement Co., Ltd.* The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
BENmEERCRBERAR" i RMB146,510,000 cement
Balii-w BERAHKE
AR #146,510,0007T
TCC Anshun Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*! # US$101,490,000 cement and clinker
Ak (RIE)KEERAE" HHEX HE R A HAKRRAH
101,490,000 1
TCC Chongaing Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*’ H US$100,000,000 cement and clinker
Ak (ER)KEERAR & R BER A EKRRAR
100,000,000% 1T
TCC (DongGuan) Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Transshipment cement and
Company Limited*! # US$20,000,000 cement products
Ak (RE)KEERAF" HMER EEKRRKRER
20,000,000 7T
TCC Fuzhou Cement Co., Ltd.*"  The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
BMBRKEERAF # US$16,250,000 cement
HHEX HERA#HKE
16,250,000% 1T
TCC International Holdings Limited 230
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47. SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) A7. B A E (&)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
#gr/
WEARER SMAL S TMERFE ElREERER L FTEER
2015 2014
“B-1f _—T-QF
TCC Fuzhou Yangyu Port The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of port facility services
Co., Ltd.*! # US$5,000,000 REBER RS
BMARFREBERAA" HHEL
5,000,000% 7T
TCC Guangan Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*' # US$56,990,000 cement and clinker
Ak (BR)KEERAA" i & R BER A EKRRAR
56,990,000 7T
TCC (Guigang) Cement Ltd.*! The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Ak (BE)VKRBRAF" i US$217,875,900 cement and clinker
Balli-w SE R A AR RAH
217,875,900% ¢
TCC Guigang Mining Industrial The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of limestone quarrying
Company Limited* # US$5,000,000 services
EBARBEIRERAR" A RERRA R RRE
5,000,000% 7T
TCC Hong Kong Cement BVI/Hong Kong Ordinary US$10 100% 100%  Property holding
Development Limited RERLEE/BH Deferred™* US$90 BEnE
LERI0ET
R 0ET
TCC Huaihua*! The PRC Registered capital 100% - Manufacture and distribution of
A (Ef) " i RMB93,000,000 cement and clinker
HMERARE SE R A AR RAH
93,000,0007T
TCC Huaihua Concrete The PRC Registered capital 100% - Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*? # RMB10,000,000 concrete
BlakRRLtERAR? aftERARE HERDHERL
10,000,0007T
TCC Huaying* The PRC Registered capital 100% - Manufacture and distribution of
EEaR? # RMB901,850,000 cement and clinker
FMERARY BER A EKRRAR
901,850,0007T
TCC Jiangsu Mining Industrial The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of limestone quarrying
Company Limited*! # US$4,000,000 services
IHARBEIRBRAR Balli-w REARARRRS
4,000,000% 70
TCC Jingzhou Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% - Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*? # RMB10,000,000 cement and clinker
EMARAKREERAR? HftERARE HERDEKRRAH
10,000,0007T
BREREEERAT
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47.SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

—AFtZA=+—HILFE

47. B AT (&)

Place of Particulars
incorporation/ of paid up/ Proportion of
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital ownership interest Principal activities
#gr/
WEARER SMAL S TMERFE ElREERER L FTEER
2015 2014
“B-1f _—T-QF
TCC Liaoning Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Company Limited*! # US$55,391,700 cement and clinker
Ak GEE)KEERAE HHEX HE RS HAKRRAH
55,391,700% 7T
TCC Liuzhou Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 70% 70%  Investment holding
ARMMBRRA 0 EiAR10,000% T RERR
TCC Liuzhou Construction The PRC Registered capital 42%** 42%™  Manufacture and distribution of
Materials Company Limited* H US$13,500,000 slag powder
M aRFERMERAF i & R HERDHBER
13,500,000% 7T
TCC Shaoguan Cement The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Co., Limited*! H US$10,000,000 cement and clinker (not yet
& (BE)KEERAA" HMEX commenced business)
10,000,000% 7T BER A EKRERAR
(HARREER)
TCC Yingde Cement Co., Ltd.™ The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Bk (RE)VKRBRAR" i US$219,400,000 cement and clinker
Balli-w SE R A AR RAH
219,400,000% 7o
TCC Yingde Mining Industrial The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Provision of limestone quarrying
Company Limited* # US$11,500,000 services
EEARBEXETIREAR HHEX RERRA R KR
11,500,000% T
Yingde Dragon Mountain The PRC Registered capital 100% 100%  Manufacture and distribution of
Cement Co., Ltd.* H RMB428,110,000 cement and clinker

ERERERAEERE"

*

HMERARE
428,110,0007

Registered as equity joint venture under the PRC law.

1 Registered as wholly foreign owned enterprise under the PRC

law.

*2 Registered as domestic company under the PRC law.

*k

A subsidiary of a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

and, accordingly, is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of

the Company’s control over it.

The deferred shares of TCC Hong Kong Cement Development

Limited are non-voting, carry no rights to dividends and are

only entitled to a return of capital when the surplus exceeds
US$1,000,000,000,000,000,000,000.
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47. BT (&)
LEINEERAT Y EAEEEL

47.SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected BENEBEZARAMNBAG -EERE
the results, assets, or liabilities of the Group. To give details BEINEHMB AR CHIB SERBRIT

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, K-

result in particulars of excessive length.

EERE BMEEAIELERERNAEE
WBAR S AEBEmMEBEKN-

In the opinion of the Directors, none of its subsidiaries that

have non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.
48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 48. &1 B B R R I R B R R
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2015 2014
—E-0F —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHtB AR ZIRE 23,461,264 21,939,278
Current assets MEEE
Prepayments, deposits and TEAFFRIE hzi&
other receivables H At JE YT 19,930 30,108
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE WS B B~ B3R IR 487,886 502,393
Held-for-trading investments FER SRR Z Tx & 28,523 39,740
Cash and bank balances Re RIRITHERK 999,355 415,588
1,535,694 987,829
Current liabilities mBBEE
Other payables and HoAth JE T FRIE K
accrued liabilities fEstaE 38,231 29,011
Bank loans RITE R 1,874,900 2,440,087
Amounts due to subsidiaries JERT M B A R A 1,205,838 738,465
3,118,969 3,207,563
Net current liabilities MBBEFE (1,583,275) (2,219,734)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERABARL 21,877,989 19,719,544
AREBREEERAT
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

48. A 1 7] B %5k 0 B e f R =R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
2015 2014
—E-1EF —E—mE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Non-current liabilities EREBAE
Bank loans RITERK 3,521,750 4,374,900
Amount due to immediate FENEBIER A RIA
holding company 930,000 930,000
4,451,750 5,304,900
17,426,239 14,414,644
Capital and reserves & A K {4
Share capital — ordinary shares A% AR — 3 A 494,347 329,565
Share capital — non-redeemable f& AR — 7] BE =
convertible preference shares A BB SR 49,433 49,433
Reserves & 16,882,459 14,035,646
17,426,239 14,414,644

The statement of financial position of the Company was

approved and authorised for issue by the board of Directors

on 17 March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:

KOO, CHENG-YUN, LESLIE

BERA
CHAIRMAN
E
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WU YIH CHIN
RER

MANAGING DIRECTOR
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 48. A A B iR R R iR R R

AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (#&)
(Continued)
Movement in reserves RiEEH

Share Capital

Share option Contributed redemption Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve earnings Total
E1EE

ROEE BRERE SRR B REEN @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATL TEL TATL TEL TR TAL

At 1 January 2014 RZZ-ME-A—H 10,647,971 34,803 264,586 5130 3,797,331 14,649,821

Loss and total comprehensive expense FEEEBRZERLAE

for the year - - - - (41,226) (41,226)
Recognition of equity-settled BRUR AL E AR % [ 508

share-based payment - 748 - - - 748
Share options lapsed BRELK - (35,551) - - 35,551 -
Payment of dividends KRS - - - - (549,546)  (549,546)
Preferred distribution to convertible BEADRTIEHELRRE

preference shareholders - - - - (24,151) (24,151)
At 31 December 2014 R-E-mE+-f=1-H 10,547,971 - 264,586 5,130 3,217,959 14,035,646

Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEFBREARTEE

for the year - - - - (79,604) (79,604)
Issue of new shares upon rights issue HREEITHR 3,460,426 - - - - 3460426
Transaction costs attributable to issue BOLBRESIINE

of ordinary shares (17,089) - - - - (17,089)
Payment of dividends THRRE - - - - (492697)  (492,697)
Preferred distribution to convertible BEDRTIEBARERRE

preference shareholders - - - - (24,223) (24,223
At 31 December 2015 RZE-15+-A=+—-H 13,991,308 - 264,586 5130 2,621,435 16,882,459

BREREEERAT
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—E——F —T-=F —E-=F —E-mF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TEL THET TET THT TER
Results E
Revenue Yoz 11,266,196 11,304,232 12,970,794 13,752,863 10,911,069
Profit (loss) for the year attributable KA & HEH A FEfR
to owners of the Company KEERT (BR) 1,637,880 610,000 1,674,569 2,051,156 (249,391)
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment NE BERRE 15,864,953 16,193,824 17,045,737 16,192,592 17,102,276
Prepaid lease payments BRNEEFTE
(non-current portion) (FEREZD) 1,745,207 1,817,385 1,882,811 1,862,720 1,957,979
Intangible assets EWEE 2,647,565 2,898,405 3,179,788 3,104,141 3,667,443
Mining rights R 406,633 401,163 441,630 397,993 465,128
Interests in associates BLeNRER 1,456,066 1,537,007 1,711,627 1,497,663 1,516,419
Interests in joint ventures RENFER - 21,700 12,800 12,500 10,627
Other non-current financial assets  H i 3ERE & a4 E 87,975 88,203 105,798 88,231 44,575
Deposits paid for acquisition of BB E  BRE K
property, plant and equipment SEREMEE
and other assets SNk 578,050 291,637 312,376 245,604 204,169
Deposits paid for acquisition of ~ FUEMB AT I 2
subsidiaries HEa 720,666 74,400 - 519,701 =
Available-for-sale investments AEEERE 57,501 614,167 45,193 41,459 37,377
Amounts due from investee Gt WNGIE |
companies - 144,075 - - -
Pledged bank deposits BEBBEITER 3,970 4,578 10,217 18,561 17,746
Deferred tax assets BEEHBEEE 879 866 39,547 47,150 143,294
Other current assets HitRBEE 9,297,158 9,327,449 9,919,201 11,613,300 10,660,416
Total assets BEE 32,866,623 33,414,859 34,706,725 35641615 35,827,449
Liabilities =N
Current liabilities nEBEE 8,380,865 7,562,724 9,013,728 9,329,536 8,574,624
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHEEE 358,144 354,812 365,298 359,755 405,289
Other non-current liabilities HiEnE e R 8,829,807 9,712,736 7,641,398 7,310,672 6,634,736
Total liabilities BaE 17,568,816 17,630,272 17,020,424 16,999,963 15,614,649
TCC International Holdings Limited 236
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